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MATURITY SCHEDULE

WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM BONDS (KAREGNONDI WATER PIPELINE), SERIES 2018

SERIAL BONDS
(Base CUSIP$:48563U)
Interest Interest
Year Amount Rate Yield CUSIP§ Year Amount Rate Yield CUSIP§
2018 $1,115,000 3.000% 1.820% BD2 2028 $1,835,000 5.000% 3.280%* BP5
2019 $1,195,000 4.000% 1.920% BEO 2029 $1,925,000 5.000% 3.370%* BQ3
2020 $1,240,000 5.000% 2.050% BF7 2030 $2,020,000 5.000% 3.440%* BR1
2021 $1,305,000 5.000% 2.250% BG5S 2031 $2,120,000 5.000% 3.480%* BS9
2022 $1,370,000 5.000% 2.460% BH3 2032 $2,230,000 5.000% 3.510%* BT7
2023 $1,435,000 5.000% 2.630% BJ9 2033 $2,340,000 5.000% 3.560%* BU4
2024 $1,510,000 5.000% 2.790% BK6 2034 $2,455,000 5.000% 3.600%* BV2
2025 $1,585,000 5.000% 2.940% BL4 2035 $2,580,000 5.000% 3.640%* BWO
2026 $1,665,000 5.000% 3.060% BM2 2036 $2,710,000 5.000% 3.670%* BX8
2027 $1,745,000 5.000% 3.180% BNO 2037 $2,845,000 5.000% 3.700%* BY6
TERM BONDS
Interest
Year Amount Rate Yield CUSIP§
2041 $12,870,000 5.000% 3.760%* BZ3
2045 $15,640,000 5.000% 3.790%* CA7

*Yield to the November 1, 2027 first call date

§ Registered trademark of American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers are provided by CUSIP Global Services, which is managed on behalf of the
American Bankers Association by S&P Capital 1Q. The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided solely for the convenience of Bondholders only
at the time of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds and the Issuer does not make any representation with respect to such number or undertake any
responsibility for its accuracy now or at any time in the future. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance of
the Series 2018 Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part of such maturity.
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No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the Issuer to give any information
or to make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made,
such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Issuer. This
Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be
any sale of the Series 2018 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to
make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information set forth in this Official Statement has been obtained
from the Issuer, the County of Genesee, the City of Flint and other sources which are believed to be reliable,
including The Depository Trust Company with respect to the information contained in APPENDIX H —
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be
construed as a representation by, the Issuer. The information and expressions of opinion in this Official
Statement are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale
made under this Official Statement shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been
no change in the affairs of the parties referred to above or that the other information or opinions are correct as
of any time subsequent to the date of this Official Statement. The Transfer Agent has not participated in the
preparation of this Official Statement and assumes no responsibility for it.

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The
Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, their
respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and
circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such
information.

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE ISSUER AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE
MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY
ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.
FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE
ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT
OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF
THE SERIES 2018 BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THOSE WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL
IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT
ANY TIME.

This Official Statement contains forward-looking statements, which can be identified by the use of the
future tense or other forward-looking terms such as “may,” “intend,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “plan,”
“management believes,” “estimate,” “continue,” “should,” “strategy,” or “position” or the negatives of those
terms or other variations of them or by comparable terminology. In particular, any statements express or
implied, concerning future revenues or the ability to generate cash flow to service indebtedness are forward-
looking statements. Investors are cautioned that reliance on any of those forward-looking statements involves
risks and uncertainties and that, although the Issuer’s management believes that the assumptions on which
those forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of those assumptions could prove to be
inaccurate. As a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions also could be incorrect,
and actual results may differ materially from any results indicated or suggested by those assumptions. In light
of these and other uncertainties, the inclusion of a forward-looking statement in this Official Statement should
not be regarded as a representation by the Issuer that its plans and objectives will be achieved. All forward-
looking statements are expressly qualified by the cautionary statements contained in this paragraph. The Issuer
undertakes no duty to update any forward-looking statements.

LR N3 LR N3
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

KAREGNONDI WATER AUTHORITY
COUNTIES OF GENESEE, LAPEER AND SANILAC
STATE OF MICHIGAN

$65,735,000
WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM BONDS
(KAREGNONDI WATER PIPELINE)
SERIES 2018

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and Appendices, is
to furnish information in connection with the issuance and sale by the Karegnondi Water
Authority, Counties of Genesee, Lapeer and Sanilac, State of Michigan (the “Issuer”) of its
Water Supply System Bonds (Karegnondi Water Pipeline), Series 2018 (the “Series 2018
Bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount of $65,735,000.

The Issuer was incorporated in October, 2010 pursuant to the provisions of Act 233,
Public Acts of Michigan, 1955, as amended (“Act 233”), by the County of Genesee (“Genesee”),
the County of Lapeer, the County of Sanilac, the City of Flint (“Flint”) and the City of Lapeer for
the purpose of acquiring, owning, operating and maintaining a new water supply system (the
“KWA System”) to supply untreated water to the Issuer’s contracting members. In order to
finance the costs of acquiring, constructing and equipping the KWA System, the Issuer has
previously issued its Water Supply System Bonds (Karegnondi Water Pipeline), Series 2014A on
April 14, 2014 in the principal amount of $220,500,000 (the “Series 2014A Bonds”) and its
Water Supply System Bonds (Karegnondi Water Pipeline), Series 2016 on June 10, 2016 in the
principal amount of $74,370,000 (the “Series 2016 Bonds”).

The Series 2018 Bonds are authorized and will be issued under the provisions of Act 233,
Act 34, Public Acts of Michigan, 2001, as amended, a resolution adopted by the Board of
Trustees of the Issuer on December 18, 2017 (the “Resolution”), and an order executed on
March 22, 2018 by the Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer, approving the sale of the Series
2018 Bonds. The Series 2018 Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) refunding all of the
Issuer’s outstanding Series 2016 Bonds, (i1) paying or reimbursing the Issuer for all remaining
costs of completing the acquisition, construction and equipping of the KWA System, and (iii)
paying the costs of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds.

The Issuer has entered into two separate water purchase contracts to supply untreated
water, each with an effective date of October 1, 2013. Under a contract with the Genesee County
Drain Commissioner, as County Agency of Genesee, on behalf of Genesee (the “Genesee Water
Purchase Contract”), Genesee has the right to the delivery and use of up to 42 million gallons per
day of untreated water. The KWA System is currently providing untreated water to Genesee as
its primary water source pursuant to the Genesee Water Purchase Contract. Under a contract
with Flint (the “Flint Water Purchase Contract”), Flint has the right to the delivery and use of up
to 18 million gallons per day of untreated water. Under a long-term water supply contract
entered into by Flint and the Great Lakes Water Authority (“GLWA™) as of December 1, 2017
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(the “GLWA Water Service Contract”), GLWA will supply Flint with treated water as its
primary water source for an initial period of 30 years. Pursuant to the terms of the GLWA Water
Service Contract, Flint has granted to GLWA certain rights of Flint under the Flint Water
Purchase Contract to untreated water from the KWA System.

In the past, Genesee and Flint (individually a “Local Unit” and collectively, the “Local
Units”) received finished water from GLWA pursuant to separate water supply arrangements.
Genesee received its water from GLWA as a non-contract customer from January, 2016 to
December, 2017. Flint had been a customer of Detroit Water and Sewerage Department
(“DWSD”) from December, 1965 to May 1, 2014, when it ended its contractual relationship with
DWSD and began pumping water from the Flint River and treating such water at its water
treatment plant before distributing finished water to its customers. The water from the Flint
River caused Flint to experience water quality problems, and in October, 2015, Flint entered into
a short-term water supply contract with DWSD and began receiving finished water from
DWSD’s water system again. This contract was assumed by GLWA as successor to DWSD as
of January 1, 2016. Initially, the Local Units participated in the establishment of the Issuer in
order to have a more reliable supply of water at rates that they expected ultimately to be less than
what would otherwise be payable to DWSD. Genesee has completed its transition to the KWA
System as planned and has received regulatory approval of certain essential facilities of the
Genesee System (as hereinafter defined). As described above, Flint has recently entered into the
GLWA Water Service Contract with GLWA that provides for GLWA to supply treated water to
Flint for an initial 30-year period, and has granted to GLWA certain rights of Flint under the
Flint Water Purchase Contract to untreated water from the KWA System. For a description of
the KWA System and the arrangements for water supply for each Local Unit, see the heading
“KAREGNONDI WATER AUTHORITY SYSTEM - Water Supply Arrangements for
Genesee” and “— Long-Term Water Supply Arrangements for Flint” herein.

SECURITY

Contractual Payments

The Series 2018 Bonds are being issued in anticipation of, and are payable as to principal
and interest from, payments (the “Contractual Payments™) to be made by the Local Units to the
Issuer pursuant to the Karegnondi Water Authority Financing Contract among the Issuer and the
Local Units dated as of August 1, 2013, as supplemented by a First Supplement to the Financing
Contract dated as of September 1, 2017 (the “KWA Financing Contract”). The Contractual
Payments will be in installments that will equal the principal and interest payments on the Series
2014A Bonds and the Series 2018 Bonds. The Series 2014A Bonds and the Series 2018 Bonds
(collectively, the “KWA System Bonds™) are equally and ratably secured by the Contractual
Payments. Further, each Local Unit has pledged its limited tax full faith and credit for the
payment of its Contractual Payments and is obligated, to the extent necessary, to levy ad valorem
taxes on all taxable property within its boundaries for such purpose, subject to applicable
constitutional, statutory and charter tax limitations as to rate and amount. After credit is given to
Genesee for payment of the principal of and interest on the Genesee Bonds (as described herein
under the heading “KAREGNONDI WATER AUTHORITY SYSTEM - KWA System
Facilities”), Genesee is responsible for paying approximately 65.8% of the principal of and
interest due on the KWA System Bonds, including the Series 2018 Bonds, and Flint is
responsible for paying approximately 34.2% of the principal of and interest on the KWA System
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Bonds, including the Series 2018 Bonds. In addition, pursuant to the KWA Financing Contract,
if Flint fails to make any of its Contractual Payments when due, Genesee is obligated to make
such Contractual Payments within fifteen (15) days of being notified of Flint’s failure to pay.
Further, the KWA Financing Contract obligates the Issuer to undertake all legal action and make
use of all remedies available under the KWA Financing Contract to enforce the payment
obligations of Flint under the KWA Financing Contract. The Issuer has irrevocably pledged the
Contractual Payments for the payment of the principal of and interest on the KWA System
Bonds, including the Series 2018 Bonds.

Each Local Unit expects to make its Contractual Payments from revenues collected from
charges imposed on the customers of its respective water supply system. The water supply
system of Genesee is hereinafter referred to as the “Genesee System” and the water supply
system of Flint is hereinafter referred to as the “Flint System.”

The rights or remedies of Bondholders may be affected by bankruptcy, insolvency,
fraudulent conveyance or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, now existing or
hereafter enacted, and by the application of general principles of equity, including those relating
to equitable subordination.

A copy of the KWA Financing Contract is included as APPENDIX I. For additional
information on Genesee, sce APPENDIX B and APPENDIX C hereto, and for additional
information on Flint, see APPENDIX D and APPENDIX E hereto.

Debt Retirement Fund and Debt Service Reserve Account

The Issuer has established a Debt Retirement Fund for the KWA System Bonds, and
within the Debt Retirement Fund has established a Debt Service Reserve Account. All
Contractual Payments as received are required to be deposited in the Debt Retirement Fund and
used to pay the principal of and interest on the KWA System Bonds, including the Series 2018
Bonds. The Debt Service Reserve Account has been funded from the proceeds of the Series
2014A Bonds and the Series 2016 Bonds. Upon issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds, a portion of
the funds on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account, together with a portion of the
proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds, will be used to effect the refunding of the Series 2016 Bonds,
and the amount held in the Debt Service Reserve Account will be reduced to an amount equal to
$19,650,537.50. Such amount is equal to the lesser of (1) maximum annual principal and interest
requirements during any calendar year on the KWA System Bonds then outstanding, (2) ten
percent (10%) of the original principal amount of the KWA System Bonds, and (3) one hundred
twenty-five percent (125%) of the average annual principal and interest requirements during any
calendar year on the KWA System Bonds then outstanding (the “Reserve Account
Requirement”). Moneys in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be used solely for the
payment of the principal of and interest on the KWA System Bonds, including the Series 2018
Bonds, when due whenever and to the extent that the Contractual Payments being held by the
Issuer shall be insufficient for such purposes.

There shall be credited to the Debt Service Reserve Account beginning on the first day of
the month following any month in which the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall
be less than an amount equal to the Reserve Account Requirement as a result of the failure of a
Local Unit to pay its Contractual Payments, and continuing on the first day of each month
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thereafter, an amount equal to one-thirty-sixth (1/36) of any deficit therein, until the amount on
deposit is equal to the Reserve Account Requirement; however, if the amount on deposit in the
Debt Service Reserve Account is less than 100% of the Reserve Account Requirement as a result
of investment losses with respect to the Debt Service Reserve Account, commencing on the first
day of the month following such evaluation, and continuing on the first day of each month
thereafter, there shall be credited to the Debt Service Reserve Account an amount equal to one-
fourth (1/4) of the amount necessary to restore the Debt Service Reserve Account to 100% of the
Reserve Account Requirement, until the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account
shall equal 100% of the Reserve Account Requirement. Further, if a Local Unit fails to pay its
Contractual Payment causing a shortfall and the Debt Service Reserve Account is drawn upon to
pay the KWA System Bonds, including Series 2018 Bonds, the replenishment of such Debt
Service Reserve Account shall be an obligation of the Local Unit that failed to pay such
Contractual Payment, in the manner described in the preceding sentence; provided, however, if
Flint fails to fulfill its obligation to replenish the Debt Service Reserve Account, as with the
failure to make Contractual Payments under the KWA Financing Contract, Genesee has agreed
in the KWA Financing Contract to make such payments.

PLAN OF FINANCE
Refunding of Series 2016 Bonds

The Series 2016 Bonds were issued for the purposes of financing a portion of the costs of
acquiring, constructing and equipping the KWA System. A portion of the proceeds of the Series
2018 Bonds, together with funds to be released from the Debt Service Reserve Account upon
issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds, will be used to currently refund the $74,370,000 outstanding
principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds on the date of delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds. The
Series 2016 Bonds will be redeemed at a redemption price equal to par, plus accrued interest to
the redemption date.

New Money

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds will be used to pay or reimburse the
Issuer for all remaining costs of completing the acquisition, construction and equipping of the
KWA System.



ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Sources of Funds

Par amount of Series 2018 Bonds $65,735,000.00
Original Issue Premium 6,983,918.70

Release of Funds from
Debt Service Reserve Account 5,224,828.81
Total Sources $77,943,747.51

Use of Funds

Redemption of Series 2016 Bonds $74,370,000.00
Deposit to Construction Fund 3,000,000.00
Costs of Issuance 239,156.36
Underwriters’ Discount 334,591.15
Total Uses $77,943,747.51

THE SERIES 2018 BONDS

The Series 2018 Bonds will be dated the date of delivery thereof, will bear interest from
the date of delivery at the rates and will mature in the amounts and on the dates set forth on the
inside cover page of this Official Statement and will be subject to redemption prior to maturity as
described below. Interest on the Series 2018 Bonds will be payable semiannually on May 1 and
November 1 of each year commencing on November 1, 2018. Interest on the Series 2018 Bonds
shall be computed using a 360-day year and twelve 30-day months.

The Series 2018 Bonds will be issued as fully registered Bonds as described in
APPENDIX H — BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM. Subject to the provisions for the book-entry
system, the principal of and any redemption premium on the Series 2018 Bonds will be payable
upon surrender thereof at the designated office of the Transfer Agent, and interest will be payable
by check or draft mailed by the Transfer Agent to the registered owners of the Series 2018 Bonds
as shown on the registration books of the Issuer maintained by the Transfer Agent as of the close
of business on the fifteenth day of the calendar month preceding the month in which the interest
payment is due. The Transfer Agent also may pay interest on Series 2018 Bonds by wire transfer
or such other method as is acceptable to the Transfer Agent and the Bondholder to whom
payment is being made.

PRIOR REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2018 BONDS
Optional Redemption
Series 2018 Bonds maturing in the years 2018 to 2027, inclusive, shall not be subject to
redemption prior to maturity. Series 2018 Bonds or portions of Series 2018 Bonds in multiples

of $5,000 maturing in the year 2028 and thereafter shall be subject to redemption prior to
maturity, at the option of the Issuer, in any order of maturity and by lot within any maturity, on
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any date on or after November 1, 2027, at par and accrued interest to the date fixed for
redemption.

Mandatory Redemption of Term Bonds

The Series 2018 Bonds maturing in the years 2041 and 2045 (the “Term Bonds”) shall be
subject to annual mandatory redemption on November 1 of the following years and in the
following amounts, at par, plus accrued interest to the date of mandatory redemption.

Redemption Dates Principal Amounts
November 1, 2038 $2,985,000
November 1, 2039 $3,135,000
November 1, 2040 $3,295,000
November 1, 2041 (Maturity) $3.455.000
TOTAL 12,870,000
Redemption Dates Principal Amounts
November 1, 2042 $3,630,000
November 1, 2043 $3,810,000
November 1, 2044 $4,000,000
November 1, 2045 (Maturity) $4.200,000
TOTAL 15,640,000

When Term Bonds of a maturity are purchased by the Issuer and delivered to the Transfer
Agent for cancellation or are redeemed in a manner other than by mandatory redemption, the
principal amount of Term Bonds of such maturity shall be reduced by the principal amount of the
Term Bonds so purchased or redeemed in the order determined by the Issuer.

In case less than the full amount of an outstanding Series 2018 Bond is called for
redemption, the Transfer Agent, upon presentation of the Series 2018 Bond called for
redemption, shall register, authenticate and deliver to the registered owner of record a new Series
2018 Bond in the principal amount of the portion of the original Series 2018 Bond not called for
redemption.

Notice of redemption shall be given to the registered owner of any Series 2018 Bond or
portion thereof called for redemption by mailing of such notice not less than thirty (30) days
prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered address of the registered owner of record.
A Series 2018 Bond or portion thereof so called for redemption shall not bear interest after the
date fixed for redemption, whether presented for redemption or not, provided funds are on hand
with the Transfer Agent to redeem said Series 2018 Bond or portion thereof.



DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE

The following schedule sets forth the principal and interest payable with respect to the
KWA System Bonds.

Series 2014A Bonds Series 2018 Bonds
Year Ended Principal Interest Principal Interest Total P&I

12/31
2018 $4,275,000 $10,962,237.50 $1,115,000 $1,815,979.17  $18,168,216.67
2019 4,475,000 10,761,487.50 1,195,000 3,219,050.00 19,650,537.50
2020 4,655,000 10,577,737.50 1,240,000 3,171,250.00 19,643,987.50
2021 4,870,000 10,364,987.50 1,305,000 3,109,250.00 19,649,237.50
2022 5,075,000 10,161,487.50 1,370,000 3,044,000.00 19,650,487.50
2023 5,325,000 9,907,737.50 1,435,000 2,975,500.00 19,643,237.50
2024 5,595,000 9,641,487.50 1,510,000 2,903,750.00 19,650,237.50
2025 5,875,000 9,361,737.50 1,585,000 2,828,250.00 19,649,987.50
2026 6,165,000 9,067,987.50 1,665,000 2,749,000.00 19,646,987.50
2027 6,475,000 8,759,737.50 1,745,000 2,665,750.00 19,645,487.50
2028 6,815,000 8,419,800.00 1,835,000 2,578,500.00 19,648,300.00
2029 7,175,000 8,062,012.50 1,925,000 2,486,750.00 19,648,762.50
2030 7,550,000 7,685,325.00 2,020,000 2,390,500.00 19,645,825.00
2031 7,945,000 7,288,950.00 2,120,000 2,289,500.00 19,643,450.00
2032 8,365,000 6,871,837.50 2,230,000 2,183,500.00 19,650,337.50
2033 8,800,000 6,432,675.00 2,340,000 2,072,000.00 19,644,675.00
2034 9,200,000 6,036,675.00 2,455,000 1,955,000.00 19,646,675.00
2035 9,680,000 5,553,675.00 2,580,000 1,832,250.00 19,645,925.00
2036 10,190,000 5,045,475.00 2,710,000 1,703,250.00 19,648,725.00
2037 10,725,000 4,510,500.00 2,845,000 1,567,750.00 19,648,250.00
2038 11,290,000 3,947,437.50 2,985,000 1,425,500.00 19,647,937.50
2039 11,880,000 3,354,712.50 3,135,000 1,276,250.00 19,645,962.50
2040 12,505,000 2,731,012.50 3,295,000 1,119,500.00 19,650,512.50
2041 13,160,000 2,074,500.00 3,455,000 954,750.00 19,644,250.00
2042 13,820,000 1,416,500.00 3,630,000 782,000.00 19,648,500.00
2043 14,510,000 725,500.00 3,810,000 600,500.00 19,646,000.00
2044 -- -- 4,000,000 410,000.00 4,410,000.00
2045 -- -- 4,200,000 210,000.00 4,410,000.00

TOTAL $216,395,000 $179,723,212.50 $65,735,000 $56,319,279.17 $518,172,491.67

KWA Water Purchase Contracts

KAREGNONDI WATER AUTHORITY SYSTEM

The Issuer has agreed to supply metered, untreated water to each contracting member.
The actual cost for appurtenances and maintenance of the KWA System will be allocated based
on water sold and each contracting member will be responsible for its proportional share of the
cost. Each contracting member will be responsible for treating and distributing treated water to
its individual customers.

The Issuer has entered into two separate water purchase contracts to supply untreated
water, each with an effective date of October 1, 2013. Under a contract with the Genesee County
Drain Commissioner, as County Agency of Genesee under Act 342, Public Acts of Michigan,
1939, as amended (the “County Agency”), on behalf of Genesee (the “Genesee Water Purchase
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Contract”), Genesee has the right to the delivery and use of up to 42 million gallons per day
(“mgd”) of untreated water. Under a contract with Flint (the “Flint Water Purchase Contract”),
Flint has the right to the delivery and use of up to 18 mgd of untreated water. The charges
payable by the County Agency and Flint to the Issuer under the Genesee Water Purchase
Contract and the Flint Water Purchase Contract, respectively, are broken down into two distinct
portions: an annual fixed or capital fee and an annual commodity or operations and maintenance
fee. Each contracting party is responsible for the annual fixed fee regardless of the amount of
water taken. The County Agency and Flint expect to continue paying such charges from the
revenues of their respective water supply systems as an operation and maintenance expense.
While the Flint Water Purchase Contract remains in effect, the performance of the obligations
thereunder by Flint has been impacted by a number of inter-related agreements entered into
among the Issuer, Flint, the County Agency and GLWA in connection with the execution of the
GLWA Water Service Contract for a long-term water supply for Flint, as described under the
subheading “Long-Term Water Supply Arrangements for Flint” below. However, such
agreements do not alter, modify or amend in any respect the terms of the KWA Financing
Contract or the obligation of Flint to make Contractual Payments to the Issuer at the times and in
the amounts required by the terms of the KWA Financing Contract, as described above under the
heading “SECURITY.”

The size of the KWA System was based on the volumes of water identified in the
Genesee Water Purchase Contract and the Flint Water Purchase Contract (collectively, the
“KWA Water Purchase Contracts”), and any additional water purchase contracts entered into
with additional parties, up to a maximum of 85 mgd, the Issuer’s permit limit. The other
members of the Issuer had until October 16, 2013 to enter into a water purchase contract with the
Issuer at the same rates set forth in the KWA Water Purchase Contracts. No additional water
purchase contracts were entered into on or before such date, and as a result, any member of the
Issuer electing to enter into a water purchase contract with the Issuer at a future date will pay any
incremental costs associated with accommodating its water purchase contract.

KWA System Facilities

To supply water to its contracting members, the Issuer constructed a lake intake on Lake
Huron, approximately 63 miles of pipe from the intake to Flint and 3 pump stations, one of
which is located near the intake facility. Such facilities collectively constitute the KWA System,
construction of which is complete. The KWA System became operational as of July 1, 2017,
required testing has been completed, and the Issuer is delivering water to the County Agency
pursuant to the Genesee Water Purchase Contract.

The KWA System withdraws water from Lake Huron and pumps it to a standpipe in
Lynn Township in St. Clair County. From there, the water is pumped to a site in Oregon
Township in Lapeer County, approximately 14 miles east of Flint. That site contains a 125
million gallon earthen impoundment and Genesee’s new water treatment plant (discussed below).
The impoundment and water treatment plant are owned by Genesee and operated by the County
Agency. A third pump station, also known as the “Westside Pump Station,” is capable of
pumping untreated water to Flint. Figure 1 shows the location of the KWA System facilities and
the Genesee treatment plant and impoundment.
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The intake facility and the site therefor (the “Genesee Project’) were financed through the
issuance of bonds by Genesee in the principal amount of $35,000,000 in October, 2013 (the
“Genesee Bonds”), with the understanding that Genesee would make the Genesee Project
available to the Issuer for use by the Issuer as part of the KWA System. The lake intake is
completed and operational. Genesee has made the Genesee Project available to the Issuer, and
the Genesee Project is being used by the Issuer. Genesee is solely responsible for paying the
principal of and interest on the Genesee Bonds from the net revenues derived from the users of
the Genesee System and Genesee has pledged its limited tax full faith and credit as additional
security for the Genesee Bonds.

The KWA System’s lake intake facility, including its Lake Huron Pump Station, is
located on 40 acres of land with 100 feet of frontage on Lake Huron in Sanilac County. The
KWA System’s standpipe and Intermediate Pump Station are located on another 40 acres of land
on the northwest corner of Martin Road and Hull Road in Lynn Township in St. Clair County.
Genesee’s new water treatment plant, impoundment, and the Westside Pump Station are located
on approximately 80 acres of land on the northeast corner of Marathon Road and Stanley Road in
Oregon Township in Lapeer County.



The County Agency holds a permit from the Michigan Department of Environmental
Quality (“MDEQ”) authorizing the withdrawal of up to 85 mgd from Lake Huron. Such permit
will not need to be renewed at any time while the KWA System Bonds are outstanding.

Construction of the Westside Pump Station and Genesee’s new water treatment plant are
complete. Currently, the KWA System is delivering raw water to Genesee’s new treatment
plant. Testing of Genesee’s new treatment plant was completed in November, 2017 and the
treatment plant became fully operational at that time. The Westside Pump Station will be
utilized as part of the KWA System and the Genesee System, and a portion of the costs to
construct the Westside Pump Station has been allocated to both the KWA System and the
Genesee System. The Westside Pump Station was brought online at the same time as Genesee’s
water treatment plant.

The construction costs for the KWA System, including the Genesee Project, total
$290,000,000 and are consistent with original cost estimates that were based on KWA Water
Purchase Contracts for 60 mgd. The Issuer and the Local Units entered into the KWA Financing
Contract under Act 233 whereby the Issuer agreed to issue one or more series of bonds to finance
KWA System facilities, other than the Genesee Project, in an aggregate par amount not to exceed
$300,000,000. To that end, the Issuer has previously issued the Series 2014A Bonds and the
Series 2016 Bonds. The Series 2018 Bonds are expected to finance remaining costs of
constructing and completing the KWA System, refund the Series 2016 Bonds, and pay issuance
costs of the Series 2018 Bonds. No additional series of bonds are expected to be issued under the
KWA Financing Contract.

The KWA Financing Contract is contemplated in the KWA Water Purchase Contracts
and sets forth the manner in which the capital costs of the KWA System facilities will be
allocated. Under the KWA Financing Contract, Flint and Genesee are responsible for paying
approximately 34.2% and 65.8%, respectively, of the debt service on the KWA System Bonds.
This allocation takes into account and credits Genesee for financing and being responsible for the
payment of 100% of the costs of the Genesee Project. In addition, in the event and to the extent
that Flint fails to pay its share of the debt service on the KWA System Bonds, Genesee will be
responsible for making up the shortfall. Flint and Genesee each expects to make such payments
from the revenues to be derived from the customers of the Flint System and the Genesee System,
respectively. In addition, Flint and Genesee each has pledged its limited tax full faith and credit
to making its respective Contractual Payments, as described under the heading “SECURITY”
above.

Operation by County Agency

The Issuer retained the services of the County Agency for operation and maintenance of
the KWA System. The County Agency has significant experience in planning, operating and
managing water supply and wastewater systems, having been responsible for planning, operating
and managing the Genesee System since 1972 and having been responsible for administering the
design and construction of the KWA System. The County Agency currently employs
approximately 148 people in connection with the operation and management of the Genesee
System and the KWA System. Five full-time equivalent employees are involved in the operation
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and maintenance of the KWA System. The Issuer is not expected to have any full-time
employees.

Related Genesee Facilities

In order to provide finished water to Genesee’s customers, and in addition to Genesee’s
new water treatment plant, impoundment, pump station and approximately 5 miles of watermain
running from the new treatment plant to Genesee’s main distribution facility at Henderson Road,
an additional segment of 42-inch transmission line supporting water distribution to Genesee
System customers was constructed and completed in November, 2017. The segment connected
Henderson Road to Genesee Road, replacing a 9 mile segment of 72-inch watermain that
Genesee will transfer to Flint in connection with the long-term water supply arrangements for
Flint described under the subheading “—Long-Term Water Supply Arrangements for Flint” below
and APPENDIX J hereto.

Water Supply Arrangements for Genesee

From December, 1965 to April, 2014, Flint purchased treated water from DWSD for
distribution through the Flint System. During a portion of that period of time, Flint also
purchased water from DWSD and provided that water under contract to the County Agency for
distribution through the Genesee System. On May 1, 2014, Flint disconnected from DWSD and
began supplying the Flint System with water from the Flint River that was treated at Flint’s water
treatment plant. Flint intended to use water from the Flint River as a temporary water source
until completion of and connection to the KWA System.

When Flint discontinued its contract with DWSD as the source of Flint’s finished water
in 2014, the County Agency, which previously purchased water from DWSD through Flint,
began purchasing treated water directly from DWSD. The County Agency and DWSD engaged
in negotiations to establish a formal long-term service contract, but those negotiations were not
successful. The County Agency continued to purchase water directly from DWSD without a
formal written contract until GLWA assumed responsibility for supplying water to the County
Agency in late 2015. Upon commencement of its operations, GLWA assumed responsibility for
delivering water to the County Agency. Genesee discontinued purchasing water from GLWA in
December, 2017, and 100% of Genesee System water is currently being supplied by KWA.

Long-Term Water Supply Arrangements for Flint

Flint had been a customer of DWSD from December, 1965 to May 1, 2014, when it
ended its contractual relationship with DWSD and began pumping water from the Flint River and
treating such water at its water treatment plant before distributing finished water to its customers.
The water from the Flint River caused Flint to experience water quality problems, and, as a
result, in October, 2015, Flint entered into a short-term water supply contract with DWSD, and
on October 16, 2015, Flint reconnected to DWSD and began receiving finished water from
DWSD again. This contract was assumed by GLWA as successor to DWSD as of January 1,
2016.
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Effective December 1, 2017, Flint and GLWA entered into the GLWA Water Service
Contract pursuant to which Flint purchases treated water from GLWA and GLWA provides a
portion of Flint’s backup source of finished water supply for an initial 30-year period. Under the
GLWA Water Service Contract, Flint may receive credit from GLWA for the portion of the debt
service on the KWA System Bonds that Flint pays to the Issuer as required under the KWA
Financing Contract and the Flint Water Purchase Contract. In accordance with a Baseline and All
Receipts Trust Agreement by and among GLWA, the County Agency, Flint, the Issuer and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, dated as of December 1, 2017 (the “Trust Agreement”),
Flint is obligated to pay all amounts due and owing to the Issuer under the KWA Financing
Contract and the Flint Water Purchase Contract, and all amounts due and owing to GLWA,
through trust accounts established under the Trust Agreement. The GLWA Water Service
Contract and the Trust Agreement are part of a series of inter-related transactions negotiated
among the Issuer, the MDEQ, Flint, the County Agency and GLWA implementing the Statement
of Principles for Long Term Water Delivery to the City of Flint, signed by the foregoing parties
on April 18, 2017, which describes a structure for providing a primary and backup water supply
for Flint and system improvements for all the parties. The MDEQ, Flint, the Issuer, the County
Agency, and GLWA entered into a Master Agreement, effective as of December 1, 2017 (the
“Master Agreement”), to which the GLWA Water Service Contract, the Trust Agreement, and
various other documents are attached as exhibits, related to such transactions (collectively, the
“Transaction Documents™). The MDEQ initiated litigation against Flint in connection with Flint
City Council’s delay in approving the Transaction Documents but subsequently filed jointly with
Flint and the Flint City Council for dismissal of the litigation on January 16, 2018. For a
description of the MDEQ litigation, see “LITIGATION — Pending Litigation — Flint — Water
System Related Orders and Litigation — Long-Term Water Source Litigation.” For a description
of the Master Agreement, the GLWA Water Service Contract, the Trust Agreement and certain
other Transaction Documents attached to the Master Agreement, see APPENDIX J hereto.

BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS

The following discussion of some of the risk factors associated with the Series 2018
Bonds is not, and is not intended to be, exhaustive, and such risks are not necessarily presented in
the order of their magnitude.

This Official Statement does not describe all of the risks of an investment in the
Series 2018 Bonds and the Underwriters disclaim any responsibility to advise prospective
investors of such risks as they exist at the date of this Official Statement or as they change from
time to time. Prospective investors should consult their own legal and tax advisors as to the risks
associated with an investment in the Series 2018 Bonds and the suitability of investing in the
Series 2018 Bonds in light of their particular circumstances. Prospective investors should be
able to bear the risks relating to an investment in the Series 2018 Bonds and should carefully
consider, among other factors, the matters described below.

Assumptions With Regard to Local Unit Revenues

Certain assumptions have been made with regard to the ability of Genesee and Flint to
charge and collect revenues from the customers of the Genesee System and the Flint System,
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respectively, in amounts sufficient to pay their respective Contractual Payments. These
assumptions are believed to be reasonable, but to the extent that such revenues are not sufficient
to enable Genesee and/or Flint to pay their Contractual Payments, the Contractual Payments
would nevertheless be required to be paid from the general fund of Genesee and/or Flint, which
could strain such general fund. The assumptions are based on factors beyond Genesee’s and
Flint’s control and there is no assurance that these projections will be achieved. Many factors
may prevent the projections from being achieved. These include yearly changes in water
consumption, population, population growth, household income, competitive facilities,
accessibility, absorption, occupancy, vacancy and market penetration.

NO GUARANTEE CAN BE MADE THAT THE PROJECTIONS CONTAINED
HEREIN WILL CORRESPOND WITH THE RESULTS ACTUALLY ACHIEVED IN THE
FUTURE BECAUSE THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT ACTUAL EVENTS WILL
CORRESPOND WITH THE ASSUMPTIONS MADE IN FORMULATING THE
PROJECTIONS. ACTUAL OPERATING RESULTS MAY BE AFFECTED BY MANY
FACTORS, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, INCREASED COSTS, LOWER THAN
ANTICIPATED REVENUES, CHANGES IN EMPLOYEE RELATIONS, APPLICABLE
GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION, ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS, AND
COMPETITION.

Sufficiency of Rates and Charges

Although it is expected that the rates and charges established by Genesee and Flint will
generate revenues in amounts sufficient to pay debt service on the KWA System Bonds,
including the Series 2018 Bonds, there can be no assurance that such rates and charges will
produce revenues sufficient to pay debt service on the KWA System Bonds, including the Series
2018 Bonds. Future economic and other factors may adversely affect the Issuer’s revenues and
expenses, and, consequently, its ability to meet its operating expenses. Among the factors that
could have such adverse effects are population, population growth, household income,
competitive facilities, accessibility, absorption, occupancy, vacancy and market penetration.

NO GUARANTEE CAN BE MADE THAT THE PROJECTIONS CONTAINED
HEREIN WILL CORRESPOND WITH THE RESULTS ACTUALLY ACHIEVED IN THE
FUTURE BECAUSE THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT ACTUAL EVENTS WILL
CORRESPOND WITH THE ASSUMPTIONS MADE BY THE ISSUER IN FORMULATING
THE PROJECTIONS. ACTUAL OPERATING RESULTS MAY BE AFFECTED BY MANY
FACTORS, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, INCREASED COSTS, LOWER THAN
ANTICIPATED NET REVENUES, CHANGES IN EMPLOYEE RELATIONS, APPLICABLE
GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION, ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS, AND
COMPETITION.

State and Federal Regulation

The KWA System is subject to numerous federal and State regulatory requirements.
Those regulations are subject to change at any time. Failure to comply with regulatory
requirements or changes therein, or the inability to comply with them in a timely manner, could
cause portions of the KWA System to be unavailable for use by the Issuer. Any disruption of
service could negatively impact the collection of revenues from rates and charges to customers of
the Genesee System or the Flint System. The Issuer currently is in compliance with applicable
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environmental requirements. Should any additional regulations applicable to the operation and
maintenance of the KWA System become effective in the future, the Issuer will be required to
take action to comply with them in a timely manner.

Local Units’ General Fund Exposure and Financial Condition of Flint

In order to provide customers for the KWA System, the County Agency and Flint have
entered into the KWA Water Purchase Contracts. Genesee and Flint also entered into the KWA
Financing Contract, under which they are responsible for paying their respective share of the
debt service for the KWA System Bonds issued to finance the costs of the KWA System.
Genesee intends for its obligations with respect to the Genesee Bonds, the KWA System Bonds,
and other outstanding obligations to be paid for by rates and charges from the users of the
Genesee System. Flint intends for its obligations with respect to the KWA System Bonds and
other outstanding obligations to the Issuer to be paid for by rates and charges from the users of
the Flint System. If revenues from rates and charges for the Flint System prove insufficient for
Flint to pay its share of the debt service on the KWA System Bonds, it is unclear whether Flint’s
general fund will have sufficient funds to fulfill its obligations under the KWA Financing
Contract. If Flint fails to fulfill its payment obligation under the KWA Financing Contract for
any reason, either from insufficient revenue collections from rates and charges to users of its
water system or from its general fund, Genesee would be responsible for paying the entire debt
service on the KWA System Bonds in addition to the debt service on the Genesee Bonds and
other outstanding obligations. If Genesee’s general fund is needed to pay a significant portion of
the KWA System Bonds, it could cause significant financial strain on Genesee and significantly
impact rates and charges to users of the Genesee System.

From November, 2011 to April, 2015, Flint operated under a State-appointed Emergency
Manager pursuant to the Local Financial Stability and Choice Act, Act No. 436, Public Acts of
Michigan, 2012 (“Act 436”). Since April, 2015, Flint has operated under a State-appointed
Receivership Transition Advisory Board under Act 436. While many aspects of local control
have been restored to Flint, its Mayor and its City Council, Flint’s options to improve its fiscal
health are restricted by various factors. The United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. Section
101, et. seq. (the “Bankruptcy Code”) does not authorize municipalities to be subject to
involuntary bankruptcy cases. Flint must be specifically authorized to be a debtor under chapter
9 of the Bankruptcy Code by State law or by a governmental officer or organization empowered
by State law to authorize Flint to be a debtor under chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code. Act 436
provides such authorization after Flint first complies with certain requirements set forth therein.
The effect of a Flint bankruptcy on its obligations to the Issuer is unknown at this time, including
without limitation its obligations to continue to make payments to the Issuer under the Flint
Water Purchase Contract with the Issuer and under the KWA Financing Contract. If Flint fails to
fulfill its payment obligations under the KWA Financing Contract for any reason, including a
bankruptcy filing by Flint, Genesee will be required to pay Flint’s share of the debt service on the
KWA System Bonds. Such additional debt burden and its associated debt service payments
could cause significant financial strain on the general fund of Genesee and the net revenues of
the KWA System and could require increases in the rates charged to customers of the Genesee
System.

Additionally, Flint is named in numerous lawsuits arising out of water quality issues
encountered after Flint began using the Flint River to supply water for the Flint System.
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Damages claimed in the lawsuits are substantial and, if awarded, could have a material adverse
effect on the financial position of Flint and its ability to meet its financial obligations pursuant to
the KWA Financing Contract. Further, aggregate litigation fees and costs incurred in defending
such proceedings could be substantial and could also have a material adverse effect on the
financial position of Flint and its ability to meet its financial obligations pursuant to the KWA
Financing Contract. See “LITIGATION — Pending Litigation — Flint.”

Although no Act 436 proceedings have ever occurred with respect to Genesee, nor has
the Michigan Department of Treasury ever indicated the intent to begin such proceedings, if
Genesee were to experience severe financial difficulties, Genesee might become subject to
proceedings under Act 436. Further, in any such case of severe financial difficulties, it is unclear
whether the County Agency or Genesee, respectively, would have sufficient funds to fulfill its
obligations under the Genesee Water Purchase Contract and the KWA Financing Contract.

LITIGATION

Pending Litigation - Issuer

The Issuer has no litigation pending or, to its knowledge, threatened, wherein an
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the issuance of the Series 2018
Bonds or materially affect the Issuer’s ability to pay the principal of and interest on the Series
2018 Bonds.

Pending Litigation — Genesee

Genesee has no litigation pending or, to its knowledge, threatened, wherein an
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the issuance of the Series 2018
Bonds by the Issuer or materially affect Genesee’s ability to make its Contractual Payments in
connection with the Series 2018 Bonds.

The County Agency has been named as a defendant in approximately 39 lawsuits arising
out of the Flint water crisis pending in various federal and state courts, most of which have been
consolidated in each court for motion practice and discovery. The plaintiffs in these cases have
alleged that the County Agency, together with Michigan Governor Rick Snyder, former State
Treasurer Andy Dillon and others, conspired, based on racial and economic animus, to deprive
plaintiffs of constitutional rights to equal protection, federal statutory rights to equal privilege
and immunities, and state statutory rights to equal enjoyment of goods, services and rights of
public accommodation. The complaints in these cases seek unspecified compensatory and
punitive damages and other declaratory and injunctive relief.

The County Agency has filed motions to dismiss these cases because the complaints do
not state any specific facts to support their general allegations. Also, the County Agency had no
jurisdiction over, or ability to control, Flint’s water system. Outside counsel to the County
Agency has stated that he is confident the County Agency has a complete defense to plaintiffs’
claims in these cases and believes it is probable that the County Agency will prevail on the
motions to dismiss. However, neither the Issuer nor the County Agency is able to predict the
outcome of the litigation at this time.
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Pending Litigation — Flint

Flint, its officers and employees are defendants in numerous lawsuits and administrative
orders relating to the operations of Flint, and its water supply system. The fiscal impact of
adverse judgments in the cases described below under the headings “Water System Related
Orders and Litigation” and “Other Lawsuits” is not determinable at this time but could be
significant.

Water System Related Orders and Litigation
Emergency Order

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) issued an emergency
administrative order (“EAQO”) dated January 21, 2016 under the Safe Drinking Water Act (the
“SDWA?”) after the President of the United States declared a federal emergency in Flint due to
the water crisis. The EAO addresses conditions that the EPA determined pose an imminent and
substantial endangerment to the health of Flint’s residents and require Flint and the State of
Michigan (together, the “Respondents™) to take the preventive measures specified therein. The
EAO bars the Respondents from transitioning from the KWA System to a new long-term water
source for Flint until such time as they have submitted a written plan demonstrating that Flint has
the technical, managerial and financial capacity to operate its public water system in compliance
with the SDWA and the national primary drinking water regulations (“NPDWRs”) and that
necessary infrastructure upgrades, analysis, and testing have been completed to ensure a safe
transition.

In an amended order (the “First Amended Order”) issued on November 17, 2016, the
EPA noted that progress had been made in protecting public health with Flint providing
increasingly reliable and safe drinking water to its citizens. The First Amended Order applied
certain provisions of the EAO to any change in water source and establishes tasks and
timeframes to make a water source switch in compliance with the provisions of the SDWA and
the NPDWRs. However, the First Amended Order requires the Respondents to continue using
GLWA as Flint’s source for drinking water, which Flint had returned to in October, 2015 as
discussed above, until Flint demonstrates that certain requirements of the EAO have been met
and the EPA concurs with the change. In December 2017, Flint entered into a water service
contract for GLWA to supply treated water to Flint for an initial 30-year period. See the heading
“KAREGNONDI WATER AUTHORITY SYSTEM - Long-Term Water Supply Arrangements
for Flint” herein.

Flint Water Crisis Litigation

Flint continues to litigate approximately sixty cases arising out of the Flint water crisis in
various courts in which the named defendants are Flint or its current and former employees,
officials, and emergency managers.

Most of these cases are pending in the U.S. District Court of the Eastern District of
Michigan, including 8 class actions that were formerly pending in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Michigan that have been consolidated into a single consolidated class action,
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and in the Circuit Court for Genesee County. There are four cases pending in the Michigan Court
of Appeals, with an application for leave to appeal pending before the Michigan Supreme Court.
In addition, a single case is pending before the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals. Litigation will
continue for some cases in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan following
the denial on March 19, 2018 of a petition for certiorari to the United States Supreme Court in
which there was an appeal of a decision of the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals that the SDWA
does not preclude federal civil rights claims. The plaintiffs in these cases have alleged violations
of civil rights under various laws, violations of the SDWA and other federal and state
environmental statutes, tort and personal injury claims, and claims based on various principles of
contract law.

Additional lawsuits naming one or more of the Flint defendants may be filed in the future.
Pending litigation in other courts may be subsequently amended to include Flint or its current
and former employees, officials, and emergency managers as named defendants. Flint is unable
to predict the outcome of the litigation or the financial impact of the litigation if an adverse
decision were rendered against Flint.

Concerned Pastors, et al v. Khouri, et al, (16-cv-10277) is a civil case arising out of the
Flint water crisis that is pending against the State Treasurer, the members of the Receivership
Transition Advisory Board, Flint and the Flint City Administrator in the Eastern District of
Michigan seeking declaratory and injunctive relief under the SDWA. A mediated settlement of
the case was reached in March, 2017 which includes provisions for Flint to replace 18,000 lead
service lines (“LSL”) within Flint within 3 years, subject to the provision of sufficient funding by
the State and the State to provide $87 million in funds for the LSL replacements. During 2017,
Flint replaced more than 6,600 LSLs.

Long-Term Water Source Litigation

In Michigan Department of Environmental Quality v. the City of Flint, 17-cv-12107 (the
“Complaint”), MDEQ filed a civil action on June 28, 2017 asserting the Flint City Council’s
refusal to approve the Transaction Documents constitutes a violation of the settlement agreement
in Concerned Pastors v. Khouri that violates the Michigan Safe Drinking Water Act, the federal
Safe Drinking Water Act, the EAO and the First Amended Order. On November 21, 2017, the
Flint City Council adopted a resolution approving the Transaction Documents thereby selecting
GLWA as Flint’s long-term water source and authorizing the Mayor to execute such documents.
Subsequently, the Transaction Documents were executed by the Mayor, on behalf of Flint, and
by the various other parties to such documents. On January 16, 2018, the MDEQ, the City of
Flint and the City Council, as intervenor, jointly filed a motion to dismiss the case with prejudice
and withdrew all pleadings and other filings by all parties.

Other Lawsuits
The City of Flint is a defendant in a variety of lawsuits involving matters ranging from
discrimination, retaliation, personal injury, rental code violations, tort, civil rights claims, sewer

backups, pension, healthcare and other benefits for Flint retirees, and whistleblower protection
act violations.
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The action of Ron Rutherford, et al v City of Flint, et al, Genesee County, Michigan,
Circuit Court Case No. 03-76113-NZ, was commenced by plaintiffs who were retirees of Flint,
who sought relief in 2003 from actions of Flint in adjusting their pensions to recover
overpayments that retirees had received. Flint reached a tentative settlement of the overpayment
and interest charges to the plaintiff class, which involves an adjustment to the pension payments
through the Municipal Employee’s Retirement System of Michigan. The court gave preliminary
approval to the settlement agreement under which Flint is anticipated to pay not more than
$310,000, and set procedures for approval of the class action settlement. A hearing is scheduled
on April 5, 2018 for final approval, and to resolve any objections that may be filed.

Except as described above, there is no litigation pending in any court, or to the
knowledge of the Flint City Attorney’s Office, threatened, which would have a material adverse
impact on Flint’s ability to pay its obligations under the KWA Financing Contract or Flint’s
long-term financial condition.

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C., Bond Counsel, under
existing law, the interest on the Series 2018 Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal
income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative
minimum tax, except that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings in calculating
corporate alternative minimum taxable income for tax years beginning prior to January 1, 2018.
Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, the Series 2018 Bonds and the
interest thereon are exempt from all taxation by the State of Michigan or by any taxing authority
within the State of Michigan, except inheritance and estate taxes and taxes on gains realized from
the sale, payment or other disposition thereof. Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding
any other federal or state tax consequences arising with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds and the
interest thereon.

The opinion on federal and State of Michigan tax matters is based on the accuracy of
certain representations and certifications, and continuing compliance with certain covenants, of
the Issuer contained in the transcript of proceedings and which are intended to evidence and
assure the foregoing, including that the Series 2018 Bonds are and will remain obligations the
interest on which is excludable from gross income for federal and State of Michigan income tax
purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to take the actions required of it for the interest on the
Series 2018 Bonds to be and to remain excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes, and not to take any actions that would adversely affect that exclusion. Bond Counsel’s
opinion assumes the accuracy of the Issuer’s certifications and representations and the continuing
compliance with the Issuer’s covenants. Noncompliance with these covenants by the Issuer may
cause the interest on the Series 2018 Bonds to be included in gross income for federal and State
of Michigan income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds.
After the date of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds, Bond Counsel will not undertake to
determine (or to so inform any person) whether any actions taken or not taken, or any events
occurring or not occurring, or any other matters coming to Bond Counsel’s attention, may
adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal and State of Michigan income tax
purposes of interest on the Series 2018 Bonds or the market prices of the Series 2018 Bonds.
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The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority and covers certain
matters not directly addressed by such authority. It represents Bond Counsel’s legal judgment as
to the excludability of interest on the Series 2018 Bonds from gross income for federal and State
of Michigan income tax purposes but is not a guarantee of that conclusion. The opinion is not
binding on the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or any court. Bond Counsel cannot give and
has not given any opinion or assurance about the effect of future changes in the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the applicable regulations, the interpretations thereof or
the enforcement thereof by the IRS.

Ownership of the Series 2018 Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax
consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, corporations subject to the
branch profits tax, financial institutions, certain insurance companies, certain S corporations,
individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits and taxpayers who may
be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to purchase or carry the Series 2018
Bonds. Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding any such consequences.

Tax Treatment of Accruals on Original Issue Discount Bonds

Under existing law, if the initial public offering price to the public (excluding bond
houses and brokers) of a Series 2018 Bond is less than the stated redemption price of such
Series 2018 Bonds at maturity, then such Series 2018 Bond is considered to have “original issue
discount” equal to the difference between such initial offering price and the amount payable at
maturity (such Series 2018 Bonds are referred to as “OID Bonds”). Such discount is treated as
interest excludable from federal gross income to the extent properly allocable to each registered
owner thereof. The original issue discount accrues over the term to maturity of each such OID
Bond on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded at the end of each six-month period (or
shorter period) from the date of original issue with straight-line interpolations between
compounding dates. The amount of original issue discount accruing during each period is added
to the adjusted basis of such OID Bonds to determine taxable gain upon disposition (including
sale, redemption or payment on maturity) of such OID Bonds.

The Code contains certain provisions relating to the accrual of original issue discount in
the case of purchasers of OID Bonds who purchase such OID Bonds after the initial offering of a
substantial amount thereof. Owners who do not purchase such OID Bonds in the initial offering
at the initial offering prices should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax
consequences of ownership of such OID Bonds.

All holders of the OID Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the
allowance of a deduction for any loss on a sale or other disposition of an OID Bond to the extent
such loss is attributable to accrued original issue discount.

Amortizable Bond Premium

For federal income tax purposes, the excess of the initial offering price to the public
(excluding bond houses and brokers) at which a Series 2018 Bond is sold over the amount
payable at maturity thereof constitutes for the original purchasers of such Series 2018 Bonds
(collectively, the “Original Premium Bonds”) an amortizable bond premium. Series 2018 Bonds
other than Original Premium Bonds may also be subject to an amortizable bond premium
determined generally with regard to the taxpayer’s basis (for purposes of determining loss on a
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sale or exchange) and the amount payable on maturity or, in certain cases, on an earlier call date
(such bonds being referred to herein collectively with the Original Premium Bonds as the
“Premium Bonds”). Such amortizable bond premium is not deductible from gross income. The
amount of amortizable bond premium allocable to each taxable year is generally determined on
the basis of the taxpayer’s yield to maturity determined by using the taxpayer’s basis (for
purposes of determining loss on sale or exchange) of such Premium Bonds and compounding at
the close of each six-month accrual period. The amount of amortizable bond premium allocable
to each taxable year is deducted from the taxpayer’s adjusted basis of such Premium Bonds to
determine taxable gain upon disposition (including sale, redemption or payment at maturity) of
such Premium Bonds.

All holders of the Premium Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors as to the
amount and effect of the amortizable bond premium.

Market Discount

The “market discount rules” of the Code apply to the Series 2018 Bonds. Accordingly,
holders acquiring Series 2018 Bonds subsequent to the initial issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds
will generally be required to treat market discount recognized under the provisions of the Code
as ordinary taxable income (as opposed to capital gain income). Holders should consult their
own tax advisors regarding the application of the market discount provisions of the Code and the
advisability of making any of the elections relating to market discount allowed by the Code.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Information reporting requirements apply to interest paid after March 31, 2007 on tax-
exempt obligations, including the Series 2018 Bonds. In general, such requirements are satisfied
if the interest recipient completes, and provides the payor with, a Form W-9, “Request for
Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification,” or unless the recipient is one of a limited
class of exempt recipients, including corporations. A recipient not otherwise exempt from
information reporting who fails to satisfy the information reporting requirements will be subject
to “backup withholding,” which means that the payor is required to deduct and withhold a tax
from the interest payment, calculated in the manner set forth in the Code. For the foregoing
purpose, a “payor” generally refers to the person or entity from whom a recipient receives its
payments of interest or who collects such payments on behalf of the recipient.

If an owner purchasing the Series 2018 Bonds through a brokerage account has executed
a Form W-9 in connection with the establishment of such account no backup withholding should
occur. In any event, backup withholding does not affect the excludability of the interest on the
Series 2018 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Any amounts withheld
pursuant to backup withholding would be allowed as a refund or a credit against the owner’s
federal income tax once the required information is furnished to the IRS.

Future Developments
Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds ends with the
issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds and, unless separately engaged, bond counsel is not obligated

to defend the Issuer in the event of an audit examination by the IRS. The IRS has a program to
audit tax-exempt obligations to determine whether the interest thereon is includible in gross
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income for federal income tax purposes. If the IRS does audit the Series 2018 Bonds, under
current IRS procedures, the IRS will treat the Issuer as the taxpayer and the beneficial owners of
the Series 2018 Bonds will have only limited rights, if any, to obtain and participate in judicial
review of such audit.

No assurance can be given that any future legislation or -clarifications or
amendments to the Code, if enacted into law, will not contain proposals which could cause
the interest on the Series 2018 Bonds to be subject directly or indirectly to federal or State
of Michigan income taxation or otherwise prevent the holders from realizing the full
current benefit of the status of the interest thereon. In addition, such legislation, whether
currently proposed, proposed in the future or enacted, could adversely affect the market
price or marketability of the Series 2018 Bonds. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion
regarding any pending or proposed federal or State of Michigan tax legislation.

Further, no assurance can be given that any actions of the IRS, including, but not
limited to, selection of the Series 2018 Bonds for audit examination, or the course or result
of any examination of the Series 2018 Bonds, or other bonds which present similar tax
issues, will not affect the market price of the Series 2018 Bonds.

Investors should consult with their tax advisors as to the tax consequences of their
acquisition, holding or disposition of the Series 2018 Bonds, including the impact of any
pending or proposed federal or State of Michigan tax legislation.

APPROVAL BY THE MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY

The Issuer has received a letter from the Department of Treasury of the State of
Michigan, dated March 1, 2018, approving the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds as provided in
the Revised Municipal Finance Act, Act No. 34, Public Acts of Michigan, 2001, as amended.

BOND COUNSEL’S RESPONSIBILITY

The fees of Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C. (“Bond Counsel”) for services
rendered in connection with its approving opinion are expected to be paid from Series 2018 Bond
proceeds. Except to the extent necessary to issue its approving opinion as to the validity of the
Series 2018 Bonds and tax matters relating to the Series 2018 Bonds and the interest thereon, and
except as stated below, Bond Counsel has not been retained to examine or review, and has not
examined or reviewed, any financial documents, statements or materials that have been or may
be furnished in connection with the authorization, issuance or marketing of the
Series 2018 Bonds and accordingly will not express any opinion with respect to the accuracy or
completeness of any such financial documents, statements or materials.

Bond Counsel has reviewed the statements in this Official Statement under the headings
entitled “SECURITY,” “THE SERIES 2018 BONDS,” “PRIOR REDEMPTION OF
SERIES 2018 BONDS,” “TAX MATTERS,” “APPROVAL BY THE MICHIGAN
DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY,” “BOND COUNSEL’S RESPONSIBILITY,”
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” (first two paragraphs only) and in APPENDIX H “— Transfer
Outside Book-Entry-Only System.” Bond Counsel has not been retained to review and has not
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reviewed any other portions of the Official Statement for accuracy or completeness, and has not
made inquiry of any official or employee of the Issuer or any other person and has made no
independent verification of such other portions hereof, and further has not expressed and will not
express an opinion or belief as to any such other portions hereof.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

Prior to the delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds, the Issuer and each Local Unit will
execute a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (individually an “Undertaking” and collectively,
the “Undertakings”) for the benefit of the holders of the Series 2018 Bonds or Beneficial Owners
to provide certain information annually and to provide notice of certain events to the Municipal
Securities Rulemaking Board pursuant to the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”™)
adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
The information to be provided on an annual basis, the events which will be noticed on an
occurrence basis, and the other terms of the Undertakings are set forth in APPENDIX F —
FORMS OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKINGS to this Official Statement.
Except as may be otherwise required by applicable federal securities law, neither the Issuer nor
the Local Units are obligated to provide any additional disclosure beyond that specified in
Appendix F.

A failure by the Issuer or a Local Unit to comply with its Undertaking will not constitute
an event of default under the KWA Financing Contract or the Resolution authorizing the
issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds and holders of the Series 2018 Bonds or Beneficial Owners
are limited to the remedies described in the Undertakings.

The Issuer timely filed its audits for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2015 and
September 30, 2016. However, the Issuer’s audit for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014
was filed 318 days late on February 12, 2016 and notice of such late filing was given in
accordance with the Rule.

During the previous five years, in general, Genesee has timely filed its audited financial
information and annual disclosure filings on EMMA. However, some timely filed audits,
updates of operating and financial data, and notices of underlying and insurer rating changes
have not been properly linked on EMMA to all affected CUSIP numbers. Such filings have
since been linked to the affected CUSIP numbers. Some notices of underlying rating changes
pertaining to Genesee were filed between 3 and 8 business days late for some of Genesee’s
outstanding issues. In addition, some notices of insurer rating changes pertaining to some of
Genesee’s insured bonds were filed between 11 and 180 days after the posted effective date of
such changes. Finally, in connection with its Sewage Disposal System No. 3 Revenue Bonds,
Series 2007, Genesee’s annual filings for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 and
September 30, 2013 did not include required updates pertaining to “The Sewage System — List of
Users of the System,” “The Sewage System — Customer Communities and Usage,” “Sewage
System Rates,” and “Historical Volume Treated for the Sewage System (CCFT).”

Pursuant to its Continuing Disclosure Undertaking in connection with the Issuer’s Series
2014A Bonds, Flint has timely filed its audits and annual disclosure filings for its fiscal years
ended June 30, 2014, June 30, 2015, June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2017. However, Flint’s annual
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disclosure filings for such years did not include required updates of information pertaining to
“Per Capita Valuation” and “Tax Base Composition.” Such information has since been filed on
EMMA. Further, Flint’s audits for such years included updates of information regarding the
funding status and funding progress of Flint’s pension fund and other post-employment benefits,
but such updated information was not provided separately on EMMA.

A failure by the Issuer or either Local Unit to comply with its Undertaking must be
reported by the Issuer or such Local Unit in accordance with the Rule and must be considered by
any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase or sale of
the Series 2018 Bonds in the secondary market. Consequently, such failure may adversely affect
the transferability and liquidity of the Series 2018 Bonds and their market price.

LEGAL MATTERS

Legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Series 2018 Bonds
are subject to the approval of Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C., attorneys of Detroit,
Michigan, Bond Counsel. A copy of the opinion of Bond Counsel will be furnished with the
Series 2018 Bonds, which opinion will be substantially in the form set forth in APPENDIX G.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City of Flint by its special counsel, Lewis &
Munday, A Professional Corporation, Detroit, Michigan, and for the Underwriters by their
counsel, Dickinson Wright PLLC, Troy and Lansing, Michigan.

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR

The Issuer has retained PFM Financial Advisors LLC, of Ann Arbor, Michigan as
municipal financial advisor (the “Municipal Advisor”) in connection with the issuance of the
Series 2018 Bonds. In preparing portions of the Official Statement, the Municipal Advisor has
relied upon governmental officials and other sources which have access to relevant data, to
provide accurate information for the Official Statement and the Municipal Advisor has not been
engaged, nor has it undertaken, to independently verify the accuracy of such information. To the
best of the Municipal Advisor’s knowledge and belief, the information contained in the Official
Statement which it assisted in preparing, while it may be summarized, is complete and accurate.
The Municipal Advisor is not a public accounting firm and has not been engaged by the Issuer to
compile, review, examine or audit any information in the Official Statement in accordance with
accounting standards.

The Municipal Advisor is an independent advisory firm and is not engaged in the
business of underwriting, trading or distributing municipal securities or other public securities
and therefore will not participate in the underwriting of the Series 2018 Bonds. PFM Financial
Advisors LLC is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Municipal
Securities Rulemaking Board as a municipal advisor.

Requests for information concerning the Issuer should be addressed to PFM Financial
Advisors LLC, 555 Briarwood Circle, Suite 333, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108, (734) 994-9700.
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UNDERWRITING

The Series 2018 Bonds are being purchased by the Underwriters listed on the cover page
of this Official Statement. The Underwriters have agreed, subject to certain conditions, to
purchase all of the Series 2018 Bonds from the Issuer at an underwriters’ discount of
$334,591.15 from the initial offering prices set forth in this Official Statement. The Underwriters
are obligated to purchase all of the Series 2018 Bonds, if any are purchased, the obligation to
make such purchase being subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase
Agreement with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds, the approval of certain legal matters by
counsel and certain other conditions. The initial public offering prices of the Series 2018 Bonds
may be changed from time to time by the Underwriters. The Series 2018 Bonds may be offered
and sold by the Underwriters to certain dealers (including dealers depositing the Series 2018
Bonds in unit investment trusts, some of which may be managed by the Underwriters) and
certain dealer banks and banks acting as agents at prices lower than the public offering prices set
forth in this Official Statement.

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JPMS”), one of the Underwriters of the Series 2018 Bonds,
has entered into negotiated dealer agreements (each, a “Dealer Agreement”) with each of Charles
Schwab & Co., Inc. (“CS&Co.”) and LPL Financial LLC (“LPL”) for the retail distribution of
certain securities offerings at the original issue prices. Pursuant to each Dealer Agreement (if
applicable to this transaction), each of CS&Co. and LPL may purchase Bonds from JPMS at the
original issue price less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any Series
2018 Bonds that such firm sells.

JPMS and its affiliates together comprise a full service financial institution engaged in
various activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking,
financial advisory, investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and
brokerage activities. Such activities may involve or relate to assets, securities and/or instruments
of the Issuer (whether directly, as collateral securing other obligations or otherwise) and/or
persons and entities with relationships with (or that are otherwise involved with transactions by)
the Issuer. JPMS and its affiliates may have, from time to time, engaged, and may in the future
engage, in transactions with, and performed and may in the future perform, various investment
banking services for the Issuer for which they received or will receive customary fees and
expenses. Under certain circumstances, JPMS and its affiliates may have certain creditor and/or
other rights against the Issuer and any affiliates thereof in connection with such transactions
and/or services. In addition, JPMS and its affiliates may currently have and may in the future
have investment and commercial banking, trust and other relationships with parties that may
relate to assets of, or be involved in the issuance of securities and/or instruments by, the Issuer
and any affiliates thereof. JPMS and its affiliates also may communicate independent investment
recommendations, market advice or trading ideas and/or publish or express independent research
views in respect of such assets, securities or instruments and at any time may hold, or
recommend to clients that they should acquire, long and/or short positions in such assets,
securities and instruments.

24



JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., an affiliate of JPMS, is the holder of a beneficial interest in
a tender option bond trust used to finance the Series 2016 Bonds and will receive the portion of
the proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds that will be used to refund the Series 2016 Bonds.

RATING

S&P Global Ratings has assigned the Series 2018 Bonds a rating of “A”. No application
was made to any other rating agency for the purpose of obtaining an additional rating on the
Series 2018 Bonds. Any explanation of the significance of such rating may only be obtained
from the rating agency. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on such information and
materials and on investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating agency. There is no
assurance that such rating will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be revised
downward or withdrawn entirely by such rating agency, if in the judgment of the rating agency,
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating may have
an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2018 Bonds.

OTHER MATTERS

All information contained in this Official Statement is subject, in all respects, to the
complete body of information contained in the original sources thereof. In particular, no opinion
or representation is rendered as to whether any projection will approximate actual results, and all
opinions, estimates and assumptions, whether or not expressly identified as such, should not be
considered statements of fact.

KAREGNONDI WATER AUTHORITY

By: /s/ Jeffrey Wright
Jeffrey Wright, Chief Executive Officer
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APPENDIX A
KAREGNONDI WATER AUTHORITY
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached are the audited financial statements for the Karegnondi Water Authority (the “Issuer”)
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017. The auditors for the Issuer have not been asked to
consent to the use of information from such financial statements in either the Preliminary

Official Statement or the Olfficial Statement and have not conducted any subsequent review of
such financial statements.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors
Karegnondi Water Authority

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of Karegnondi Water Authority
(the "Authority"), a component unit of Genesee County Water and Waste Services, as of and for
the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Planle & Moran, PLLC
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To the Board of Directors
Karegnondi Water Authority

Opinion

In our opinion, the basic financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Karegnondi Water Authority as of September 30, 2017 and
2016 and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matter
Required Supplemental Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management's discussion and analysis, as identified in the table of contents, be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplemental information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

February 6, 2018
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Karegnondi Water Authority (KWA or the “Authority”) was incorporated in October 2010
pursuant to Act 233, Public Acts of Michigan, 1955, as amended, by the County of Genesee,
Michigan (Genesee Co.), the County of Lapeer, Michigan, the County of Sanilac, Michigan, the
City of Flint, Michigan (Flint), and the City of Lapeer, Michigan for the purpose of providing its
member communities with a new source of water for treatment and distribution. This new water
source comes from a Water Supply System (the “System”) which has been recently completed.
The System delivers Lake Huron water to its customers.

The System is currently providing untreated water to the Genesee County Drain Commissioner
(the “County Agency”) as its primary water source pursuant to the Genesee Water Purchase
Contract. Under a contract with Flint (the “Flint Water Purchase Contract”), Flint has the right to
the delivery and use of up to 18 million gallons per day of untreated water. Under a long-term
water supply contract entered into by Flint and the Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA) as of
December |, 2017 (the “GLWA Water Service Contract”), GLWA will supply Flint with treated
water as its primary water source for an initial period of 30 years. Pursuant to the terms of the
GLWA Water Service Contract, Flint has granted to GLWA certain rights of Flint under the Flint
Water Purchase Contract to untreated water from the System.

The System

To supply water to its contracting members, KWA constructed two lake intakes in Lake Huron,
approximately 63 miles of pipe from the intake to the City of Flint, and three pump stations. These
facilities collectively constitute the System. The engineering design of the System was to withdraw
water from Lake Huron and pump it to a standpipe in Lynn Township in St. Clair County, and
from there, repump the water to a site in Oregon Township in Lapeer County, approximately 14
miles east of Flint. That site features a 125 million gallon reservoir (also known as an
impoundment) which was completed in 2016, along with the County Agency’s new water
treatment plant which was completed in June 2017.

The impoundment and new treatment plant are owned and operated by the County Agency. A
third pump station is capable to pump untreated water from the County Agency’s site to Flint’s
water treatment plant. Figure | shows the location of the System’s facilities, the Flint water
treatment plant, and the County Agency treatment plant and impoundment.

Karegnondi Water Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The intake facility and property were financed through the issuance of bonds by the County
Agency in the principal amount of $35,000,000 in October 2013, with the understanding that the
County Agency would make the intake and property available to KWA for use by KWA as part of
the System. The County Agency is solely responsible for paying the principal of and interest on
these bonds from the net revenue derived from its users. Genesee County has pledged its limited
tax full faith and credit as additional security for the bonds.

The lake intake construction and testing were completed in 2016. The County Agency has entered
into an agreement which calls for the ownership of the intake to be transferred to KWA once the
intake debt has been retired.
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

KWA retained the services of the County Agency to administer the design and construction of the
System. The County Agency provided these services at no cost to KWA since its inception through
September 2014. In October 2014, KWA began paying the County Agency $3,000.00 monthly for
these services. Then in June 2017, after the system was completed and operational, KWA
contracted with the County Agency for operation and maintenance of the System. The County
Agency has significant experience in planning, operating, and managing water and wastewater
systems, having been responsible for planning, operating, and managing its own system since 1966.
The County Agency currently employs approximately 150 people in connection with the
operation and management of its current system, and from this group, approximately five full-
time-equivalent employees are involved in the operation and maintenance of the System. KWA
does not have any employees.

Objectives

The main objectives of KWA were to build and maintain a high-quality water delivery system at
rates which would be fair and cost effective to all concerned. And in accordance with its bylaws,
KWA maintains a yearly budget of income and expenses. The budget is reviewed and approved
by the KWA board.

Using this Annual Report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net position, the
statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position, and the statement of cash flows
provide information about the activities of KWA as a whole and assist in presenting a longer-term
view of its finances.

Karegnondi Water Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Condensed Financial Information

The following tables present condensed information about the Authority’s financial position
compared to the prior two years:

September 30
(Decrease) Percent
2015 2016 2017 Increase Change
Assets
Current assets $ 5,603,627 $ 7267552 $ 6,197,784 $  (1,069,768) -15%
Restricted assets 108,590,629 45,429,465 39,968,773 (5,460,692) -12%
Capital assets 181,395,807 310,377,287 331,427,489 21,050,202 7%
Total assets 295,590,063 363,074,304 377,594,046 14,519,742 4%
Liabilities
Current liabilities 10,031 18,575 68,943,071 68,924,496  371061%
Liabilities payable from restricted assets 21,954,798 12,573,368 21,105,256 8,531,888 68%
Other noncurrent liabilities 3,428,607 5,118,032 5,258,648 140,616 3%
Long-term debt 266,527,841 340,503,990 260,770,138 (79,733,852) -23%
Total liabilities 291,921,277 358,213,965 356,077,113 (2,136,852) -1%
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 1,059,404 1,778,879 14,802,771 13,023,892 732%
Restricted for debt service 497,893 950,515 7,514,028 6,563,513 691%
Unrestricted 2,111,489 2,130,945 (799,866) (2,930,811) -138%
Total net position $ 366878 $ 4,860,339 $ 21,516,933 $ 16,656,594 343%
Year Ended September 30
Percent
2015 2016 2017 Change Change
Operating Revenue - Sale of water $ - $ - $ 441,074 $ 441,074 100%
Operating Expenses
Office supplies and insurance 4,792 4,186 69,222 65,036 1554%
Utilities - - 289,743 289,743 100%
Repairs and maintenance - - 17,002 17,002 100%
Contractual and professional services 136,192 190,313 1,216,017 1,025,704 539%
Other expenses - - 4,854 4,854 100%
Total operating exp 140,984 194,499 1,596,838 1,402,339 721%
Operating Loss (140,984) (194,499) (1,155,764) (961,265) 494%
Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses)
Water supply contract operating subsidy 1,938,000 1,938,000 - (1,938,000) -100%
Capacity/Debt service fee - - 17,760,242 17,760,242 100%
Investment income 4813 11,270 52,116 40,846 362%
Bond issuance costs - (563,218) - 563,218 -100%
Total nonoperating revenue 1,942,813 1,386,052 17,812,358 16,426,306 1185%
Change in Net Position $ 1,801,829 $ 1,191,553 $ 16,656,594 $ 15,465,041 1298%
6
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Major Capital Assets and Debt Activity

KWA and the local units entered into a contract whereby KWA was authorized to issue bonds
with a total par value not to exceed $300,000,000 (collectively, the “System Bonds”) to finance
the facilities for the System in anticipation of the contractual payments to be made by the local
units as provided therein. The contract is contemplated in the water purchase contracts and sets
forth the manner in which the capital costs of the System’s facilities would be allocated. Under the
contracts, Flint and the County Agency are responsible for paying approximately 34 percent and
66 percent, respectively, of the debt service on the System Bonds. This allocation takes into
account and credits the County Agency for financing and being responsible for the payment of 100
percent of the costs of the intake. In addition, Genesee County, Michigan pledged its limited tax
full faith and credit to 100 percent of the debt service on the System Bonds.

KWA sold $220,500,000 par value in water system supply bonds in April 2014. Sources and uses
of funds were as follows:

Sources of Funds

Par amount of bonds - $220,500,000.00
Net original issue premium/discount - $11,815,544.05
Total sources - $232,315,544.05

Use of Funds

Deposit to construction fund - Initial - $187,137,367.59
Deposit to construction fund - Subsequent - $8,606.00
Capitalized interest - $28,282,364.06

Deposit to debt service reserve account - $15,237,437.50
Costs of issuance - $703,394.00

Underwriters’ discount - $946,374.90

Total uses - $232,315,544.05

KWA sold $74,370,000 par value in water system supply bonds in June 2016.
Sources and uses of funds were as follows:
Sources of Funds

Par amount of bonds - $74,370,000
Net original issue premium/discount - $0.00
Total sources - $74,370,000.00

Karegnondi Water Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Use of Funds

Deposit to construction fund - $61,999,332.18
Capitalized interest - $4,878,159.88

Deposit to debt service reserve account - $6,954,939.94
Costs of issuance - $223,680.50

Purchaser’s fee - $313,887.50

Total uses - $74,370,000.00

KWA anticipates refinancing the 2016 $74,370,000 par value bonds in 2018.
Financial Review

A discussion of the significant financial activity during the current year is as follows:
Statement of Net Position

e Cash and cash equivalents decreased from $7,159,901 to $5,877,667 primarily due to the
increase in total operating expenses in the current year.

e Capital assets increased $21,050,202 due to additional construction in progress related to the
pipeline plus the year’s capitalized interest cost.

e Payable from restricted assets increased by $8,531,888 due to debt service payable from
restricted assets becoming due and payable.

e Net position increased $16,656,594. This increase is the result of KWA collecting the
capacity/debt service fee from the County Agency and Flint to fund the capital-related debt
service.

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

e Operating revenue was $441,074 due to water sales beginning in July 2017. KWA began selling
raw water to the County Agency so that the County Agency could begin testing of its new
water treatment plant. Subsequent to year end, in November 2017, the County Agency began
full operations of its water treatment plant and thereby increased purchases of raw water from
KWA. Water sales are budgeted at approximately $3,360,000 in 2018.

e Operating expenses increased $1,402,339 due to KWA operating the system at a higher
capacity for testing purposes as noted above. Operating expenses are budgeted at
approximately $2,950,000 in fiscal year 2018.

o KWA began invoicing the County Agency and Flint for debt service in fiscal year 2017, resulting
in $17,760,242 of nonoperating capacity/debt service fee revenue.

e Bond issuance costs decreased $563,218 due to no new debt being issued during the year.
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Contacting Management

This financial report is intended to provide our constituents, future water users, and bondholders
with a general overview of Karegnondi Water Authority’s accountability for the money it receives.
If there are questions about this report or if additional information is needed, we welcome anyone
to contact the CEO.

Karegnondi Water Authority

Statement of Net Position

September 30,  September 30,
2017 2016
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 5,877,667 $ 7,159,901
Receivables:
Accrued interest receivable - 74,117
Other construction receivables (refunds) 81,409 -
Due from other governmental units 238,708 33,534
Total current assets 6,197,784 7,267,552
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets (Note 3) 39,968,773 45,429,465
Capital assets - Assets not subject to depreciation (Note 4) 331,427,489 310,377,287
Total noncurrent assets 371,396,262 355,806,752
Total assets 377,594,046 363,074,304
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable - Operations 119,751 18,575
Accounts payable - Construction 1,537,842 -
Current portion of long-term debt 67,285,478 -
Total current liabilities 68,943,071 18,575
Noncurrent liabilities:
Payable from restricted assets (Note I) 21,105,256 12,573,368
Lease interest payable 5,258,648 5,118,032
Long-term debt (Note 5) 260,770,138 340,503,990
Total noncurrent liabilities 287,134,042 358,195,390
Total liabilities 356,077,113 358,213,965
Equity - Net position
Net investment in capital assets 14,802,771 1,778,879
Restricted for debt service 7,514,028 950,515
Unrestricted (799,866) 2,130,945

Total net position

The Notes to Financial Statements are
an Integral Part of this Statement.

$ 21,516,933

$ 4,860,339
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Operating Revenue - Changes for sales and services - Sale of

water

Operating Expenses
Insurance expense
Repairs and maintenance
Utilities
Contractual and professional services
Other expenses

Total operating expenses
Operating Loss

Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses)
Capacity/Debt service fee
Water supply contract operating subsidy
Bond issuance costs
Investment income

Total nonoperating revenue
Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of year

Net Position - End of year

The Notes to Financial Statements are
an Integral Part of this Statement.

Years Ended

September 30, September 30,

2017 2016

$ 441,074 $ -
69,222 4,186
17,002 -
289,743 -
1,216,017 190,313
4,854 -
1,596,838 194,499
(1,155,764) (194,499)
17,760,242 -

- 1,938,000
- (563,218)

52,116 11,270
17,812,358 1,386,052
16,656,594 1,191,553
4,860,339 3,668,786

$ 21,516,933 $ 4,860,339

Karegnondi Water Authority

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities - Water supply

contract operating subsidy

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Bond proceeds received
Capacity/Debt service fee
Purchase of capital assets
Interest paid on capital debt
Bond issuance costs

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Investment income
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sale and maturities of investment securities

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year

Statement of Net Position Classification of Cash and Cash
Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted assets
Less amounts classified as investments

Total cash and cash equivalents

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from
Operating Activities
Operating loss
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Due from other governmental units
Accounts payable

Net cash used in operating activities

Statement of Cash Flows

Years Ended

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$ 202,366 $

<|as,9_55)

(1,495,662)
(1,293,296) (185,955)
- 1,938,000
- 74,370,000
17,760,242 -
(9,353,924) (126,489,885)
(14,422,572) (11,036,205)
- (563,218)
(6,016,254) (63,719,308)
566,624 569,415
(3,964,103) -
- 68,908,919
(3,397,479) 69,478,334
(10,707,029) 7,511,071
18,969,730 11,458,659
$ 8,262,701 $ 18,969,730
$ 5,877,667 $ 7,159,901
39,968,773 45,429,465
(37,583,739) (33,619,636)
$ 8,262,701 $ 18,969,730
$  (1,155764) $ (194,499)
(238,708) -
101,176 8,544

$ (1,293,296) $  (185,955)

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities - During the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016,

there were no noncash activities.

The Notes to Financial Statements are
an Integral Part of this Statement. 12
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used by Karegnondi
Water Authority (KWA or the "Authority"):

Reporting Entity

Karegnondi Water Authority is governed by an appointed |5-member board and was
created pursuant to Act 233, Michigan Public Acts of 1955. Its purpose is to acquire and
operate a water pipeline that provides water to its customers. The Genesee County
Drain Commissioner has financial accountability for KWA. This is subject to change
based upon redistribution of capacity units. KWA began full operations in November
2017.

Accounting and Reporting Principles

The Authority follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. Accounting and financial reporting
pronouncements are promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

Fund Accounting

The Authority accounts for its various activities in an enterprise fund in order to
demonstrate accountability for how we have spent certain resources.

Proprietary Fund - The proprietary fund includes an enterprise fund, which provides
goods or services to users in exchange for charges or fees. The Authority only has one
fund, the Water Fund, which provides water to customers through a pipeline
constructed from Lake Huron. All activities necessary to provide such services are
accounted for in this fund, including, but not limited to, administration, maintenance,
billing, and collection.

Basis of Accounting

Proprietary funds use the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual
basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when
a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Report Presentation

This report includes the fund-based statements of the Authority. In accordance with
government accounting principles, a government-wide presentation with program and
general revenue is not applicable to special purpose governments engaged only in
business-type activities.

Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Specific Balances and Transactions

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand
deposits, and short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less when
acquired.

Investments - Investments are reported at fair value or estimated fair value. Short-
term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded
on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at
current exchange rates.

Prepaid Items - Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal
years and are recorded as prepaid items in the fund financial statements.

Restricted Assets - The Authority's bond indenture requires amounts to be set aside in
a construction account and in debt service reserve accounts. These amounts have been
classified as restricted assets, as well as amounts on deposit at the county being held for
the construction or debt service of Karegnondi Water Authority water lines.

Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets - The current accrued interest due and
principal due on the capital lease, 2014A Water Supply System Bonds, and the 2016
Water Supply System Bonds will be paid from these restricted assets and, therefore, has
been reported as a noncurrent liability to the extent of restricted assets available. The
construction accounts payable will be liquidated from unspent bond proceeds and have
also been reported in this category to the extent of restricted assets available.

Capital Assets - Capital assets are defined by the Authority as assets with an initial
individual cost of more than $10,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.
Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or
constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of
donation. The water transmission line costs from Lake Huron are being reported as
construction in progress until the asset is fully placed in service during fiscal year 2018,
after which time they will be depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets of business-type activities is
included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed. Interest expense (net
of interest income) of $14,903,686 and $13,349,049 was capitalized as part of the cost
of assets under construction for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Long-term Obligations - Bond premiums are deferred and amortized over the life of
the bonds using the effective interest method; bonds payable are reported net of the
applicable bond premium. Bond issuance costs are expensed at the time they are
incurred.
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Net Position Flow Assumption - Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a
particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or grant proceeds) and
unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net
position and unrestricted net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund
financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the
resources are considered to be applied. It is the government’s policy to consider
restricted net position to have been depleted before unrestricted net position is applied.

Proprietary Funds Operating Classification - Proprietary funds distinguish operating
revenue and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenue and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal
operating revenue of the Water Fund is charges to customers for sales and services.
Operating expenses for the enterprise fund include the cost of sales and services and
administrative expenses. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as nonoperating revenue and expenses.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications - Certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been
reclassified in order to be consistent with the current year's presentation.

Note 2 - Deposits and Investments

Deposits and investments are reported in the financial statements as of September 30,
2017 and 2016 as follows:

Karegnondi Water Authority

2017 2016
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5877667 $ 7,159,901
Restricted assets 39,968,773 45,429,465
Total $ 45,846,440 $ 52,589,366

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

These amounts are classified into the following deposits and investment categories:

Primary Primary
Government ~ Government
2017 2016

Cash deposits with financial institutions $ 8262,702 $ 18,969,730
Investments - Certificates of deposit (with maturities in

excess of 90 days) 11,406,457 5,563,744

Investments - Money markets 26,177,281 28,055,892

Total $ 45,846,440 $ 52,589,366

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes
local governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured
banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The
law also allows investments outside the state of Michigan when fully insured. The local
unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other direct obligations of the United
States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; repurchase agreements;
bankers' acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two
highest classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase;
obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions, which are rated as
investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that are legal for
direct investment by local units of government in Michigan.

The Authority has designated two banks for the deposit of its funds. The investment
policy adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized
investment in bonds and securities of the United States government and bank accounts
and CDs, but not the remainder of state statutory authority as listed above. The
Authority's deposits and investment policies are in accordance with statutory authority.

The Authority's cash and investments are subject to several types of risk, which are
examined in more detail below:

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the
event of a bank failure, the Authority's deposits may not be returned to it. The Authority
does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. For the years ended September
30, 2017 and 2016, the Authority had $7,234,078 and $17,942,717, respectively,
(checking and savings accounts) that were not fully insured or collateralized.
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will
decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. The Authority's investment policy does not
restrict investment maturities, other than commercial paper, which can only be
purchased with a 270-day maturity. During the year ended September 30, 2016, the
Authority liquidated all repurchase agreement investments.

The Authority categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the
valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level | inputs are quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets, Level 2 inputs are significant other
observable inputs, and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Investments
that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as a
practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy. As of September 30,
2017 and 2016, all cash and investments owned by the Authority are properly valued at
cost; therefore, there is no fair value hierarchy applicable.

Note 3 - Restricted Assets

The restricted assets are restricted for the following purposes:

2017 2016
Unspent bond proceeds and related interest $ 1,856,411 $ 10,909,829
County construction deposits 528,624 900,000
General obligation bond restrictions:
Debt reserve 26,177,281 33,619,636
Capacity/Debt service fee for debt service 11,406,457 -

Total restricted assets $ 39,968,773 $ 45,429,465

The general obligation bond debt reserve is restricted for debt service per the bond
agreement. The capacity/debt service fee is restricted per the bond agreement for
current principal and interest payments on general obligation bonds and the capital
lease.

Net position has been restricted at September 30, 2017 and 2016 for $7,514,028 and
$950,515, respectively, related to the restricted assets held for debt service net of the
related payable.

Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note 4 - Capital Assets

Capital asset activity of the Authority's business-type activities for the years ended
September 30, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

Balance Balance
October |, September 30,
Business-type Activities 2016 Additions Disposals 2017
Capital assets not being
depreciated - Construction in
progress $ 310,377,287 $ 21,050,202 $ - $ 331,427,489
Balance Balance
October I, September |,
2015 Additions Disposals 2016
Capital assets not being
depreciated - Construction in
progress $ 181,395,807 $ 128,981,480 $ - $ 310,377,287

Construction Commitments - The Authority has an active construction project at
year end. The project is to complete the water pipeline. At year end, the Authority's
commitment with contractors is as follows:

Remaining
Spent to Date Commitment
Water pipeline $ 257,489,982 $ 3,920,204

Note 5 - Long-term Debt

The Authority issues bonds to provide for the acquisition and construction of major
capital facilities. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith
and credit of the Authority.

Description Amount

Business-type Activities
2014A Water Supply System Bond, used to construct water pipeline,
bearing interest from 3 percent to 5.25 percent, maturing in 2043 $ 220,500,000
2016 Water Supply System Bond, used to construct water pipeline,
bearing interest on the first of each month at a variable annual rate of
3.15 percent plus 70 percent of the 30-day LIBOR, maturing in 2018 74,370,000

Tota $ 254870000
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Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note 5 - Long-term Debt (Continued)

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Business-type Activities -
2017
Bonds $294,870,000 $ -8 - $294,870,000 $ 78,475,000
Plus deferred amounts -
Issuance premiums 10,633,990 - 393,852 10,240,138 -
Total bonds payable 305,503,990 - 393,852 305,110,138 78,475,000
Capital lease (Note 6) 35,000,000 - - 35,000,000 865,000

Total business-type

activities - 2017 $340,503,990 $ - $ 393,852 $340,110,138 $ 79,340,000
Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Business-type Activities -
2016
Bonds $220,500,000 $ 74,370,000 $ - $294,870,000 $ -
Plus deferred amounts -
Issuance premiums 11,027,841 - 393,851 10,633,990 -
Total bonds payable 231,527,841 74,370,000 393,851 305,503,990 -
Capital lease (Note 6) 35,000,000 - - 35,000,000 -

Total business-type
activities - 2016 $266,527,841 $ 74,370,000 $ 393,851 $340,503,990 $ -

A total of $12,054,522 of the $79,340,000 due within one year is included in payable
from restricted assets on the statement of net position.

Total interest expense for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was
$15,418,194, of which $14,903,686 (interest expense net of interest income) was
capitalized, and $13,907,194, of which $13,349,049 (interest expense net of interest
income) was capitalized, respectively.

Management is currently in the process of refinancing the 2016 Water Supply System
Bond that matures in 2018. See Note 9 for further information.

Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Note 5 - Long-term Debt (Continued)

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the above bonds and note obligations
are as follows:

Business-type Activities

Years Ending

September 30 Principal Interest Total
2018 $ 78475000 $ 14,476,840 $ 92,951,840
2019 4,275,000 10,861,863 15,136,863
2020 4,475,000 10,669,612 15,144,612
2021 4,655,000 10,471,362 15,126,362
2022 4,870,000 10,263,238 15,133,238

2023-2027 28,035,000 47,439,563 75,474,563
2028-2032 35,960,000 39,271,875 75,231,875
2033-2037 46,235,000 28,759,669 74,994,669
2038-2042 59,560,000 15,071,162 74,631,162
2043-2044 28,330,000 1,433,750 29,763,750

Total $ 294,870,000 $ 188718934 $ 483,588,934

Note 6 - Capital Lease

Capital Leases - The Authority has entered into a lease agreement as lessee for
financing the purchase of the intake pump station. This lease agreement qualifies as a
capital lease for accounting purposes and, therefore, has been recorded at the present
value of the future minimum lease payments as of the inception date. The future
minimum lease obligations and the net present value are as follows:

Years Ending

September 30 Amount
2018 $ 2,509,887
2019 2,509,887
2020 2,507,587
2021 2,504,813
2022 2,499,938

2023-2027 12,488,056
2028-2032 12,441,513
2033-2037 12,378,191
2038-2042 12,513,288

Total minimum lease payments 62,353,160

Less amount representing interest (27,353,160)

Present value $ 35,000,000
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Karegnondi Water Authority Karegnondi Water Authority

Notes to Financial Statements Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016 September 30, 2017 and 2016
Note 6 - Capital Lease (Continued) Note 9 - Subsequent Events
Interest has been accruing on the capital lease since inception. As of September 30, In late November, 2017, KWA and the County Agency began providing water to many
2017, $692,578 is current accrued interest payable and $5,258,648 is long-term of the Genesee County communities.

accrued interest payable. The current interest payable is included in noncurrent
liabilities - payable from restricted assets.

Note 7 - Capacity/Debt Service Fee

KWA entered into two separate water purchase contracts to supply untreated water,
each with an effective date of October I, 2013. A contract with the Genesee County
Drain Commissioner provides the right to the delivery and use of up to 42 million
gallons per day of untreated water. In July 2017, the System began providing untreated
water to the Genesee County Drain Commissioner for testing purposes. A contract
with the City of Flint, Michigan provides the right to the delivery and use of up to 18
million gallons per day of untreated water.

Under a long-term water supply contract entered into by the City of Flint, Michigan
(Flint) and the Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA) as of December |, 2017 (the
“GLWA Water Service Contract”), GLWA will supply Flint with treated water as its
primary water source for an initial period of 30 years. Pursuant to the terms of the
GLWA Water Service Contract, Flint has granted to GLWA certain rights of Flint under
the Flint Water Purchase Contract to untreated water from the System. A KWA
Financing Contract is included in the KWA Water Purchase Contracts and sets forth the
manner in which the capital costs of the System facilities will be allocated. Under the
KWA Financing Contract, the City of Flint, Michigan and the Genesee County Drain
Commissioner are responsible for paying approximately 34 percent and 66 percent,
respectively, of the debt service on the KWA System Bonds. (This allocation takes into
account and credits the Genesee County Drain Commissioner for financing and being
responsible for the payment of 100 percent of the costs of the Intake portion of the
project.) These debt service payments by the City of Flint, Michigan and the Genesee
County Drain Commissioner constitute the 2017 Capacity/Debt Service Fee collected in
the amount of $17,760,242 as of September 30, 2017.

Note 8 - Related Party Transactions

The 2014A and 2016 Water Supply System Bonds of Karegnondi Water Authority are
guaranteed through 2043 by both Genesee County and the City of Flint, Michigan in the
amounts of approximately 66 percent and 34 percent, respectively, in accordance with
the Karegnondi Water Authority Financing Contract. The Genesee County Division of
Water and Waste Services provides management of the day-to-day operations of
Karegnondi Water Authority, for which it allocates a portion of the costs to the
Authority. Water and Waste Services has also issued $35 million of bonds that it used to
construct the water intake and related pumps for KWA. Once the bonds are redeemed,
the title to the water intake and related pumps will be transferred to KWA.
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APPENDIX B*

COUNTY OF GENESEE
GENERAL FINANCIAL, ECONOMIC & STATISTICAL INFORMATION

LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The County of Genesee (the “County”) is located in the central-eastern portion of Michigan’s Lower Peninsula,
and encompasses an area of 643 square miles.

POPULATION

The U.S. Census reported historical populations and U.S. Census 2016 estimated population for the County as
follows:

2016 Estimate 413,090
2010 U.S. Census 425,790
2000 U.S. Census 436,141
1990 U.S. Census 430,459

Source: U.S. Census Bureau via American FactFinder website

FISCAL YEAR

The County’s fiscal year begins on October 1% and ends on September 30™,
FORM OF GOVERMENT

The County is governed by a legislative body consisting of nine members forming the County Board of
Commissioners, each of whom is elected for terms of two years from districts of approximately equal population.
County officials include the County Treasurer, County Clerk/Register, Prosecuting Attorney, Drain Commissioner,
and Sheriff. These officials are elected at large for four-year terms.

PROPERTY VALUATIONS

Article IX, Section 3, of the Michigan Constitution provides that the proportion of true cash value at which
property shall be assessed shall not exceed 50% of true cash value. The Michigan Legislature by statute has provided
that property shall be assessed at 50% of its true cash value, except as described below. The Michigan Legislature or
the electorate may at some future time reduce the percentage below 50% of true cash value.

On March 15, 1994, the electors of the State approved an amendment to the Michigan Constitution permitting the
Legislature to authorize ad valorem taxes on a non-uniform basis. The legislation implementing this constitutional
amendment added a new measure of property value known as “Taxable Value.” Since 1995, taxable property has had
two valuations—state equalized valuation (“SEV”) and Taxable Value. Property taxes are levied on Taxable Value.
Generally, the Taxable Value of property is the lesser of: (a) the property’s Taxable Value in the immediately
preceding year minus any losses, multiplied by the lesser of 5% or the inflation rate, plus all additions, or (b) the
property’s current SEV. Under certain circumstances, therefore, the Taxable Value of property may be different from
the same property’s SEV.

When property is sold or transferred, Taxable Value is adjusted to the SEV, which under existing law is 50% of
the current true cash value. The Taxable Value of new construction is equal to current SEV. The Taxable Value and
SEV of existing property are also adjusted annually for additions and losses.

*Information included in Appendix B of this Official Statement was obtained from the County unless otherwise noted.
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Responsibility for assessing taxable property rests with the local assessing officer of each township and city. Any
property owner may appeal the assessment to the local assessor, to the local board of review and ultimately to the
Michigan Tax Tribunal.

In addition to limiting the annual increase in Taxable Value, the Michigan Constitution mandates a system of
equalization of assessments. Although the assessor for each local unit of government within a county is responsible
for actually assessing at 50% of true cash value, adjusted for Taxable Value purposes, the final SEV and Taxable
Value are arrived at through several steps. Assessments are established initially by the municipal assessor.

Municipal assessments are then equalized to the 50% levels as determined by the County Department of
Equalization. Thereafter, the State equalizes the various counties in relation to each other. SEV is important, aside
from its use in determining Taxable Value for the purpose of levying ad valorem property taxes, because of its role in
the spreading of taxes between overlapping jurisdictions, the distribution of various State aid programs, State revenue
sharing and in the calculation of debt limits.

Property that is exempt from property taxes (e.g., churches, government property, public schools) is not included
in the SEV or Taxable Value data in this Appendix B. Property granted tax abatements under Act 198, Public Acts
of Michigan, 1974, as amended, is recorded on a separate tax roll while subject to tax abatement. The valuation of
tax abated property is based upon SEV but is not included in either the SEV or Taxable Value data in this Appendix
B except as noted.

History of Valuations

A history of the property valuations in the County is shown below:

Property Levy/ Total State

Value as Valuation Taxable Percent Equalized Percent

of 12/31 Year Value Change Value Change
2016 2017 $8,962,065,523 2.16% $10,821,071,491 5.32%
2015 2016 8,772,245,705 0.73 10,274,301,002 5.38
2014 2015 8,708,327,172 1.74 9,749,581,995 5.51
2013 2014 8,559,521,911 -0.37 9,240,392,881 2.71
2012 2013 8,591,144,574 -2.43 8,996,549,108 -2.04

A summary of the 2017 valuation subject to taxation is as follows:

2017 Taxable Value $8,962,065,523
Plus: 2017 Equivalent IFT Taxable Value' 28,667,212
Total 2017 Equivalent Taxable Value $8,990,732,735

!See “INDUSTRIAL FACILITY TAX ABATEMENTS” herein.
Source: Genesee County Equalization Department

Valuation Composition
A breakdown of the County’s 2017 Taxable Value by class and use and municipality is as follows:

2017 Percent

By Class: Taxable Value of Total Taxable Value by Use

Real Property $8.339,489,564 93.05% 1.45%

Personal Property 622,575,959 6.95 6'95%\ 18.72%
TOTAL $8,962,065,523 100.00% 277

By Use:

Agricultural $129,780,959 1.45%

Commercial 1,677,687,876 18.72

Industrial 228,927,663 2.55

Residential 6,303,093,066 70.33

Personal 622,575,959 6.95
TOTAL $8.962,065.,523 100.00% B Agricultural OCommercial Olndustrial OResidential OPersonal
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A breakdown of the County’s 2017 Taxable Value by municipality is as follows:

B

Myunicipality: By Municipality:

Townships Townships
Argentine $222,742,849 2.49% Thetford $156,393,540 1.75%
Atlas 305,502,746 341 Vienna 334,116,574 3.73
Clayton 201,853,333 2.25 Cities
Davison 511,209,395 5.70 Burton 549,985,057 6.14%
Fenton 760,411,796 8.48 Clio 40,869,682 0.46
Flint 788,657,432 8.80 Davison 104,578,193 1.17
Flushing 271,427,372 3.03 Fenton 392,250,885 4.38
Forest 122,384,725 1.37 Flint 714,582,817 7.97
Gaines 176,963,868 1.97 Flushing 180,209,230 2.01
Genesee 294,246,715 3.28 Grand Blanc 220,679,527 2.46
Grand Blanc 1,214,622,207 13.55 Linden 101,982,499 1.14
Montrose 127,219,434 1.42 Montrose 23,467,566 0.26
Mount Morris 295,152,377 3.29 Mount Morris 27,557,432 0.31
Mundy 462,664,406 5.16 Swartz Creek 145,856,238 1.63
Richfield 214,477,628 2.39 TOTAL $8,962,065,523 100.00%

Source: Genesee County Equalization Department.

INDUSTRIAL FACILITY TAX ABATEMENTS

Under the provisions of Act 198 of the Public Acts of Michigan, 1978, as amended (“Act 198”), plant
rehabilitation districts and/or industrial development districts may be established. Businesses in these districts are
offered certain property tax incentives to encourage restoration or replacement of obsolete facilities and to attract new
facilities in the area. The industrial facilities tax (“IFT”) is paid, at a lesser effective rate and in lieu of ad valorem
property taxes, on such facilities for a period of up to 12 years. Qualifying facilities are issued abatement certificates
for this period.

After expiration of the abatement certificate, the then-current SEV of the facility is returned to the ad valorem tax
roll. The owner of such facility may obtain a new certificate, provided it has complied with the provisions of Act 198.

The County has several IFT abatements outstanding with a total 2017 Taxable Value of $57,334,424, all of which
is taxed at half rate. For purposes of computing “Equivalent” Taxable Value, it has been shown in the “History of
Valuations” table above as 50% of the 2017 Taxable Value.

Source: Genesee County Equalization Department

TAX INCREMENT AUTHORITIES

Act 450 of the Public Acts of Michigan, 1980, as amended (the “TIFA Act”), Act 197 of the Public Acts of
Michigan, 1975, as amended (the “DDA Act”), Act 281 of the Public Acts of Michigan, 1986, as amended (the “LDFA
Act”) and Act 381 of the Public Acts of Michigan, 1996, as amended (the “Brownfield Act”) (together the “TIF Acts”)
authorize the designation of specific districts known as Tax Increment Finance Authority (“TIFA”) Districts,
Downtown Development Authority (“DDA”) Districts, Local Development Finance Authority (“LDFA”) Districts or
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (“BRDA”) Districts, authorized to formulate tax increment financing plans for
public improvements, economic development, neighborhood revitalization, historic preservation and environmental
cleanup with the district.

Tax increment financing permits the TIFA, DDA, LDFA, and BRDA to capture tax revenues attributable to
increases in value (“TIF Captured Value”) of real and personal property located within an approved development area
while any tax increment financing plans by an established district are in place. These captured revenues are used by
the Districts and are not passed on to the local taxing jurisdictions.
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PROPERTY TAX REFORM

The voters of the State approved enactment of Michigan Public Acts 153 and 154 of 2013 and Acts 80 and 86
through 93 of 2014 by referendum on August 5, 2014 (collectively, the “PPT Reform Acts”), which significantly
reformed Personal Property tax in Michigan.

Under the PPT Reform Acts, owners of industrial and commercial Personal Property with a total true cash value
of $80,000 or less may file an affidavit claiming a Personal Property tax exemption. To be eligible for the exemption,
all of the commercial or industrial Personal Property within a city or township that is owned by, leased to, or controlled
by the claimant has to have an accumulated true cash value of $80,000 or less. Beginning in calendar year 2016,
owners of certain manufacturing Personal Property that was either purchased after December 31, 2012, or that is at
least 10 years old may claim an exemption from Personal Property tax. By 2022, all eligible manufacturing Personal
Property will be at least 10 years old or purchased after December 31, 2012, so that it could be exempted from Personal
Property tax.

To replace personal property tax revenues lost by local governments, including cities, the PPT Reform Acts
divided the existing state use tax into two components, a “state share tax” and a “local community stabilization share
tax,” and established the Local Community Stabilization Authority (the “LCSA”) to administer distribution of the
local community stabilization share. The Michigan Department of Treasury collects the local community stabilization
share tax on behalf of the LCSA. The local community stabilization share tax revenues are not subject to the annual
appropriations process and are provided to the LCSA for distribution pursuant to a statutory formula. The statutory
formula is anticipated to provide 100% reimbursement to local governments for losses due to the new personal
property tax exemptions.

The ultimate nature, extent and impact of other tax and revenue measures, which are from time to time considered,
cannot currently be predicted. No assurance can be given that any future legislation or administrative action, if enacted
or implemented, will not adversely affect the market price or marketability of the Bonds, or otherwise prevent
Bondholders from realizing the full current benefit of an investment therein. Purchasers of the Bonds should be alert
to the potential effect of such measures upon the Bonds, the security therefor, and the operations of the County.

MAJOR TAXPAYERS

The County’s top ten taxpayers and their 2017 Taxable Values are as follows:

Taxable "Equivalent" Total
Taxpayer Product/Service Value IFT Value! Valuation
Consumers Energy Company Utility $282,111,750 $0 $282,111,750
General Motors Corporation Automotive 84,483,493 10,218,243 94,701,736
Wal-Mart/Sam's Club Retail/Grocery 34,124,941 0 34,124,941
Meijer, Inc./Goodwill Co., Inc.? Retail/Grocery 26,784,946 0 26,784,946
Edward Rose Assoc. Construction 26,613,609 0 26,613,609
Comcast Cablevision Telecommunications 21,713,507 0 21,713,507
Genesys Regional Medical Office Space 21,508,408 0 21,508,408
Lsref3 Spartan LLC Shopping Center 20,178,000 0 20,178,000
Tobin Group/Distinctive Land Commercial/Apartment Complex 18,496,084 0 18,496,084
Michigan Electric Transmission Utility 18,254,700 0 18,254,700
TOTALS $554,269,438 $10,218,243 $564,487,681
Total 2017 Value $8,962,065,523 $8,962,065,523
Top 10 Taxpayers as a % of 2017 Total Value 6.18% 6.30%

IRepresents 50% of the actual Taxable Value. See “INDUSTRIAL FACILITY TAX ABATEMENTS,” herein.
2Appealing its taxes with the Michigan Tax Tribunal.
Source: Genesee County Equalization Department

CONSTITUTIONAL ROLLBACK AND ASSESSMENT CAPS

Article IX, Section 31 of the Michigan Constitution requires that if the total value of existing taxable property in
a local taxing unit, exclusive of new construction and improvements, increases faster than the U.S. Consumer Price
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Index from one year to the next, the maximum authorized tax rate for that local taxing unit must be reduced through
a Millage Reduction Fraction (“Headlee Amendment”) unless reversed by a vote of the electorate of the local taxing
unit.

TAX RATES - (Per $1,000 of Valuation)

The following table shows the total County tax rates for the past five years.

Genesee County 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
County Operating 5.5072 5.5072 5.5072 5.5072 5.5072
County Parks & Recreation 0.7500 0.7500 0.7500 0.7500 0.4847
County Paramedics 0.4847 0.4847 0.4847 0.4847 0.4847
Senior Services 0.7000 0.7000 0.7000 0.7000 0.7000
Uninsured Health Care 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000
Veterans 0.1000 0.1000 0.1000 0.1000 0.1000
MSU Extension 0.0400 0.0400 0.0400 0.0400 0.0000
Animal Control 0.2000 0.2000 0.2000 0.2000 0.0000
Total County 8.7819 8.7819 8.7819 8.7819 8.2766
Airport Authority 0.4847 0.4847 0.4847 0.4847 0.4847
District Library 0.9980 0.9977 0.9981 0.9984 0.9981
Genesee ISD 3.7826 3.7826 3.5341 3.5341 3.5341
Mott Community College 2.8096 2.8096 2.8596 2.8593 2.8596

Source: Genesee County Equalization Department

TAX RATE LIMITATIONS
Article IX, Section 6, Michigan Constitution of 1963 provides, in part:

“Except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, the total amount of general ad valorem taxes imposed upon
real and tangible personal property for all purposes in any one year shall not exceed 15 mills on each dollar of the
assessed valuation of property as finally equalized.”

Section 6 further provides that by a majority vote of qualified electors of the County, the 15 mill limitation may
be increased to a total of not to exceed 18 mills, and the millage of the local units involved shall then permanently be
fixed within that greater millage limitation.

Act 62, Public Acts of Michigan, 1933, as amended, defines local units as counties, townships, villages, cities,
school districts, community college districts, intermediate school districts, and all other divisions, districts, and
organizations of government that are or may be established with the power to levy taxes, except villages and cities for
which there are provisions in their charters or general law fixing maximum limits on the power to levy taxes against

property.

The current millage rates are as follows:

2017
Millage Maximum Allowable Expiration
Purpose Authorized Millage after Rollback! Date of Levy

County Operating 5.6800 5.5072 N/A

County Parks & Recreation 0.7500 0.7500 December 2023
County Paramedics 0.4847 0.4847 December 2026
Senior Services 0.7000 0.7000 December 2025
Uninsured Health Care 1.0000 1.0000 December 2019
Veterans 0.1000 0.1000 December 2021
MSU Extension 0.0400 0.0400 December 2017
Animal Control 0.2000 0.2000 December 2020

1See “CONSTITUTIONAL ROLLBACK AND ASSESSMENT CAPS” herein.
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In addition, Article IX, Section 6, permits the levy of millage in excess of the above for:

1. All debt service on tax supported bonds issued prior to December 23, 1978 or tax supported issues which
have been approved by the voters for which the County has pledged its full faith and credit.

2. Operating purposes for a specified period of time provided that such increased millage approved by a majority
of the qualified electors of the local unit.

TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

The County’s fiscal year begins October 1 and ends September 30. The County’s property taxes are due July 1
and December 1 of each fiscal year and are payable without penalty or interest on or before the following September
14 and February 14, respectively. All real property taxes remaining unpaid on March 1 of the year following the levy
are turned over to the County Treasurer for collection. Genesee County annually pays from its 100% Tax Payment
Fund delinquent taxes on real property to all taxing units in the County, including the County’s, shortly after the date
delinquent taxes are returned to the County Treasurer for collection. The payments from this fund have resulted in
collections of taxes approaching 100% for all taxing units. Delinquent personal property taxes are negligible.

A history of tax levies and collections for the County is as follows:

Tax

Levy Fiscal Total Collections to Collections Plus Funding to

Year Year Tax Levy March 1, of Following Year September 30, of Following Year

2017 2018 $77,806,699%* (In process of collection) N/A

2016 2017 77,806,999 $69,898,913 89.84% $77,806,999 100.00%

2015 2016 75,950,262 69,400,618 91.38 75,950,262 100.00

2014 2015 75,273,713 68,312,762 90.75 75,273,713 100.00

2013 2014 71,229,062 67,541,004 94.82 71,229,062 100.00
*Estimated.

Source: Genesee County Treasurer’s Office

The 100% Tax Payment Fund is financed through the issuance of General Obligation Limited Tax Notes
(GOLTNSs) by the County. The ability of the County to issue such GOLTNSs is subject to market conditions at the time
of offering. In addition, Act 206, Public Acts of Michigan, 1893, as amended, provides in part that: “The primary
obligation to pay to the county the amount of taxes and interest thereon shall rest with the local taxing units, and if the
delinquent taxes which are due and payable to the county are not received by the county for any reason, the county
has full right of recourse against the taxing unit to recover the amount thereof and interest thereon...” Each year, a tax
sale is held by the County at which lands delinquent for taxes assessed in the third year preceding the sale, or in a prior
year, are sold for the total of the unpaid taxes of those years.

REVENUES FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

The County receives revenue sharing payments from the State of Michigan under the State Revenue Sharing Act
of 1971, as amended (the “Revenue Sharing Act”). Under the Revenue Sharing Act the County receives its pro rata
share of State revenue sharing distributions on a per capita basis. The County’s receipts could vary depending on the
population of the County compared to the population of the State as a whole. The County’s revenue sharing
distribution is subject to annual legislative appropriation and may be reduced or delayed by Executive Order during
any State fiscal year in which the Governor, with the approval of the State Legislature’s appropriation committees,
determines that actual revenues will be less than the revenue estimates on which appropriations were based.

The State’s ability to make revenue sharing payments to the County in the amounts and at the times specified in
the Revenue Sharing Act is subject to the State’s overall financial condition and its ability to finance any temporary
cash flow deficiencies. Act 357, Public Acts of Michigan, 2004 (“Act 357”) amended the General Property Tax Act
to temporarily eliminate statutory revenue sharing payments to counties by creating a reserve fund, against which
counties could draw in lieu of annual revenue sharing payments, paid for by the permanent advancement of the
counties’ property tax levy from December to July each year, beginning in 2005. Under Act 357, a county would
resume receiving state revenue sharing payments in the first year in which the county’s property tax revenue reserve
was less than the amount the county would have otherwise received in state revenue sharing payments. The County
resumed receiving State revenue sharing payments during its fiscal year ending September 30, 2013.
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Under the fiscal year 2018 budget, signed into law on July 14, 2017 by Governor Snyder, a portion of county revenue
sharing payment distributions are made pursuant to the Revenue Sharing Act and a portion are distributed through an
incentive-based program called the county incentive program (“CIP”). For fiscal year 2018, the county revenue sharing
program has an appropriation of $220 million, an increase over the fiscal year 2017 amount of $217.2 million, with
$174.2 million being distributed pursuant to the Revenue Sharing Act and $43 million being distributed through the CIP.
The CIP provides eligible counties distributions for complying with “best practices” to increase transparency. Eligible
counties are those that would be eligible to resume receiving state revenue sharing payments under Act 357.

Under the fiscal year 2018 CIP, an eligible county can receive CIP payments if it meets requirements for
accountability and transparency, including making a citizen’s guide to its finances, a performance dashboard, a debt
service report and a two-year budget projection available for public viewing. There can be no assurance of what amount,
if any, the County would receive under CIP.

General Fund Revenues from the State

The County exhausted its Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund during the 2011/2012 fiscal year and resumed receiving
State Revenue Sharing payments during its fiscal year ending September 30, 2013. The County will rely on the State
of Michigan for future Revenue Sharing payments.

Fiscal Year Ended Revenue Sharing

September 30th Payments'
2017 $9,979,090
2016 9,882,658
2015 9,865,339
2014 7,909,913
2013 7,541,499
2012 7,487,510

!Amounts do not include State gas and weight tax distributions.
Source: County of Genesee

Purchasers of the Bonds should be alerted to further modifications to revenue sharing payments to Michigan local
governmental units, to potential consequent impact on the County’s general fund condition, and to the potential impact
upon the market price or marketability of the Bonds resulting from changes in revenues received by the County from
the State.
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LABOR FORCE

A breakdown of the number of employees of the County and their affiliation with organized groups follows:

No. of Exp. Date
Bargaining Unit Employees of Contract
AFSCME
496-00 Clerical 269 12/31/18
496-01 Technical 172 09/30/18
496-02 GVRC Workers 26 03/31/18
496-03 Drain Service 6 12/31/18
496-10 Mobile Meals 23 12/31/10%
916-05 & 916-06 Sheriff Supervisory 30 12/31/17*
916-01, 02, 03, 04, 08, 09, 10 Supervisors 51 06/30/18
POAM - Police Officers & Jail Security 206 11/05/17*
Teamsters - Local 214 (Park Maintenance) 7 06/30/18
Teamsters - Local 214 (Friend of the Court) 5 12/31/16*
Professional Court Officers Association 40 12/31/18
Judicial Secretary's Association 8 12/31/18
Non-Union
Full-Time Employees 59 N/A
Seasonal Employees 359 N/A
Elected Officials 34 N/A
TOTAL 1,295

*In negotiations.
Source: County of Genesee

RETIREMENT PLAN

Defined Benefit Plan

The County administers a contributory agent multi-employer defined benefit pension plan known as the Genesee
County Employees Retirement System (GCERS or the "System"). The plan is included as a pension trust fund in the
County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. GCERS issues a publicly available annual financial report that
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the system as a whole. This report can be
obtained from the Retirement Coordinator at the County’s administrative offices, located at 1101 Beach Street, Flint,
MI 48502 or on the State of Michigan's website.

GCERS was organized pursuant to Section 12a of Act 156, State of Michigan Public Acts of 1851 (MSA 5.33(1);
MCLA 46.12a) as amended. GCERS was established by ordinance in 1946, beginning with general County employees
and the County Road Commission. Genesee County Water and Waste Services joined the System in 1956, Genesee
County Community Mental Health joined in 1966, the City of Mt. Morris in 1969, and the Genesee District Library
in 1980. GCERS is regulated under the Genesee County Employees’ Retirement System Ordinance, the sections of
which have been approved by the State of Michigan Pension Commission. All new-hire general County and
Community Mental Health employees hired after November 20, 2017 may only join the defined contribution plan.

The plan provides for vesting of benefits after eight years of service. Generally, participants may elect normal
retirement with 20 to 25 years of credited service, regardless of age, or at age 60 with eight or more years of credited
service. Retirement benefits vary by employer group, and are payable monthly. Generally, the retirement benefit is
equal to the employee’s final average compensation times the sum of 2.4 - 2.5 percent for each year of credited service.
All employers allow members to elect a deferred annuity providing a lifetime benefit. The length of service required
to elect the deferred annuity is either 8 or 15 years, depending on the date of employment and employer group.

At December 31, 2016, membership consisted of 1,005 inactive plan members currently receiving benefits, 26
inactive plan members entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them, and 170 current active plan members.
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Schedule of Funding Progress

Total
Unfunded
Actuarial UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Actuarial Percentage
Valuation Value of Accrued Liability Funded Covered of Covered
31-Dec Assets Liability (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
2016 $416,923,172 $598,795,199 $181,872,027 69.6% $39,466,036 460.8%
2015 428,816,188 576,905,433 148,089,245 74.3 41,687,051 355.2
2014 426,294,429 569,836,295 143,541,866 74.8 43,723,698 328.3
2013 409,675,263 548,195,654 138,520,391 74.7 47,627,546 290.8
2012 387,979,375 559,390,939 171,411,564 69.4 49,736,813 344.6

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Fiscal

Year Ended Employer
30-Sep Contributions
2017 $18,269,647
2016 17,112,858
2015 15,656,672
2014 16,047,170
2013 14,736,420
2012 12,232,054

For further information on the County’s Defined Benefit Plan, refer to Note 9 in the County’s fiscal year ended
September 30, 2017 audited financial statements.

Source: Genesee County Audited Financial Statements
Defined Contribution Plan

The County offers a defined contribution pension plan as an alternative to the defined benefit pension plan. The
International City Managers Association (ICMA) Retirement Corporation administers the plan, and the County Board
of Commissioners has authority over plan provisions and contribution requirements. All employees are eligible to
participate in this plan, if not participating in the defined benefit plan.

The County is required to contribute 8 percent to 10 percent of eligible employees' annual covered payroll, and
employees are required to contribute either 3 percent or 7 percent of covered payroll. Employees are fully vested after
five years of service.

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Fiscal
Year Ended Employer

30-Sep Contributions
2017 $3,339,795
2016 3,137,217
2015 2,939,371
2014 2,759,434
2013 2,705,916
2012 2,963,297

For further information on the County’s Defined Contribution Plan, refer to Note 10 in the County’s fiscal year
ended September 30, 2017 audited financial statements.

Source: Genesee County Audited Financial Statements
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OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Genesee County provides other postemployment benefits (medical, optical, dental, and life insurance) to County
retirees who meet eligibility requirements. This is a single employer defined benefit plan administered by the County.
The benefits are provided under collective bargaining agreements to union employees and by resolution of the County
Board of Commissioners for employees not covered under collective bargaining agreements. The valuation for this
benefit plan has been conducted in accordance with generally accepted actuarial principles and practices. Data
concerning active members, retirees, and beneficiaries was provided by Genesee County. This plan does not issue
separate stand-alone financial statements.

Schedule of Funding Progress

Total
Unfunded
Actuarial UAAL asa
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Actuarial Percentage
Valuation Value of Accrued Liability Funded Covered of Covered
30-Sept Assets Liability (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
2016 $32,821,620 $341,629,201 $308,807,581 9.6% $25,167,676 1,227.0%
2014 41,485,721 344,160,043 302,674,322 12.0 33,343,864 907.7
2012 43,313,587 308,208,023 264,894,436 14.1 36,987,137 716.2
2010 41,579,396 286,696,396 245,117,000 14.5 58,028,000 422.4

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Fiscal
Year Ended Employer

30-Sep Contributions
2017 $18,883,352
2016 18,883,352
2015 19,066,021
2014 19,066,021
2013 18,549,049
2012 18,549,049

For further information on the County’s Other Post-employment Benefits, refer to Note 11 in the County’s fiscal
year ended September 30, 2017 audited financial statements.

Source: Genesee County Audited Financial Statements
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DEBT STATEMENT - (As of 03/22/18 — including the Bonds described herein)

Each series of bonds marked “LT” is payable in the first instance from a specified source and is payable from the
general funds of the County in the event of insufficiency of the specified source. The County is not authorized to levy
taxes beyond constitutional and statutory tax rate limitations with respect to the bonds marked “LT.”

DIRECT DEBT
Dated Outstanding Unit Share County's
Date Gross Amount Amount Share
General Obligation Bonds
Capital Improvement, LT 11/01/04 $1,565,000 $0 $1,565,000
Building Authority, Refunding, LT 06/23/05 3,080,000 0 3,080,000
Sewer Refunding, Mt. Morris, LT 12/22/05 615,000 615,000 0
Sewer, Western Trunk No. 1, LT 09/01/06 755,000 755,000 0
Sewer Refunding No. 3, LT 11/16/07 1,820,000 1,820,000 0
Qual. Energy Conservation Bonds, LT 12/01/10 5,915,784 0 5,915,784
Water, Fenton Rd. Watermain Project, LT 04/08/11 699,000 699,000 0
Capital Improvement, LT 11/01/11 320,000 0 320,000
Gilkey Creek and Branch Drain Drainage District, LT 12/01/11 1,205,000 1,178,972 26,028
Refunding, LT 04/12/12 2,600,000 0 2,600,000
Water, Mt. Morris Twp, LT 09/17/15 970,000 970,000 0
Subtotal General Obligation Bonds $19,544,784 $6,037,972 $13,506,812
Authority Bonds
Brownfield Redev. Ref., LT 12/13/17 $11,040,000 $0 $11,040,000
Subtotal Authority Bonds $11,040,000 $0 $11,040,000
Revenue Bonds with LT Pledge
NE Sewer, Series 2005A - SRF 06/23/05 $10,860,000 $0 $10,860,000
NE Sewer, Series 2005B - SRF 09/22/05 7,600,000 0 7,600,000
NE Sewer, Series 2006A - SRF 09/21/06 1,525,000 0 1,525,000
NE Sewer, Series 2006B - SRF 12/14/06 4,160,000 0 4,160,000
NE Sewer, Series 2006C - SRF 12/14/06 2,340,000 0 2,340,000
Sewer, Northeast Ext., 2007A 09/20/07 6,190,000 0 6,190,000
Sewer, Sewage Disposal 02/12/09 675,000 0 675,000
Sewer No. 3 01/22/10 765,000 0 765,000
NE Sewer 01/22/10 10,240,000 0 10,240,000
Sewer, Interceptors and Treatment Facilities (Ser A) 04/08/11 1,085,000 0 1,085,000
Sewer, Interceptors and Treatment Facilities (Ser B) 07/28/11 4,460,000 0 4,460,000
Water Supply System Revenue Bonds 10/03/13 31,810,000 0 31,810,000
Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 08/04/14 26,540,000 0 26,540,000
Water Supply System Revenue Bonds 04/30/15 59,395,000 0 59,395,000
Water Supply System Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A 06/24/16 5,680,000 0 5,680,000
Water Supply System Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B 09/14/16 56,150,000 0 56,150,000
Water Supply System Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A 07/19/17 10,500,000 0 10,500,000
Sewage Disposal System Refunding 10/30/17 15,890,000 0 15,890,000
Sewage Disposal System No. 3 Revenue 11/30/17 3,905,000 0 3,905,000
Subtotal Revenue Bonds with LT Pledge $259,770,000 $0 $259,770,000

Source: Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan
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Michigan Transportation Fund Bonds
MTF Notes, NO COUNTY CREDIT
MTF Notes, NO COUNTY CREDIT
MTF Notes, NO COUNTY CREDIT
Subtotal Michigan Transportation Fund Bonds

Share of County or Authority Issued Bonds

Beecher Metropolitan District

Water Supply System Bonds (KWA), Series 2014A
Beecher Metropolitan District

Water Supply System Bonds (KWA), Series 2016
Beecher Metropolitan District

Water Supply System Bonds (KWA), Series 2018

Subtotal Share of County or Authority Issued Bonds

SUB TOTAL DIRECT DEBT
Less: Refunded Bonds
TOTAL DIRECT DEBT
Less: Revenue Bonds
KWA (Karegnondi Water Authority) Bonds
NET DIRECT DEBT

OVERLAPPING DEBT

Cities

Townships

Villages

School Districts

Intermediate School Districts

Community Colleges

Flint Public Library

Bishop Airport Authority
TOTAL OVERLAPPING DEBT
NET DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT

Source: Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan

Outstanding

Dated Gross Unit Share County's
Date Amount Amount Share

08/01/08 $515,000 $0 $515,000
09/01/09 745,000 0 745,000
09/16/10 1,940,000 0 1,940,000
$3,200,000 $0 $3,200,000
09/17/13 $1,220,000 $1,220,000 $0
04/16/14 216,395,000 73,574,300 142,820,700
09/17/14 600,000 600,000 0
06/03/16 74,370,000 25,434,540 48,935,460
12/02/16 2,778,000 2,778,000 0
04/10/18 65,735,000 19,720,500 46,014,500
$361,098,000 $123,327,340 $237,770,660
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$654,652,784
(74,370,000)

$129,365,312
(25.434,540)

$525,287,472
(48,935,460)

$580,282,784

$103,930,772

$476,352,012

(259,770,000)
(282,130,000)

0
(93,294,800)

(259,770,000)
(188,835,200)

$35,182,784

$10,635,972

$24,546,812

$68,737,136
37,253,405
1,809,344
308,455,214
7,003,546
66,691,416
0

9,355,000

5499.305.061
_$523.851873



DEBT RATIOS

County’s Estimated Population 413,090
2017 Taxable Value $8,962,065,523
2017 State Equalized Value (SEV) $10,821,071,491
2017 True Cash Value (TCV) $21,642,142,982
Per Capita 2017 Taxable Value $21,695.19
Per Capita 2017 State Equalized Value $26,195.43
Per Capita 2017 True Cash Value $52,390.87
Per Capita Net Direct Debt $59.42
Per Capita Net Direct and Overlapping Debt $1,268.32
Percent of Net Direct Debt of 2017 Taxable Value 0.27%
Percent of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt of 2017 Taxable Value 5.85%
Percent of Net Direct Debt of 2017 SEV 0.23%
Percent of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt of 2017 SEV 4.84%
Percent of Net Direct Debt of 2017 TCV 0.11%
Percent of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt of 2017 TCV 2.42%

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN - (As of 03/22/18 — including the Bonds described herein)

2017 State Equalized Value (SEV) $10,821,071,491

Legal Debt Limit - 10% of SEV $1,082,107,149

Total Bonded Debt Outstanding $580,282,784

Less: No County Credit Pledge MTF Bonds (3,200,000)

Net Amount Subject to Legal Debt Limit 577,082,784

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN AVAILABLE $505,024,365
DEBT HISTORY

The County has no record of default on its obligations.
FUTURE FINANCING

The County anticipates issuing approximately $15 million of Capital Improvement Bonds for animal control and
parking facilities within the next 12 months.

COMPENSATED ABSENCES

As of September 30, 2017, the County’s government-wide activities statement of net position included a liability
for vacation and other employee compensated absences of $3,760,648.

SHORT-TERM BORROWING

The County has in the years 1974 through 2017 issued short-term notes in order to establish the 100% Tax
Payment Fund. Notes issued in each of the above years have been in a face amount which has been less than the actual
real property tax delinquency. The primary security for these notes is the collection of the delinquent taxes pledged to
the payment of principal of and interest on the notes issued. The County has pledged its full faith and credit and limited
taxing power to the payment of the principal and interest on notes issued since 1975. Notes in the amount of $33.4
million were issued by the County during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.
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The County Landbank Authority has entered into a $3,000,000 line of credit with a bank and the County has
pledged its limited tax full faith and credit on the line. The outstanding balance on the Line of Credit as of September
30, 2017 was $0.

SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM BOND MATURITIES — (As of 03/22/18 — including the Bonds

described herein)

Fiscal General GO Tax Increment Karegnondi Beecher
Year End Obligation Utility Authority Revenue MTF Water Auth. Metropolitan Percent
30-Sep Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds TOTAL Repaid
2018 $2,630,000 $1,500,000 $0 $2,255,000 $1,510,000 $5,390,000 $0 $13,285,000
2019 2,760,000 1,640,000 480,000 9,945,000 1,025,000 5,670,000 149,000 21,669,000
2020 1,240,000 425,000 525,000 10,255,000 665,000 5,895,000 150,000 19,155,000
2021 1,300,000 430,000 550,000 10,575,000 0 6,175,000 156,000 19,186,000
2022 1,280,000 435,000 565,000 10,935,000 0 6,445,000 157,000 19,817,000 16%
2023 775,000 200,000 575,000 11,240,000 0 6,760,000 157,000 19,707,000
2024 820,000 215,000 590,000 11,615,000 0 7,105,000 158,000 20,503,000
2025 865,000 220,000 605,000 12,015,000 0 7,460,000 169,000 21,334,000
2026 885,784 130,000 620,000 12,415,000 0 7,830,000 170,000 22,050,784
2027 95,000 105,000 640,000 11,910,000 0 8,220,000 171,000 21,141,000 34%
2028 100,000 110,000 655,000 10,540,000 0 8,650,000 176,000 20,231,000
2029 105,000 110,000 680,000 9,400,000 0 9,100,000 177,000 19,572,000
2030 110,000 110,000 700,000 9,250,000 0 9,570,000 183,000 19,923,000
2031 120,000 119,000 720,000 9,600,000 0 10,065,000 189,000 20,813,000
2032 125,000 60,000 745,000 7,505,000 0 10,595,000 190,000 19,220,000 51%
2033 130,000 60,000 770,000 7,735,000 0 11,140,000 191,000 20,026,000
2034 140,000 65,000 795,000 8,555,000 0 11,655,000 197,000 21,407,000
2035 0 65,000 825,000 7,760,000 0 12,260,000 113,000 21,023,000
2036 0 65,000 0 8,095,000 0 12,900,000 69,000 21,129,000
2037 0 0 0 8,465,000 0 13,570,000 69,000 22,104,000 69%
2038 0 0 0 8,135,000 0 14,275,000 70,000 22,480,000
2039 0 0 0 9,225,000 0 15,015,000 71,000 24,311,000
2040 0 0 0 7,155,000 0 15,800,000 72,000 23,027,000
2041 0 0 0 7,470,000 0 16,615,000 73,000 24,158,000
2042 0 0 0 7,795,000 0 17,450,000 74,000 25,319,000 90%
2043 0 0 0 8,150,000 0 18,320,000 75,000 26,545,000
2044 0 0 0 8,520,000 0 4,000,000 76,000 12,596,000
2045 0 0 0 8,885,000 0 4,200,000 77,000 13,162,000
2046 0 0 0 4,370,000 0 0 79,000 4,449,000
2047 0 0 0 0 0 0 80,000 80,000 99%
2048 0 0 0 0 0 0 81,000 81,000
2049 0 0 0 0 0 0 82,000 82,000
2050 0 0 0 0 0 0 83,000 83,000
2051 0 0 0 0 0 0 84,000 84,000 99%
2052 0 0 0 0 0 0 85,000 85,000
2053 0 0 0 0 0 0 86,000 86,000
2054 0 0 0 0 0 0 88,000 88,000
2055 0 0 0 0 0 0 89,000 89,000
2056 0 0 0 0 0 0 90,000 90,000
2057 0 0 0 0 0 0 92,000 92,000 100%
Total $13,480,784 $6,064,000 $11,040,000 $259,770,000 $3,200,000 $282,130,000 $4,598,000 $580,282,784
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MAJOR EMPLOYERS

Listed below are the largest employers that are located within the County of Genesee:

Approx. No.
Employer Product or Service of Employees
Within the County (1,000 + employees)

Genesys Health Care System Health Care 3,265
General Motors Corp. Automotive Parts & Bodies 3,263
McLaren Health Care Corporation Hospital & Other Health Care 3,014
Hurley Medical Center Medical Center 2,811
Baker College Higher Education 2,800
Square D Computer Programming Services 2,500
Flint Metal Center, Vehicle Mfg. Operating Div. Metal Fabrication 2,180
Al Flint LLC Car Parts and Accessories 1,500
General Motors Corp. (stamping facility) Stamping Plant 1,415
United States Postal Service Postal Service 1,200
Delphi Corp. Spark Plugs & Odometers 1,000
Meijer, Inc. Retail 1,000

Source: 2017 Michigan Manufacturers Directory, Manta Intelligence Company via www.manta.com, the Michigan Economic
Development Council (MEDC), and individual employers

EMPLOYMENT BREAKDOWN

The U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey estimates the occupational breakdown of
persons 16 years and over for the County of Genesee as follows:

| County of Genesee

Number Percent
PERSONS BY OCCUPATION 163,752 100.00%
Management, Business, Science & Arts 50,634 30.92
Service 32,197 19.66
Sales & Office 40,182 24.54
Natural Resources, Construction & Maintenance 13,848 8.46
Production, Transportation & Material Moving 26,891 16.42

The U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey estimates the breakdown by industry for
persons 16 years and over in the County of Genesee as follows:

County of Genesee

Number Percent
PERSONS BY INDUSTRY 163,752 100.00%

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing, Hunting & Mining 747 0.46
Construction 9,053 5.53
Manufacturing 26,341 16.09
Wholesale Trade 3,561 2.17
Retail Trade 21,724 13.27
Transportation 6,914 4.22
Information 2,180 1.33
Finance, Insurance & Real Estate 8,023 4.90
Professional & Management Services 13,422 8.20
Educational, Health & Social Services 42,735 26.09
Arts, Entertainment, Recreation & Food Services 15,477 9.45
Other Professional & Related Services 8,345 5.10
Public Administration 5,230 3.19
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UNEMPLOYMENT RATES

The U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, reports unemployment averages for the County of
Genesee as compared to the State of Michigan are as follows:

Annual County of State of
Average Genesee Michigan
January, 2018 6.6% 5.3%
December, 2017 5.7 4.4
2016 5.4 5.0
2015 6.1 5.4
2014 7.9 7.2

POPULATION BY AGE

The 2010 U.S. Census estimate of population by age for the County of Genesee is as follows:

County of Genesee

Number Percent
Total Population 425,790 100.00%
0 through 19 years 118,971 27.94
20 through 64 years 248,630 58.39
65 years and over 58,189 13.67
Median Age 38.5 years

INCOME

The U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey estimate of household income for the County
of Genesee is as follows

County of Genesee

Number Percent
HOUSEHOLDS BY INCOME 166,244 100.00%
Lessthan $ 10,000 15,998 9.62
$ 10,000to $ 14,999 10,602 6.38
$ 15,000to $ 24,999 20,627 12.41
$ 25,000to0 $ 34,999 20,299 12.21
$ 35,000to $ 49,999 26,557 15.97
$ 50,000to $ 74,999 29,635 17.83
$ 75,000to $ 99,999 17,994 10.82
$100,000 to $149,999 15,967 9.60
$150,000 to $199,999 4981 3.00
$200,000 or MORE 3,584 2.16
Median Income $43,246

B-16



County of Genesee
General Fund Budget Summary

As Adopted

2017/18

Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses & Permits
Intergovernmental Revenues
Charges for Services
Fines & Forfeits
Operating Transfers
Miscellaneous Revenue
Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Management and Planning
Administration of Justice
Law Enforcement and Community Protection
Human Services
General Support and Other
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues over Expenditures
Fund Balance - October 1

Projected Fund Balance - September 30

Source: County of Genesee
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$46,770,752
563,475
17,441,831
9,557,201
1,481,960
8,071,014
6,597,107

$90,483,340

$13,929,819
30,158,109
20,503,876
11,818,635
14,072,901

$90,483,340

$0

$33,752,706

$33,752,706



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



APPENDIX C

COUNTY OF GENESEE
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENESEE COUNTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER
DIVISION OF WATER AND WASTE SERVICES
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached are the audited financial statements for the County of Genesee (the “County”)
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, and the audited financial statements for the
Genesee County Drain Commissioner, Division of Water and Waste Services (the “Division”)
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. The auditors for the County and the Division have
not been asked to consent to the use of information from such financial statements in either the

Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement and have not conducted any subsequent
review of such financial statements.



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



plantc
horan

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Commissioners
Genesee County, Michigan

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of Genesee County, Michigan (the "County") as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2017 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
Genesee County's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

M s R
/ g 's

ibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of Genesee County Planning Commission, a nonmajor governmental fund of
the County, which represents less than | percent and |.4 percent of the assets and revenue, respectively,
of the aggregate remaining fund information. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors,
whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for
Genesee County Planning Commission, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement. The financial statements of the following entities were not audited in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards: Genesee County Road Commission, Genesee County Drain
Commissioner Division of Water and Waste Services, and Genesee County Storm Water Management
System.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions

To the Board of Commissioners
Genesee County, Michigan

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Genesee County, Michigan as of September 30,
2017 and the respective changes in its financial position and, where applicable, cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As explained in Note 2, the Genesee Health Systems Authority was previously included as component
unit of the County. During the year, it was determined that this entity no longer meets the component
unit criteria and was removed from the reporting entity. The beginning net position has been adjusted to
reflect this change. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

As explained in Note 4, the financial statements include investments valued at $162,196,212 (33 percent
of total investments for the aggregate remaining funds) at September 30, 2017, whose fair values have
been estimated by management in the absence of readily determinable market values. Management's
estimates are based on information provided by fund managers and the partnership general partners. Our
opinion has not been modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplemental Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis, the major fund budgetary comparison schedules, schedule of changes in the net
pension liability and related ratios, schedule of pension contributions, schedule of changes in the net
OPEB liability and related ratios, schedule of OPEB contributions, and OPEB system schedule, as
identified in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplemental information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence
to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Genesee County, Michigan's basic financial statements. The other supplemental information,
introductory section, and statistical section, as identified on the table of contents, are presented for the
purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.



To the Board of Commissioners
Genesee County, Michigan

The other supplemental information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the other
supplemental information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements
as a whole.

The introductory section and statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 12, 2018
on our consideration of Genesee County, Michigan's internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Genesee County, Michigan's
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

March 12,2018

Genesee County, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of Genesee County, Michigan (Genesee County or the “County”), we offer
readers of Genesee County’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the
financial activities of Genesee County for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017. We encourage
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that
we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can be found at the beginning of this report.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to Genesee County’s basic
financial statements. Genesee County’s basic financial statements included three components: (1)
government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial
statements. This report also contains other supplemental information in addition to the basic
financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements are
designed to provide readers with a broad overview of Genesee County’s finances, in a manner
similar to a private sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of Genesee County’s assets and
liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of
Genesee County is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position
changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Thus, revenue and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in
cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of Genesee County that
are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenue (government activities) from
other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user
fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of Genesee County include
legislative, management and planning, administration of justice, law enforcement, human services,
community enrichment, general support, and other. The business-type activities of Genesee
County include Parks and Recreation System, Jail Commissary, Parking Meter, and Delinquent Tax
Revolving Funds.

The government-wide financial statements include not only Genesee County itself (known as the
primary government), but also seven legally separated component units for which Genesee
County is financially accountable. Financial information for these component units is reported
separately from the financial information presented for the primary government itself.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 14-17 of this report.



Genesee County, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Fund Financial Statements - A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. Genesee
County, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of Genesee County can be
divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same
functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances
of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in
evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term
financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund
statement of revenue, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

Genesee County maintains individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in
the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenue,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund and three special revenue funds,
all of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

Genesee County adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary
comparison statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with
this budget.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 18-22 of this report.

Proprietary Funds - Genesee County maintains two different types of proprietary funds.
Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the
government-wide financial statements. Genesee County uses enterprise funds to account for its
Parks and Recreation System, Jail Commissary, Parking Meter, and Delinquent Tax Revolving
Funds. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs
internally among Genesee County’s various functions. Genesee County uses internal service funds
to account for its fleet of vehicles, self-insured medicals, property and casualty, and other
administrative services. Because all of these services predominantly benefit governmental rather
than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements.

Genesee County, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial
statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate
information for the Parks and Recreation System, Jail Commissary, Parking Meter, and Delinquent
Tax Revolving Funds. Conversely, all internal service funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal
service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 23-26 of this report.

Fiduciary Funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support Genesee County’s
own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary
funds.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 27-28 of this report.

Component Units Presented - The government-wide financial statements include not only
Genesee County itself (known as the primary government), but also seven legally separated
component units for which Genesee County is financially accountable. Financial information for
these component units is reported separately from the financial information presented for the
primary government itself.

The basic component unit financial statements can be found on pages 29-32 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements - The notes provide additional information that is essential
to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.
The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 33-93 of this report.

Other Information - In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this
report also presents certain required supplemental information concerning Genesee County’s
progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required
supplemental information can be found on pages 94-106 of this report.

The combining statements for nonmajor governmental funds, nonmajor enterprise funds, internal
service funds, and fiduciary funds are presented as other supplemental information beginning on
page 107 of this report.
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Genesee County, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Financial Highlights

e The County’s total net position decreased by $3,353,383. Governmental activities decreased
by $4,692,299, while business-type activities increased by $1,338,916. The decrease in the
County’s net position was due to cost escalation throughout the County’s government
operations. Business-type activities improved due to collections from delinquent tax receipts.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, Genesee County’s governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $51,924,708, an increase of $10,934,063 in comparison
with the prior year. A significant portion of this increase can be traced to property taxes,
charges for services, state-shared revenue, and nonrecurring revenue related to a one-time
transaction with a related party. Approximately 55 percent of this total amount, $28,387,868,
is available for spending at the government’s discretion (unassigned fund balance).

e At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was
$32,223,782, 46 percent of total General Fund expenditures.

e Genesee County’s total governmental activities long-term debt, including compensated
absences, was $16,640,213, a decrease of $3,746,673 from the prior year. Business-type
activities debt was $39,990,000, an increase of $2,620,000 from the prior year. The County
issued delinquent tax notes in the amount of $34,990,000 during the current fiscal year, offset
by total payments of $32,370,000.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. As shown in the schedule below, Genesee County’s liabilities exceeded assets by
$53,023,705 at the close of the most recent fiscal. This compares to a net position deficit of
$49,670,322 at the close of the prior fiscal year, a net deficit increase of $3,353,383. This increase
was due primarily to growth in general government operational expenses, pension and OPEB
obligation expenses that were offset by property tax receipts, state revenue sharing, and
Delinquent Property operational net revenue.

Genesee County, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

A significant portion of Genesee County’s total net position, $71,438,842, reflects its investment
in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment), less any related debt used to
acquire those assets that is still outstanding. Genesee County uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although
Genesee County’s investments in its capital assets are reported net of related debt, it should be
noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Genesee County Net Position

Activities Business-type Activities Total
Percent
2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 Change Change
Other assets $ 94009633 § 106476983 $ 59,804961 $ 64,946,868 $ 153814594 $ 171423851 $ 17,609,257 10%
Capital assets 81,524,091 81,204,650 4,000,509 3944976 _ 85524600 _ 85,149,626 (374.974) 0%
Total assets 175533724 187,681,633 63805470 68891844 239,339,194 256,573,477 17,234,283 7%
Deferred outflows of resources 38252921 9,460,767 233246 65,401 38,486,167 9526168 (28959.999)
Current liabilities 16,769,415 18,393,061 462323 1,282,803 17,231,738 19,675,864 2,444,126 12%
Long-term liabilities 271244876 _ 253800642 _ 39019069 _ 41751709 _ 310263945 _ 295552351 _ (14711594 5%
Total liabilities 288014291 272,193,703 39481392  43,034512 327495683 315228215  (12267.468) 4%
Deferred inflows of resources - 3868.642 - 26,493 - 3,895,135 3.895.135
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 65043569 67,493,866 4,000,509 3944976 69044078 71438842 2394764 3%
Restricted 667, 20717511 12,100,057 8726,160 ,767,2: 29,443,671 5 1%
Unrestricted (167,131,322 8,456,758 13,225,104 (153.906.218) 2%
Total net position $ (74,227,646) $ (78,919,945) $ 24,557,324 $ 25,896,240 $ (49,670,322) $ (53,023,705) $ (3,353,383) 6%

An additional portion of Genesee County’s total net position, $29,443,67, represents resources
that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.

As shown in the schedule below, the deficit net position of the County’s governmental activities
increased by $4,692,299 in the current year compared to a deficit increase of $54,091,019 in the
prior year. When compared to the prior year, this change is mostly attributable to increases in
OPEB and pension costs and restructuring of government operations. Compared to the prior
year, revenue increased by $12,071,332, expenses decreased by $39,608,887, and transfers
decreased by $2,281,499.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
Governmental Activities Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds
Percent
2016 2017 Change Change As noted earlier, Genesee County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance
Revenue with finance-related legal requirements.
Program revenue:
Charges for services $ 22969551 $ 24296065 $ 1326514 6% The following table shows the total governmental fund activity on a modified accrual basis:
Operating grants 60,451,243 62,305,939 1,854,696 3%
Governmental Funds
Capital grants 54,538 37,121 (17,417) 0%
Percent
General revenue: 2016 2017 ch Ch
__ Change
Property taxes 76,254,203 78,154,852 1,900,649 2% ange . —nange
State liquor and cigarette tax 2,021,920 1,989,816 (32,104) 2% Revenue
State-shared revenue 9,982,658 12,337,006 2,354,348 24% Property taxes _ $ 76,647,744 $ 80,729,101 $ 4,081,357 5%
Investment earnings 1,198,970 354,545 (844,425) 70% C'harges for servmés 18,514,458 19,738,774 1,224,316 7%
Other revenue 6.695.018 12.224.089 5,529,071 83% Licenses and permits 1,819,346 1,774,842 (44,504) 2%
State-shared revenue 9,882,658 11,599,940 1,717,282 17%
Total revenue 179,628,101 191,699,433 12,071,332 7% Federal, state, and local grants 60,453,021 64,009,849 3,556,828 6%
Program Expenses Fines and forfeitures 1,659,790 1,682,245 22,455 1%
Management and planning 21,992,843 19,346,863 (2,645,980) -12% Interest and rentals 2,089,898 1,398,937 (690,961) -33%
Administration of justice 51,834,819 41,466,325 (10,368,494) 20% Other 7,383,624 12,354,057 4,970,433 67%
Law enforcement and community
orotection 62,526,245 43.375.756 (19,150,489) 31% Total revenue 178,450,539 193,287,745 14,837,206 8%
Human service 84,712,302 80,240,646 (4,471,656) 5% Expenditures
Legislative 3,856,292 2,179,410 (1,676,882) -43% Current:
Community enrichment and 12.097.053 10921 499 1175554 10% Management and planning 15,079,134 18,320,564 3,241,430 21%
\ de"e'°°rl"e”‘ deb ’902'668 '782’836 ( ’I I9y832) -| 9% Administration of justice 34,833,859 35,010,351 176,492 1%
1t t -Le t 5 5 5 -
neerest on fong-term de ( ) Law enforcement and community protection 35,062,843 36,714,507 1,651,664 5%
Total expenses 237,922,222 198,313,335 (39,608,887) -17% Human service 74,892,870 76,851,459 1,958,589 3%
Transfers 4,203,102 1,921,603 (2.281,499) 54% Legislative 489,402 513.468 24,066 5%
. . Community enrichment and development 12,379,565 11,912,959 (466,606) -4%
Change in Net Position $ (54,091,019) $ (4,692,299) $ 49,398,720 91% Capital outlay 2141777 1,078,888 (1,062,889) 50%
Debt service 3,392,668 3,397,836 5,168 0%
Business-type Activities
Total expenditures 178,272,118 183,800,032 5527914 3%
Percent
2016 2017 Change Change Excess of Revenue Over Expenditures 178,421 9,487,713 9,309,292 5218%
Program revenue - Charges for services: . .
Delinquent taxes $ 11,370,175 $ 10,119272 $ (1,250,903) 1% Other Financing Sources
Commissary 242,563 183,873 (58,690) -24% Proceeds from sales of capital assets 1,000 - (1,000) -100%
Parks and recreation - Enterprise 393,676 398,825 5,149 1% Transfers - Net 5,041,843 1,446,350 (3,595,493) 71%
Parking meter fund 190,66 | 127,919 (62,742) -33%
Operating expenses, other than depreciation 6,204,562 5,696,466 (508,096) -8% Total other financing sources 5,042,843 1,446,350 (3,596,493) -71%
Depreciation and amortization 67,869 55,532 (12,337) -18% .
Net Change in Fund Balances 5,221,264 10,934,063 5,712,799 109%
Operating Income 5,924,644 5,077,891 (846,753) -14% o
Fund Balances - Beginning of year 35,769,381 40,990,645 5221264 15%
Interest income 74,845 199,606 124,761 167%
Interest expense 987,803 1216978 229,175 23% Fund Balances - End of year $ 40,990,645 $ 51,924,708 $ 10,934,063 27%
Nonoperating expenses 750,000 800,000 50,000 7%
Transfers In 801,000 1,313,850 512,850 64%
Transfers Out 5,004,102 3,235,453 (1,768,649) -35%
Change in Net Position $ 58,584 $ 1,338,916 $ 1,280,332 2185%
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Genesee County, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Governmental Funds - The focus of Genesee County’s governmental funds is to provide
information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of available resources. Such information
is useful in assessing Genesee County’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund
balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at
the end of the fiscal year.

As of the end of the current fiscal year, Genesee County’s governmental funds reported combined
ending fund balances of $51,924,708, an increase of $10,934,063 over the prior year. The increase
over the prior year was due primarily to enhanced control over spending. Approximately 55
percent of the ending fund balance, $28,387,868, constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is
available for spending at the government’s discretion.

The General Fund unassigned fund balance totaled $32,223,782, an increase of $8,688,852 from
fiscal year 2016 operations. Major successes can be associated to budgetary controls to manage
and monitor expenditures, together with the implementation of purchasing best practices,
employees’ attrition, and contractual givebacks. In addition, we experienced an upward tick in the
economy and benefitted from increased revenue collections from all major sources, i.e., property
taxes, grants, and state-shared revenue. As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be
useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures.
Unassigned fund balance represents 46 percent of total General Fund expenditures, while total
fund balance represents 48 percent of that same amount.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the total fund balance of the County Health Fund was
$4,350,696. The fund balance represents 28 percent of total county health expenditures. The
County Health Fund saw an increase in fund balance in the current year of approximately
$952,000. This increase relates to increased activity surrounding grants related to the Flint Water
Crisis.

The increase in the fund balances of Genesee County’s governmental funds was primarily the
result of the following:

e General Fund - The ability to collect more property tax revenue within the period of availability
and controlled spending increased the General Fund’s fund balance.

e Community Action Resource Department - Additional grants for the water crisis and the Head
Start program increased fund balance.

Proprietary Funds - Genesee County’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information
found in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net position at the end of the year amounted to $13,225,104. The total increase in
net position for all proprietary funds was $1,338,916.

Genesee County, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

During the year, the fiscal year budget was amended to provide resources to meet the needs in
the areas of public safety, court operations, social services, and capital replacements. In most
cases, incoming revenue was paired as not to effect the General Fund. During the year, the
General Fund revenue was more than the amended budgetary expenditures, which resulted in a
$9,678,747 increase in fund balance.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital Assets - Genesee County’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-
type activities as of September 30, 2017 amounts to $85,149,626 (net of accumulated
depreciation). This investment in capital assets included land, buildings and system improvements,
machinery and equipment, and park facilities.

The County has preliminary plans for infrastructure capital projects. Accordingly, capital
expenditures at this time are limited to those needed to maintain the structural integrity of the
County’s property, plant, and equipment. Additional information on Genesee County’s capital
assets can be found in Note 5 to this report.

Debt - At the end of the current fiscal year, Genesee County had total debt outstanding of
$299,632,276. Of this amount, $201,969,652 comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of
the government, $674,039 is special assessment debt for which the government is liable in the
event of default by the property owners subject to the assessment, and $1,260,000 is Michigan
Transportation bonds, which are payable with Act 5| money.

Genesee County’s total debt, including component units, increased by $41,992,736 during the
current fiscal year primarily due to the funding of water supply improvements. Genesee County
maintained its “A” rating from Standard & Poor’s and “A2” rating from Moody’s for general
obligation debt.

State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 10
percent of its total state equalized valuation. The current debt limitation for Genesee County is
$1,082,107,149, which is approximately $1,011,453,799 higher than Genesee County’s
outstanding general obligation debt subject to the 10 percent limit.

Additional information on Genesee County’s long-term debt can be found in Note 7 to this report.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

e The unemployment rate for Genesee County decreased to 4.7 percent. Due to improved
performance in the local economy, this rate is paring closer to the national trend.

e The government expects minimal increases in property tax revenue due to a nominal increase
in taxable property values in 2017 and 2018. Inflationary trends in the region compare
favorably to national indices.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

e Goals to monitor expenditures and adhere to and improve new purchasing policies will
continue.

e Continuation of the instituted hiring freeze

All of these factors were considered in preparing Genesee County’s budgets for the 2016/2017
and 2017/2018 fiscal year.

Requests for Information

The financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Genesee County’s finances for
all those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be
addressed to the Office of the Controller, County of Genesee, | 0] Beach Street, Flint, MI 48502.

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Statement of Net Position Statement of Net Position (Continued)
September 30, 2017 September 30, 2017

) Primary Government
Primary Government 4

" Governmental Business-type Component
Governmental Business-type Component e o 3
L o ) Activities Activities Total Units
Activities Activities Total Units
Liabilities (Continued)
Assets Noncurrent liabilities (continued):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,843,974 $ 1,672,207 $ 16,516,181 $ 48,203,878 Due in more than one year:

::::::\:;2? 44,718,801 18,078,857 62,797,658 203,330 Payable from restricted assets $ - 8 -8 - $  28011,19
Current and delinquent taxes receivable 14,167,121 39,526,372 53,693,493 - Compensated abs‘ences N 495,254 B 495,254 1,052,177
Land contract receivable - - - 792,742 General, workers compensation

' ’ claim, and IBNR liability 4,019,421 - 4,019,421 -
Interest and accounts receivable (net of Funds held in escrow ~ ~ ~ 225.000
allowance of $1,527,853) 14,302,118 4,486,807 18,788,925 14,941,325 L . ’
N ong-term advance from primary

Lease receivable - - - 2,420,000 government ~ ~ ~ 1,565,000
Loan receivables ) y ;9 ! '300 791,400 561260 Net OPEB obligation 75,160,767 662,529 75,823,296 5,147,853
E:;‘f::c";:;’;z governmental units 14915563 65,941 15881504 ! | 'g;é'gag Net pension liability 157,980,241 1,099,180 159,079,421 69,572,846

N . o Long-term debt 10,965,784 30,990,000 41,955,784 620,004,367
Special assessments receivable - - - 2,772,951

Due from component unit 63,649 - 63,649 - Total liabilities 272,193,703 43,034,512 315,228,215 773,394,887

Due from primary government - - - 10,859

Internal balances 574,716 (574,716) - - Deferred Inflows of Resources - Pensions 3,868,642 26,493 3,895,135 6,068,956

Inventory 969,496 - 969,496 1,250,774

Prepaids and other assets 81,626 - 81,626 1,460,864 Net Position

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 125,000 - 125,000 118,797,391 Net investment in capital assets 67,493,866 3,944,976 71,438,842 386,514,553

Investment in joint ventures N - - 1,939,000 Restricted for:

Net OPEB asset - - - 9,340,905 County health 693,020 - 693,020 -

Deposits and advances 149,919 - 149,919 _ Community development 14,017,828 - 14,017,828 -

Long-term advance to component unit 1,565,000 - 1,565,000 - Flint city lockup 73,778 - 73,778 -

Capital assets: Drug forfeiture 126,007 - 126,007 -
Assets not subject to depreciation 12,652,392 3,523,844 16,176,236 396,577,423 Emergency medical services 529,918 - 529,918 -
Assets subject to depreciation 68,552,258 421,132 68,973,390 494,862,271 Healthcare services 1,620,031 - 1,620,031 -

Loan receivable - - - 1,287,537 Retirement of delinquent tax notes

Lease receivable - - - 40,305,400 payable - 7,710,193 7,710,193 -

Land contract receivable - - - 4,639,042 Parks and recreation nonexpendable - 1,015,967 1,015,967 -

Social services 92,044 - 92,044 -
Total assets 187,681,633 68,891,844 256,573,477 1,161,393,972 Veterans millage 1,255,616 - 1,255,616 -

Debt service - - - 894,951

Deferred Outflows of Resources Programs 50,003 - 50,003 6,513,665
Deferred charge on refunding - - - 19,281 Animal control 310,177 - 310,177 _
Deferred outflows related to pensions 9,460,767 65,401 9,526,168 32,388,148 Senior services 1,485,102 - 1,485,102 -
Total deferred outflows of Solid waste planning activities 464,287 - 464,287 -

s 0,460,767 ¢5.401 9,526,168 32407429 Unrestricted (167,131,622) 13,225,104 (153,906,518) 20,414,389

Liabilities Total net position $ (78919,945) $ 25,896,240 $ (53,023,705) $ 414,337,558

Accounts payable 10,457,019 926,851 11,383,870 10,267,484

Due to other governmental units 794,341 38 794,379 674,198

Due to component units 10,859 - 10,859 -

Due to primary government - - - 63,649

Accrued liabilities and other 5,043,048 248,289 5,291,337 6,389,384

Unearned revenue 2,087,794 - 2,087,794 16,493,069

Claims liability - Pharmaceutical and medical - 107,625 107,625 -

Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year:
Compensated absences 2,434,175 - 2,434,175 195,490
Current portion of long-term debt 2,745,000 9,000,000 11,745,000 13,733,180
The Notes to Financial Statements are an The Notes to Financial Statements are an

Integral Part of this Statement. 14 Integral Part of this Statement. 15
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Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Program Revenue Primary Government
Charges for Operating Grants  Capital Grants and Governmental Business-type
Expenses Services and Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total Component Units
Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
Management and planning $ 19,346,863 $ 5308,178 $ 1,112,399 $ - $ (12,926,286) $ - $ (12,926,286) $ -
Administration of justice 41,466,325 6,584,719 13,253,242 - (21,628,364) - (21,628,364) -
Law enforcement and community protection 43,375,756 2,487,439 6,716,143 - (34,172,174) - (34,172,174) -
Human services 80,240,646 4,582,052 37,934,584 - (37,724,010) - (37,724,010) -
Legislative 2,179,410 - . - (2,179,410) B (2,179,410) -
Community enrichment and development 10,921,499 5,333,677 3,289,571 37,121 (2,261,130) - (2,261,130) -
Interest on long-term debt 782,836 - - - (782,836) - (782,836) -
Total governmental activities 198,313,335 24,296,065 62,305,939 37,121 (111,674,210) - (111,674,210) -
Business-type activities:
Commissary 27,536 183,873 - - - 156,337 156,337 -
Delinquent taxes 5,725,366 10,119,272 - - - 4,393,906 4,393,906 -
Parks and recreation - Enterprise 1,142,420 398,825 - - - (743,595) (743,595) -
Parking meter fund 873,654 127,919 - - - (745,735) (745,735) -
Total business-type activities 7,768,976 10,829,889 - - - 3,060,913 3,060,913 -
Total primary government $ 206082311 § 35125954 $  62,305939 § 37,121 (111,674,210) 3060913 (108,613,297) -
Component units:
Road commission $ 50,329,959 $ 6515241 $ 27,985,232 $ 14,980,211 - - - (849,275)
Water and waste services 67,319,534 70,203,757 - 750,000 - - - 3,634,223
Economic development corporation 7,251 R - R - - - (7.251)
Drains 4,165,519 964,516 - - - - - (3,201,003)
Land bank authority 14,804,995 4,607,945 10,662,758 - - - - 465,708
Brownfield authority 531,922 531,922 - - - - - -
Storm water management system 298,867 - 323,322 - - - - 24,455
Total component units $ 137,458,047 $ 82,823,381 $ 38,971,312 $ 15,730,211 - N - 66,857
General revenue:
Property taxes 78,154,852 - 78,154,852 1,466,225
State liquor tax 1,989,816 - 1,989,816 -
State-shared revenue 12,337,006 - 12,337,006 -
Unrestricted - Investment income 354,545 199,606 554,151 2,238,195
Unrestricted - Other 12,224,089 - 12,224,089 3,443,017
Total general revenue 105,060,308 199,606 105,259,914 7,147,437
Transfers 1,921,603 (1,921,603) - -
Change in Net Position (4,692,299) 1,338,916 (3,353,383) 7,214,294
Net Position - Beginning of year - As restated (Note 2) (74,227,646) 24,557,324 (49,670,322) 407,123,264
Net Position - End of year $  (78919,945) $ 25896240 §$  (53,023,705) $ 414,337,558

The Notes to Financial Statements are an
Integral Part of this Statement. 16 17
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Genesee County, Michigan Genesee County, Michigan

Governmental Funds Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet (Continued)
September 30, 2017 September 30, 2017
Community Community
Action Action
. . Resource Community Nonmajor
Resource Community - Nonmajor General Fund ~ County Health _Department  Development Fund Total
General Fund ~ County Health  Department ~ Development Funds Total Fund Balances (Deficits)
Assets (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents Assigned:
(Note 4) $ 6519160 $ 401,548 $ 18774 $ 197,050 $ 6071599 $ 13,208,140 Debt service $ s _ s s S 0§ 349463 $ 349463
Investments 29,556,435 - - - 9,000,000 38,556,435 Costs and settlements of
Receivables: : contractual disallowances,
Current and delinquent taxes claims, and litigation 1,000,000 - - - 32,876 1,032,876
receivable 14,167,121 - - - - 14,167,121 Child care - - - - 4314214 4314214
Interest and accounts Parks and recreation - - . - 1,708,097 1,708,097
receivable 8,167 76,452 - 13,650,427 503,943 14,238,989 Animal control B B 3 ) 530,035 530,035
Due from other governmental Health department - 3,651,890 - - - 3,651,890
units 2,472,225 359,839 5,644,792 545,778 5,892,929 14,915,563 Administration of justice B _ ) ) 3,038,608 31038.608
Due from component unit 50,000 - - - - 50,000 Community enrichment and
Due from other county funds 4,806,060 4,461,926 118,709 - 11,969,059 21,355,754 development - - - - 27,615 27,615
Long-term advances 515,181 - - - - 515,181 Law enforcement - - - - 536,548 536,548
Inventory - - 461,040 367,400 86,868 915,308 Unassigned 32,223,782 - (3,719,215) (63,970) (52,729) 28,387,868
Prepaids and other assets 13,743 5,786 100 - - 19,629
Restricted cash and cash Total fund balances
equivalents - - - - 125,000 125,000 (deficits) 33,752,706 4,350,696 (3,258,075) 303,430 16,775,951 51,924,708
Deposits and advances - - 149,919 - - 149,919
Long-term advance to Total liabilities,
component unit - - - - 1,565,000 1,565,000 deferred inflows
of resources, and
Total assets $ 58,108,092 $ 5,305,551 $ 6,393,334 $ 14,760,664 $ 35,214,398 $119,782,039 fund balances
(deficits) $ 58,108,092 $ 5305551 $ 6,393,334 $ 14,760,664 $ 35,214,398 $119,782,039
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2126676 $ 288,551 $ 1458337 $ 469,587 $ 4074618 $ 8417769
Due to other governmental units 22,254 279,002 - 184,720 26,920 512,896
Due to component units - - - 10,859 - 10,859
Due to other funds 17,182,970 - 3,150,000 63,971 6,509,705 26,906,646
Accrued liabilities and other 2,230,527 345,085 157,616 13,699 1,501,066 4,247,993
Unearned revenue - - - - 2,087,794 2,087,794
Total liabilities 21,562,427 912,638 4,765,953 742,836 14,200,103 42,183,957
Deferred Inflows of Resources -
Unavailable revenue (Note 14) 2,792,959 42,217 4,885,456 13,714,398 4,238,344 25,673,374
Fund Balances (Deficits)
Nonspendable:
Inventory - - 461,040 367,400 86,868 915,308
Prepaids 13,743 5,786 100 - - 19,629
Long-term receivable 515,181 - - - - 515,181
Restricted:
Health department - 693,020 - - - 693,020
Drug forfeiture - - - - 126,007 126,007
Emergency medical services - - - - 529,918 529,918
Animal control - - - - 310,177 310,177
Social services - - - - 92,044 92,044
Senior services - - - - 1,485,102 1,485,102
Health services plan - - - - 1,620,031 1,620,031
Veterans millage - - - - 1,255,616 1,255,616
Debt service - - - - 73,778 73,778
Capital improvements - - - - 67,39 67,39
Solid waste planning activities - - - - 464,287 464,287
Committed - - - - 180,000 180,000
The Notes to Financial Statements are an The Notes to Financial Statements are an

Integral Part of this Statement. 18 Integral Part of this Statement. 19
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Genesee County, Michigan

Governmental Funds

ation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of
Net Position

September 30, 2017

Fund Balance Reported in Governmental Funds $ 51,924,708

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and are not reported in the funds 79,085,145

Deferred outflows of resources - Pension difference between projected
and actual investment earnings, change in actuarial assumptions, and
contributions made to the plan after the measurement date 9,389,611

Property taxes, grants, and other receivables that are collected after year
end, such that they are not available to pay bills outstanding as of year
end, are not recognized in the funds 25,673,374

Bonds payable and capital lease obligations are not due and payable in the
current period and are not reported in the funds (13,710,784)

Accrued interest is not due and payable in the current period and is not
reported in the funds (441,214)

Employee compensated absences are payable over a long period of years
and do not represent a claim on current financial resources; therefore,

they are not reported as fund liabilities (12,631)
Obligations for other postemployment benefits are not due and payable in
the current period and are not reported in the funds (73,958,480)
Net pension liability does not present a claim on current financial
resources and is not reported as a fund liability (156,456,612)
Deferred inflows of resources - Pensions (3,622,764)
Internal Service Funds are included as part of governmental activities 3,209,702
Net Position of Governmental Activities $ (78,919,945

The Notes to Financial Statements are an
Integral Part of this Statement. 20

Genesee County, Michigan

Revenue
Property taxes
Licenses and permits
Federal grants
Other intergovernmental revenue
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest income
Rental income
Other

Total revenue

Expenditures
Current:
Management and planning
Administration of justice
Law enforcement and
community protection
Human services
Legislative
Community enrichment and
development
Capital outlay
Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess of Revenue Over (Under)
Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other
financing (uses)
sources

Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances (Deficit) - Beginning
of year

Fund Balances (Deficit) - End of
year

Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Community
Action
Resource Community Nonmajor
General Fund ~ County Health  Department ~ Development Funds Total

$ 51,531,659 $ - $ - $ - $ 29,197,442 $ 80,729,101
509,362 1,045,489 - - 219,991 1,774,842
556,386 4,673,974 17,535,365 2,590,124 8,080,589 33,436,438
17,238,108 7,066,906 3,241,909 - 14,626,428 42,173,351
13,605,443 406,533 - - 5,726,798 19,738,774
1,663,228 - - - 19,017 1,682,245
193,347 - - - 158,160 351,507

- - 886,067 - 161,363 1,047,430
5,876,028 360,554 1,933,803 - 4,183,672 12,354,057
91,173,561 13,553,456 23,597,144 2,590,124 62,373,460 193,287,745
18,320,564 - - - - 18,320,564
22,400,805 - - - 12,609,546 35,010,351
23,088,956 - - - 13,625,551 36,714,507
4,771,567 15,791,412 23,116,042 - 33,172,438 76,851,459
513,468 - - - - 513,468
581,495 - - 2,774,592 8,556,872 11,912,959
164,823 21,427 - - 892,638 1,078,888

- - - - 3,397,836 3,397,836
69,841,678 15,812,839 23,116,042 2,774,592 72,254,881 183,800,032
21,331,883 (2,259,383) 481,102 (184,468) (9.881,421) 9,487,713
6,414,376 3,211,158 700,000 - 16,723,619 27,049,153
(19,057,407) - (337,160 - (6,208,236)  (25,602,803)
(12,643,031) 3,211,158 362,840 - 10,515,383 1,446,350
8,688,852 951,775 843,942 (184,468) 633,962 10,934,063
25,063,854 3,398,921 (4,102,017) 487,898 16,141,989 40,990,645
$ 33,752,706 $ 4,350,696 $ (3,258,075) $ 303,430 $ 16,775,951 $ 51,924,708

The Notes to Financial Statements are an

Integral Part of this Statement.
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Genesee County, Michigan Genesee County, Michigan

Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, Statement of Net Position
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds September 30, 2017
to the Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2017 Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities
Nonmajor Internal Service
Delinquent Taxes  Enterprise Funds Total Funds
. As:
Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 10,934,063 ‘Z‘j,,em assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) $ - $ 1,672,207 $ 1,672,207 $ 1,635,834
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement ::vesrm:lms (Note 4) 16936473 1,142,384 18,078,857 6,162,366
L ) eceivables:
of activities are different because: Current and delinquent taxes receivable 39,526,372 . 39,526,372 .
Interest and accounts receivable 4,486,807 - 4,486,807 63,129
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however, in Loan receivables 791,400 - 791,400 -

Due from other governmental units 965,941 - 965,941

the statement of activities, these costs are allocated over their 13,649

Due from component unit - - R
estimated useful lives as depreciation: Due from other county funds 2,256,036 - 2,256,036 11,027,604
) . Inventory - - - 54,188
Capital outlay 2,080,998 Prepaids and other assets - - - 61,997
Depreciation expense (4,378,212) Total current assets 64,963,029 2,814,591 67,777,620 19,018,767
Contribution of capital assets 2,081,399 Noncurrent assets - Capital assets:
Assets not subject to depreciation 2,812,109 711,735 3,523,844 131,033
Revenue is recorded in the statement of activities when earned; it is not Assets subject to depreciation - 421,132 421,132 1,988,472
reported in the funds until collected or collectible within 60 days of Total assets 67.775.138 3,947,458 71,722,59% 21,138272
year end (939,963) Deferred Outflows of Resources - Deferred outflows related to
L. ) . ) pensions (Note 9) 65,401 - 65,401 71,156
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, Liabil
- L ) iabilities
but not in the statement of activities (where it reduces long-term debt) 2,615,000 Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 464,832 462,019 926,851 2,039,250
i ioati Due to other governmental units 38 - 38 281,445
Increases in the obligation for other postemployrrTehF benefits are Dt to e v (Nere ) 2813600 17152 283079 4701 996
recorded when earned in the statement of activities (12,139,291) Accrued liabilities and other 167,098 81,191 248,289 353,841
Claims liability - Pharmaceutical and medical (Note 8) 107,625 . 107,625 .
H : iability i N H Compensated absences - - - 2,421,544
Change in the net pension liability is recorded when incurred in the oot portion of long-term debt 9000000 . 9000000 >
statement of activities 25,693,368
Total current liabilties 12,553,193 560,362 13,113,555 9,998,076
Deferred outflows related to pensions (28,067,369) Noncurrent labilities:
Long-term advance - - - 515,181
Deferred inflows related to pensions (3,622,764) Compensated absences - - - 495,254
General, workers' compensation claim, and IBNR liability
. . . 1.050.472 (Note 8) - - - 4,019,421
Internal Service Funds are included as part of governmental activities ,050, Net OPEB obligation (Note |1) 323,591 338938 662,529 1,202,287
Net pension liability (Note 9) 1,099,180 . 1,099,180 1,523,629
Change in Net Position of Governmental Acti $  (4692,299) Long:-term debt (Note 7) 30,990,000 z 30990000 z
Total noncurrent liabilities 32,412,771 338,938 32,751,709 7,755,772
Total liabilities 44,965,964 899,300 45,865,264 17,753,848
Deferred Inflows of Resources - Deferred inflows related to
pensions 26,493 - 26,493 245,878
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 2,812,109 1,132,867 3,944,976 2,119,505
Restricted:
Retirement of delinquent tax notes payable 7,710,193 - 7,710,193 -
Parks and recreation nonexpendable . 1,015,967 1,015,967 .
Unrestricted 12,325,780 899,324 13,225,104 1,090,197
Total net position $ 22,848,082 $ 3,048,158 25,896,240 $ 3,209,702
Net Position of Business-type Activities § 25896240
The Notes to Financial Statements are an The Notes to Financial Statements are an
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Genesee County, Michigan Genesee County, Michigan

Proprietary Funds Proprietary Funds
Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended September 30, 2017 Year Ended September 30, 2017
Governmental Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities Enterprise Funds Activities
Nonmajor Internal Service Nonmajor Internal Service
Delinquent Taxes ~ Enterprise Funds Total Funds Delinquent Taxes ~ Enterprise Funds Total Funds

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Operating Revenue Receipts from users $ 8,446,577 $ 723,183 $ 9,169,760 $ 17,968,805
Other sales to customers $ - $ 311,792 § 311,792 $ - Receipts from interfund services and reimbursements - - - 1,136,600
Charges for sales and services 10,119,272 398,825 10,518,097 6,085 Payments for interfund services and reimbursements (516,474) - (516,474) (1,268,498)
Charges to other funds . - - 21,751,897 Payments to suppliers (1,739,078) (827,923) (2,567,001) (15,620,424)

Payments to employees (1,273,850) (714,072) (1,987,922) (3,194,971)
Total operating revenue 10,119,272 710,617 10,829,889 21,757,982 Internal activity - Receipts from (payments to) other funds 2,719,144 2,274 2,721,418 (2,248,789)
. Claims paid - - - (107,959)

Operating Expenses Other receipts (payments) 3,122,344 - 3,122,344 (42,208)
Salaries and fringe benefits 608,949 769,803 1,378,752 3,188,477
Supplies and other operating expenses 3,099,439 1,218,275 4,317,714 17,605,954 Net cash provided by (used in) operating
Depreciation - 55,532 55,532 777,175 activities 10,758,663 (816,538) 9,942,125 (3,377,444)

Total operating expenses 3,708,388 2043610 5,751,998 21,571,606 Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Acti
. Issuance of short-term borrowings 34,990,000 - 34,990,000 -
Operating Income (Loss) 6,410,884 (1,332,993) 5,077,891 186,376 Transfers from other funds ) 1.313.850 1'313.850 475253
Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses) Principal and interest on short-term borrowings (33,586,978) - (33,586,978) -
onoperating Revenue (Expenses, Contributions to component units (800,000) - (800,000) .
Investment earnings 73,114 126,492 199,606 108,907
Transfers to other funds (3,000,000) (235,453) (3,235,453) -
Interest expense (1216978) - (1216978) (2.208) Repayments of loans from other funds - - - (310,870)
Other nonoperating expenses (800,000) - (800,000) - pay! .
Gain on sale of assets - - - 282,144 Net cash (used in) provided by noncapital
Total nonoperating (expenses) revenue (1,943.864) 126492 (1817.372) 388,843 financing activities (2:396,978) 1,078,397 (1,318,581) 164,383
Income (Loss) - Before transfers 4,467,020 (1,206,501) 3260519 575,219 Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing
Transfers In - 1,313,850 1,313,850 475,253 Proceeds from sales of capital assets . . . 282,144
Purchase of capital assets - - - (673,548)
Transfers Out (3,000,000) (235,453) (3,235,453) - Principal and interest paid on capital debt - - - (156,947)
Change in Net Position 1,467,020 (128,104) 1,338916 1,050,472 Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities - - - (548,351)
Net Position - Beginning of year 21,381,062 3,176,262 24,557,324 2,159,230
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net Position - End of year $ 22,848,082 $ 3,048,158 $ 2589,240 $ 3,209,702 Interest received on investments 73,114 126,492 199,606 109,042
Proceeds from sale and (purchases) maturities of
investment securities (11,674,495) (126,416) (11,800911) 884,227
Net cash (used in) provided by investing
activities (11,601,381) 76 (11,601,305) 993,269
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (3,239,696) 261,935 (2,977,761) (2,768,143)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 3,239,696 1,410,272 4,649,968 4,403,977
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ -8 1672207 § 1672207 $ 1635834
Statement of Net Position Classification of Cash and
Cash Equivalents
Cash and investments $ 16,936,473 $ 2814591 $ 19,751,064 $ 7,798,200
Less amounts classified as investments (16,936,473) (1,142,384) (18,078,857) (6,162,366)
Total cash and cash equivalents $ l $ 1,672,207  § 1,672,207 § 1,635,834
The Notes to Financial Statements are an The Notes to Financial Statements are an
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Genesee County, Michigan Genesee County, Michigan

Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Year Ended September 30, 2017 September 30, 2017
Governmental Total Pension
Enterprise Funds Activities and Employee
Nonmajor Internal Service ) ploy
Delinquent Taxes  Enterprise Funds Total Funds Frlnge Benefit
(VEBA) Trust
Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
from Operating Activities Funds Agency Funds
Operating income (loss) o $ 641084 $  (1,332993) $ 5077891 $ 186,376 Assets
Ad.z:::‘;r:; ::}:::;?n:lz ;.Fi::(smg income (loss) to net Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,821,624 $ 12238471
Depreciation and amortization - 55,532 55,532 777,175 Investments:
Changes in assets and liabilities: Money market _ 9,300,038
Receivables 1,449,649 12,566 1,462,215 (42,208)
Due from others (516:474) . (516,474) (3.914.142) Investment pool - MI CLASS - 9,003,368
glventzriesd N - - - \ ggvzg‘}ﬁ Negotiable CDs 3,595,997 -
repai and other assets - - - K X 'y
Accounts payable 391,941 390,267 782,208 565818 U.S. government securities 50,487,932 -
Due to others 2,719,144 2274 2,721,418 (2,248,789) Foreign governments and agencies 1,496,809 -
Estimated claims liability - - - (107,959) Foreign equity 106,285,358 -
Accrued and other liabilities 303,519 55,816 359,335 (6,494) Partnerships publicly traded 2’676'767 }
Net cash provided by (used in) operating s 10756663 § 816538) § 9942125 § (3377444 Common stock 134,974,384 -
activies 758, (816539) 242, G377.449) Corporate bonds 44,651,632 ;
Real estate limited partnerships 94,536,587 -
Mutual funds 4,460,781 -
Hedge fund-of-funds 1,022,949 -
Cash and investments held as collateral for securities lending 11,218,014 -
Receivables:
Interest and accounts receivable 945,900 -
Contributions receivable 1,865,361 3,144
Accounts receivable - Pending trades 967,437 -
Prepaids and other assets 250,486 -
Total assets 470,258,018 $ 30,545,021
Liabilities
Accounts payable 794,565 $ 30,440,832
Due to other governmental units - 104,189
IBNR liability 902,015 -
Obligations under securities lending agreements 11,218,014 -
Accounts payable - Pending trades 140,731 -
Total liabilities 13,055,325 $ 30,545,021
Net Position Held in Trust for Pension and Other Employee
Benefits $457,202,693
The Notes to Financial Statements are an The Notes to Financial Statements are an
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Genesee County, Michigan

Additions
Investment income (loss):
Interest and dividends
Net increase in fair value of investments
Investment-related expenses

Net investment income

Securities lending income - Interest and dividends
Contributions:

Employer

Plan members

Total contributions
Total additions

Deductions
Benefits
Refunds of contributions
Transfer to other pension plans
Administrative expenses

Total deductions

Net Increase in Net Position Held in Trust

Net Position Held in Trust for Pension and Other Employee Benefits -

Beginning of year

Net Position Held in Trust for Pension and Other Employee Benefits -

End of year

The Notes to Financial Statements are an
Integral Part of this Statement. 28

Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Total Pension
and Employee
Fringe Benefit
(VEBA) Trust
Funds

$ 8572607
27,702,775

(1,370,891)
34,904,491
82,255

25,799,947
3,466,702

29,266,649
64,253,395

60,942,600
80,955
468,980
421,448

61,913,983
2,339,412

454,863,281

$457,202,693
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Genesee County, Michigan

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables:
Land contract receivable
Interest and accounts receivable
Lease receivable
Due from other governmental units
Loan receivable
Special assessments receivable
Due from primary government
Inventory
Prepaids and other assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investment in joint ventures
Net OPEB asset
Capital assets
Loan receivable
Lease receivable
Land contract receivable

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charge on refunding
Deferred outflows related to pensions

Total deferred outflows of resources

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to other governmental units
Due to primary government
Accrued liabilities and other:
Accrued payroll
Accrued interest payable
Other accrued liabilities and deposits
Unearned revenue
Due within one year:
Compensated absences
Current portion of long-term debt
Due in more than one year:
Payable from restricted assets
Compensated absences
Funds held in escrow
Long-term advance from primary government
Net OPEB obligation
Net pension liability
Long-term debt

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Pensions

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted:
Debt service
Programs
Unrestricted

Total net position

Water and Waste

Economic

Road Commission Services Development Corp Drains
September 30,2017~ _December 31,2016 _September 30,2017~ _September 30,2017
$ 17,932,660 $ 22,150,739 $ 150937 $ 2,332,581
- - - 203,330
1,930,904 12,097,607 2,109 -
- 2,420,000 - -
5,327,982 7,024,778 - -
- - 62,887 -
728,380 - - 2,044,571
705,404 - - 47,598
169,984 1,129,502 - -
11,960,276 106,250,323 586,792 -
9,340,905 - - -
185,904,269 687,061,551 - 15,531,581
- 1,287,537 - -
- 40,305,400 - -
234,000,764 879,727,437 802,725 20,159,661
- 19,281 - -
17,389,210 14,998,938 - -
17,389,210 15018219 - -
2,894,071 4,405,913 923 300,107
643,982 - 30,216 -
- - - 63,649
- - - 19,724
- 5,118,032 - 25,078
888,303 - - 11,680
15,216,934 1,276,135 - -
135,552 - - -
1,510,000 11,155,032 - 497,727
837,234 27,173,956 - -
1,052,177 - - -
- 5,147,853 - -
37,391,284 32,181,562 - -
1,690,000 605,220,336 - 1,621,312
62,259,537 691,678819 31,139 2,539,277
4,943,898 1,125,058 - -
182,704,269 187,960,080 - 13,412,542
894,951 - - -
- 5,494,572 768,024 -
587,319 8,487,127 3,562 4,207,842
$ 184,186,539  § 201,941,779 $ 771,586 $ 17,620,384

The Notes to Financial Statements are an
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Land Bank Storm Water
Authority Brownfield Authority  Management System
September 30,2017 _September 30,2017 _September 30, 2017 Total
$ 5362552 $ -8 274,409 $ 48,203,878
- - - 203,330
792,742 - - 792,742
910,705 - - 14,941,325
- - - 2,420,000
7,170,018 - 90,115 19,612,893
- 1912,500 - 1,975,387
B - - 2,772,951
10859 - - 10,859
497,772 - - 1,250,774
161,378 - - 1,460,864
- - - 118,797,391
1,939,000 - - 1,939,000
- - - 9,340,905
2,942,293 - - 891,439,694
- - - 1,287,537
- - - 40,305,400
4,639,042 - - 4,639,042
24,426,361 1912,500 364,524 1,161,393,972
B - - 19,281
- - - 32,388,148
. R - 32,407,429
2,434,157 118,858 113,455 10,267,484
- - - 674,198
- - - 63,649
- - - 19,724
- 228,250 - 5,371,360
98317 - - 998,300
- - - 16,493,069
59,938 - - 195,490
212,726 357,695 - 13,733,180
- - - 28,011,190
B - - 1,052,177
- 225,000 - 225,000
1,565,000 - - 1,565,000
- - - 5,147,853
- - - 69,572,846
291,905 11,180,814 - 620,004,367
4,662,043 12,110,617 113,455 773,394,887
- - - 6,068,956
2,437,662 - - 386,514,553
- - - 894,951
- - 251,069 6,513,665
17,326,656 (10,198,117) - 20,414,389
$ 19,764,318 $ (10,198,117) ' $ 251,069 § 414,337,558
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Genesee County, Michigan

Component Units
Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Net (Expense) Revenue and

Program Revenue Changes in Net Position Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Operating Capital Grants Economic Storm Water
Charges for Grants and and Road Water and Waste Development Land Bank Brownfield Management
Expenses Services Contributions ~ Contributions  Commission Services Corporation Drains Authority Authority System Total
Component units:
Road Commission $ 50329959 $ 6515241 $ 27985232 $ 14980211 $ (849,275) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ (849,275)
Water and Waste Services 67,319,534 70,203,757 - 750,000 - 3,634,223 - - - - - 3634223
Economic Development Corporation 7,251 - - - - - (7.251) - - - - (7.251)
Drains 4,165,519 964,516 - - - - - (3.201,003) - - - (3.201,003)
Land Bank Authority 14,804,995 4,607,945 10,662,758 - - - - - 465,708 - - 465,708
Brownfield Authority 531,922 531,922 - - - - - - - - R -
Storm Water Management System 298,867 - 323,322 - - - - - - - 24,455 24,455
Total wnis  $137.458047  § 82,823381 $ 38,971,312 $ 15730211 (849.275) 3634223 (7.251) (3,201,003) 465,708 - 24,455 66,857
General revenue:
Property taxes and special assessments - - - 1,466,225 - - - 1,466,225
Interest income 204,059 2,031,712 - 1,200 1,142 - 82 2,238,195
Other - 3,253,756 10,295 178,966 - - - 3,443,017
Total general revenue 204,059 5,285,468 10,295 1,646,391 1142 - 82 7,147,437
Change in Net Position (645.216) 8,919,691 3,044 (1,554,612) 466,850 - 24,537 7214294
Net Position - Beginning of year (Note 2) 184,831,755 193,022,088 768,542 19,174,996 19,297,468 (10,198,117) 226,532 407,123,264
Net Position - End of year $184,186,539 $ 201,941,779 $ 771,586 $ 17,620,384 $ 19,764,318 $ (10,198,117) § 251,069 $ 414,337,558

The Notes to Financial Statements are an

Integral Part of this Statement. 31 32
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Genesee County, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used by Genesee
County, Michigan (the "County"):

Reporting Entity

The County of Genesee, Michigan was incorporated on March 18, 1835 and covers an
area of approximately 642 square miles with the county seat located in the city of Flint.
The County operates under an elected Board of Commissioners (nine members) and
provides services to its more than 425,000 residents in many areas, including law
enforcement, administration of justice, community enrichment and development, and
human services. Education services are provided to citizens through more than 198
schools in 21 local school districts, five colleges, and a district library; such districts,
colleges, and the library are separate governmental entities whose financial statements
are not included herein, in accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Codification Section 2100.

As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements
represent Genesee County, Michigan (the primary government) and its component
units. The component units discussed below are included in the County’s reporting
entity because of the significance of their operational or financial relationships with the
County.

Blended Component Units

Genesee County Building Authority - Legally separate entity established for the sole
purpose of issuing bonded debt to finance construction of county buildings. The entire
Building Authority is appointed by the County Board of Commissioners. There was no
activity in the current year.

Genesee County Employees’ Retirement System - Legally separate entity
established to account for employee and employer contributions, investment income,
accumulated assets, and payments to beneficiaries. The pension board has five ex-offico
commissioners due to their positions held in the county and four elected employee
commissioners, with services provided almost exclusively for the County and its
employees. The retirement system has a calendar fiscal year end. It was determined by
the County that it would be extremely impractical for the retirement system to change
to a September 30 fiscal year end. The retirement system is a blended component unit
of the County shown as a fiduciary fund.

Discretely Presented Component Units

Genesee County Road Commission - An entity responsible for constructing and
maintaining the primary and local road system within the County. Its five-member board
is appointed by the County Board. The County Board can significantly influence the
operations of the Road Commission Board.
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Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Water and Waste Services - An entity established by the County pursuant to State
law to provide for water and waste management services. The County appoints the lone
board member/member-director and has the ability to remove the manager-director if
it so chooses. The County approves and would be secondarily liable for any debt
issuances. Water and waste services have a calendar year. The County has determined
that it would be impractical for water and waste services to change to a September 30
fiscal year end.

Economic Development Corporation - An entity responsible for the administration
of the revolving loan program. This loan program makes low-interest loans available to
businesses located within Genesee County. The Board of the Economic Development
Corporation (EDC) is appointed by the Board of Commissioners. The Board of
Commissioners can remove board members of the EDC if they so choose.

Drains - These separate legal entities represent drainage districts established pursuant
to Act 40, P.A. 1956, as amended, the Michigan Drain Code. The oversight of these
districts is the responsibility of the Genesee County Drain Commissioner, an elected
position that is funded by Genesee County, Michigan. The County lends its full faith and
credit toward payment of the special assessment bonds issued for the projects. The
County can significantly influence the operations of the Drain Commission since the
County Board of Commissioners approves the drains budgets.

Genesee County Land Bank Authority - An entity which accounts for the activities
of the authority consisting of acquisition of properties via the delinquent tax state statute
sales of property to individuals, commercial entities, and nonprofit organizations; rental
of properties to individuals; and rehabilitation and demolition of properties in
preparation for sale or future development. The entity is composed of seven members
appointed by the County Board. The County Board can significantly influence the
operations of the Land Bank Authority Board.

Brownfield Authority - An entity governed by a nine-member board. The Board is
appointed by each member of the County Board. The Brownfield Authority was created
to provide a means for financing remediation of Brownfield (environmentally
contaminated) sites within the County. The County issued bonds to provide capital for
the revitalization of environmentally distressed, blighted, and functionally obsolete
properties within the County. The County approves and would be secondarily liable for
any debt issuances.
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Genesee County, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Storm Water Management System - An entity established by the County pursuant
to Act 342, Public Acts of Michigan, 1939. Genesee County Storm Water Management
System is responsible for administration services necessary to enable the County and the
cities, villages, townships, and charter townships located within the County to comply
with the Phase Il Regulations established by the United States Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA) in the Federal Register on December 8, 1999. The Drain Commissioner's
Office was designated and appointed as the "County Agency" for the system to manage
and operate the system.

Complete financial statements of the individual component units (excluding Drains,
Brownfield Authority, Economic Development Corporation of Genesee County, and
Building Authority, which are included in this financial report) can be obtained from their
respective administrative offices.

Accounting and Reporting Principles

The County follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. Accounting and financial reporting
pronouncements are promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

Report Presentation

Governmental accounting principles require that financial reports include two different
perspectives: the government-wide perspective and the fund-based perspective. The
government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the
statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the
primary government and its component units. The government-wide financial
statements are presented on the economic resources measurement focus and the full
accrual basis of accounting. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for
which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. The statements also
present a schedule reconciling these amounts to the modified accrual-based
presentation found in the fund-based statements.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a
given function or segment are offset by program revenue. Direct expenses are those
that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenue
includes (I) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit
from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and (2)
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly
included among program revenue are reported instead as general revenue.
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Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds,
fiduciary funds, and the component units even though the fiduciary fund statements are
excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental
funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund
financial statements.

Fund Accounting

The County accounts for its various activities in several different funds in order to
demonstrate accountability for how we have spent certain resources; separate funds
allow us to show the particular expenditures for which specific revenue was used. The
various funds are aggregated into three broad fund types:

Governmental Funds include all activities that provide general governmental services
that are not business-type activities. This includes the General Fund, special revenue
funds, debt service funds, capital project funds, and permanent funds. The County
reports the following funds as major governmental funds:

¢ The General Fund is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all
financial resources of the general government, except those required to be
accounted for in another fund.

¢ The County Health Fund accounts for the operations of providing health protection
and health services; the main revenue sources are federal and state grants.

¢ The Community Action Resource Department Fund accounts for the programs
designed to provide health and human services to low-income individuals; the main
revenue source is federal grants.

* The Community Development Fund accounts for Housing and Urban Development
grant awards that are allocated to all local units of government (excluding City of
Flint, Michigan) for projects benefiting low- and moderate-income persons or
projects defined as having an urgent need.
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Genesee County, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Proprietary Funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating
items. Operating revenue and expenses generally result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing
operations. The principal operating revenue of the proprietary funds relates to charges
to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include
the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital
assets. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenue and expenses. The government reports the following major
enterprise fund:

* The Delinquent Tax Revolving Enterprise Fund accounts for the activities of the
delinquent real property tax purchase program whereby the County purchases the
outstanding taxes from each local taxing unit. The County in turn collects those
delinquent taxes along with penalties and interest.

The County's internal service funds account for various services, such as data
processing, purchasing, and other administrative services; fleet management; buildings
and grounds maintenance; the self-funded property/casualty program; and the self-
funded prescription drug and medical program. These services are provided to other
county departments on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide
financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support
Genesee County, Michigan's own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is
much like that used for proprietary funds. The government reports the following
fiduciary funds:

* The Pension Trust Fund accounts for employee and employer pension contributions,
investment income, accumulated assets, and payments to beneficiaries.

* The Employees' Fringe Benefits (VEBA) Fund accounts for employee and employer
contributions, investment income, and accumulated assets set aside with the intent to
accumulate adequate funds to defray part of the cost of retiree medical benefits in
future years.

* The Trust and Agency Funds account for assets held by the County as an agent for
individuals, private organizations, other governments, and other funds.

Agency Funds account for assets held by the County in an agency capacity.
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Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Interfund Activity - During the course of operations, the government has activity
between funds for various purposes. Any residual balances outstanding at year end are
reported as due from/to other funds and advances to/from other funds. While these
balances are reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the
preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Balances between the funds
included in governmental activities (i.e., the governmental and internal service funds) are
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the
governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in
business-type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are eliminated so that only the net
amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activities column.

Furthermore, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources
between funds. In fund financial statements, these amounts are reported at gross
amounts as transfers infout. While reported in fund financial statements, certain
eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide financial statements.
Transfers between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so that
only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental activities column.
Similarly, balances between the funds included in business-type activities are eliminated
so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the business-type activities
column.

Basis of Accounting

The governmental funds use the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. This basis of accounting is intended to better
demonstrate accountability for how the County has spent its resources.

Expenditures are reported when the goods are received or the services are rendered.
Capital outlays are reported as expenditures (rather than as capital assets) because they
reduce the ability to spend resources in the future; conversely, employee benefit costs
that will be funded in the future (such as pension and retiree healthcare-related costs or
sick and vacation pay) are not counted until they come due for payment. In addition,
debt service expenditures, claims, and judgments are recorded only when payment is
due.

Revenue is not recognized until it is collected, or collected soon enough after the end of
the year that it is available to pay for obligations outstanding at the end of the year. For
this purpose, the County considers revenue to be available if it is collected within 60
days of the end of the current fiscal period. The following major revenue sources meet
the availability criterion: state-shared revenue, property tax revenue, court fines, and
interest associated with the current fiscal period. Conversely, property taxes and federal
grant reimbursements will be collected after the period of availability; receivables have
been recorded for these, along with a "deferred inflow of resources."
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Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Proprietary funds and fiduciary funds use the economic resources measurement focus
and the full accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Specific Balances and Transactions

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The County considers cash equivalents as short-term
highly liquid investments that are both readily convertible to cash and have maturities of
90 days or less when purchased to minimize the risk of changes in value due to interest
rate changes.

Investments - Investments are stated at fair values. Fair value is determined based on
quoted market prices except for money market funds, which are valued at amortized
cost. Unrealized appreciation or depreciation on investments due to changes in market
value are recognized in fund operations each year.

Inventories and Prepaid Items - Inventories are stated at cost on a first-in, first-out
basis for governmental funds and the lower of cost on a first-in, first-out basis or market
for proprietary funds. The cost of inventory items in governmental funds is recorded as
an expenditure at the time of purchase, except for certain Special Revenue Funds and
the Water and Waste Services component unit, whereby inventories are expensed
when used. Inventory in the Land Bank Authority represents land inventory held for
resale.

Capital Assets - Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and
infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in
the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an
initial individual cost ranging from $1,500 for equipment to $100,000 for infrastructure
and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical
cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are
recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation.

Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets of business-type activities is
included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed. During the current
year, no interest expense was capitalized as part of the cost of assets under
construction.
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Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Capital Asset Class Lives
Land improvements 10 years
Buildings and improvements 25-50 years
Equipment 3-20 years
Infrastructure 20-50 years

Long-term Obligations - In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary
fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term
obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-
type activities, or proprietary fund-type statement of net position. Bond premiums and
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective
interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or
discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed at the time they are incurred. In the fund
financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts,
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt
issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are
reported as other financing sources while discounts are reported as other financing uses.
Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes
report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial
statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to future
periods and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure)
until then. At September 30, 2017, the County reported deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions for governmental activities and business-type activities. See the table
in Note 9 for governmental and business-type activities and Note 20 for component
units for amounts and when they will be recognized in pension expense. In the
component units, Water and Waste Services, a deferred outflow of resources related to
bond refunding loss that is being amortized.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. There are also deferred
inflows in the governmental funds for unavailable grant revenue and property tax
revenue and in the component units, Brownfield Authority and Economic Development
Corporation, for unavailable loans and Drains for unavailable special assessments
revenue.
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Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Net Position Flow Assumption

Sometimes the County will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted
(e.g., restricted bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to
calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position and unrestricted net position
in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is
the County's policy to consider restricted net position to have been depleted before
unrestricted net position is applied.

Fund Balance Flow Assumption

Sometimes the County will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted
and unrestricted resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund
balance). In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned,
and unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements, a flow
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be
applied. It is the County's policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been
depleted before using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance.
Furthermore, when an expense is incurred for a purpose for which amounts in any of
the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used, it is the County's policy to
spend funds in this order: committed, assigned, and unassigned.

Fund Balance Policies

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report the following components of
fund balance:

* Nonspendable - Amounts that are not in spendable form or are legally or
contractually required to be maintained intact

* Restricted - Reservations of fund balance for amounts that are not available for
appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties, constitutional provisions, or
enabling legislation for use for a specific purpose

* Committed - Amounts that have been formally set aside by the Board of
Commissioners for use for specific purposes. Commitments are made and can be
rescinded only via resolution of the Board

* Assigned - Intent to spend resources on specific purposes expressed by the Board of
Commissioners
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Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

¢ Unassigned - Amounts that do not fall into any other category above. This is the
residual classification for amounts in the General Fund and represents fund balance
that has not been assigned to other funds and has not been restricted, committed, or
assigned to specific purposes in the General Fund. In other governmental funds, only
negative unassigned amounts are reported, if any, and represent expenditures
incurred for specific purposes exceeding the amounts previously restricted,
committed, or assigned to those purposes.

Property Taxes

The County's property tax is levied each July | for operations and each December | for
all others on the assessed valuation of property located in the County as of the
preceding December 31. On December |, the property tax attachment is an
enforceable lien on property and is payable by the last day of the next February
following. Assessed values are established annually by the County and are equalized by
the State at an estimated 50 percent of current market value. Real and personal
property in Genesee County for the 2017 levy was assessed at $10,821,071,491 and
equalized at $10,821,071,491, representing 50 percent of estimated current market
value. The County's operating tax rate is currently 5.5072 mills with an additional 0.75
mills voted for parks, 0.4847 mills for paramedics, 0.7 mills for senior services, 1.0 mill
for health services, 0.1 mills for veterans, 0.04 mills for the MSU extension, and 0.2 mills
for animal control.

By agreement with various taxing authorities, the County purchases at face value the
real property taxes receivable returned delinquent each March |. These receivables
($44,013,179 at September 30, 2017) are pledged to a bank for payment of notes
payable, the proceeds of which were used to liquidate the amounts due to the General
Fund and various other funds and governmental agencies for purchase of the receivables
and to provide funds for current operations. Subsequent collections on delinquent taxes
receivable, plus interest and collection fees thereon and investment earnings, are used
to extinguish the debt.

Collections of delinquent taxes, which include interest, penalties, fees, and investment
earnings, amounting to $35,792,588 in 2017, are used to service the notes payable.
Principal and interest paid on the notes payable in 2017 amounted to $30,511,293.
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Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Pension - Genesee County, Michigan offers a defined benefit pension plan to its
employees. The County records a net pension liability for the difference between the
total pension liability calculated by the actuary and the pension plan's fiduciary net
position. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the GCERS Pension Plan and additions
to/deductions from the pension plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on
the same basis as they are reported by the pension plan. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value. The General, Special Revenue, DTR, and Internal Service funds will be used to
liquidate the net pension liability, based on whichever fund an employee or retiree is
assigned and to which the employee's pension costs are charged.

Other Postemployment Benefit Costs - The County offers retiree healthcare
benefits to retirees. The County receives an actuarial valuation to compute the annual
required contribution (ARC) necessary to fund the obligation over the remaining
amortization period. In the governmental funds, OPEB costs are recognized as
contributions are made. For the government-wide statements and proprietary funds,
the County reports the full accrual cost equal to the current year required contribution,
adjusted for interest and "adjustment to the ARC" on the beginning of year underpaid
amount, if any. The General, Special Revenue, DTR, and Internal Service funds will be
used to liquidate the other postemployment benefit obligation, based on whichever fund
an employee or retiree is assigned and to which the employee's other postemployment
benefit costs are charged.

Compensated Absences (Vacation and Sick Leave) - It is the County's policy to
permit employees to accumulate earned but unused sick and vacation pay benefits.
Vacation pay is accrued and fully vested when earned; upon termination, with a few
bargaining unit exceptions, employees are paid accumulated vacation at full rates to a
limit of 150 percent of their current annual earned vacation. There is no liability for
unpaid accumulated sick leave since the County does not have a policy to pay any
amounts when employees separate from service with the County. All vacation pay is
accrued when incurred in the government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial
statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only for
employee terminations as of year end. All other accrued compensated absences are
reported in the government-wide financial statements; generally the funds that report
each employee's compensation (the General Fund, Major Special Revenue Funds,
Internal Services Funds, and Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund, primarily) are used to
liquidate the obligation.
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Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Note 2 - Prior Period Adjustment

The financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2016 have been restated in
order to reflect the removal of the Genesee Health System Authority (GHS) from
presentation within the Genesee County, Michigan component units as it no longer
meets the requirement to be reported as a component unit. Genesee County, Michigan
recorded a prior period adjustment to properly reflect the removal of GHS.

The effect of this change on prior year net position is as follows:

Component
Units
Net position - September 30, 2016 - As previously reported $382,448,716
Adjustment to remove GHS net position 24,674,548
Net position - September 30, 2016 - As restated $407,123,264

The effect of this change on the prior year change in net position is as follows:

Component
Units

Change in net position - September 30, 2016 - As previously reported  $ (11,214,266)

Adjustment to remove GHS change in net positon 8,876,893
Change in net position - September 30, 2016 - As restated $ (2,337373)
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Note 3 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability

Fund Deficits - As of September 30, 2017, the following funds were in a deficit at year
end:

Component unit - Brownfield Authority $ 10,198,117
Enterprise funds - Parking Meter Fund 3,279
Internal service funds:
Administrative services 6,615,730
Vehicles and equipment 134,849
Special revenue funds:
GCCARD 3,258,075
Sheriff Contracted Services 52,729

The deficits in GCCARD and Sheriff Contracted Services Development are caused by
deferred inflows for unavailable revenue; therefore, this is not a deficit under the State's
definition, as defined by numbered letter 2016-1.

During the year, Genesee County, Michigan adopted a budget in which revenue less
expenditures exceeded available fund balance for the Sheriff Contracted Services Fund
and, therefore, it was not in compliance with Public Act 2 of 1968.

Note 4 - Deposits and Investments

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes
local governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured
banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The
local unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other direct obligations of the
United States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; repurchase
agreements; bankers' acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated
within the two highest classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the
date of purchase; obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions, which
are rated as investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that
are legal for direct investment by local units of government in Michigan.

The Pension Trust Fund is also authorized by Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965, as
amended, to invest in certain reverse repurchase agreements, stocks, diversified
investment companies, annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities,
mortgages, real estate, debt or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local
government obligations, and certain other specified investment vehicles. The Employees'
Fringe Benefit (VEBA) Fund is authorized by Michigan Public Act 149 of 1999 to invest in
similar types of investments as the pension fund.
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Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

State statutes as they relate to group self-insurance pools (Public Act 218 of 1956, as
amended) authorize the Self Funded Property/Casualty Program Fund to invest in
obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, deposit agreements with federally
insured financial institutions within the state of Michigan, commercial paper, common
stocks, real estate, repurchase obligations of the U.S. government and U.S. agencies,
bankers' acceptances of U.S. banks, common stocks, and mutual funds composed of the
above authorized investments. The pool has adopted the above as its investment policy
and has authorized the following depositories: Huntington Bank and Beacon Investment
Company.

The County has designated five banks for the deposit of its funds. The investment policy
adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized
investments as allowed under state statutory authority as listed above. The County’s
cash and investments are subject to several types of risk, which are examined in more
detail as follows:

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the
event of a bank failure, the government’s deposits may not be returned to it. The
government does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the
County had $33,270,732 of bank deposits (certificates of deposit and checking and
savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. The County believes that
due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, it is
impractical to insure all deposits. Insuring or collateralizing all cash deposits would also
result in a significant decrease in the investment returns for the County. Consistent with
the investment policy that is prepared by the County Treasurer's Office and approved
by the County Board of Commissioners, the County evaluates each financial institution
with which it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; only those
institutions with an acceptable estimated risk level are used as depositories.

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments - Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the
event of the failure of the counterparty, the County will not be able to recover the value
of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
The County does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, $461,569,576
of investment securities was uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the
counterparty or by its trust department or agent but not in the County's name.
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Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will
decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. The County's investment policy does not
restrict investment maturities, other than commercial paper, which can only be
purchased with a 270-day maturity. At year end, the average maturities of investments
are as follows:

1-10 More than 10
Type of Investment Fair Value Less than | year Years Years
U.S. gov. or agency bond or notes (primary
government) $ 1328317 $ 926,151 $ 402,166 $ -
Corporate bonds (primary government) 1,426,972 - 1,426,972 -
U.S. gov. mortgage-backed (primary
government) 7,982,970 7,982,970 - -
Bank investment pools (primary
government) 8,056,754 8,056,754 - -
U.S. gov. or agency bond or notes (VEBA) 302,883 - 302,883 -
Private placement (VEBA) 100,447 - 100,447 -
Corporate bonds (VEBA) 3,819,549 - 3,819,549 -
Foreign bonds (VEBA) 418,896 300,096 118,800 -
Asset-backed (pension) 2,840,885 - 2,351,231 489,654
U.S. gov. collateralized mortgage obligation
(pension) 3,620,008 - 588,238 3,031,770
U.S. gov. mortgage-backed (pension) 13,895,171 - 4,897 13,890,274
U.S. gov. treasuries, notes, and bonds
(pension) 30,268,870 5,075,821 25,193,049 -
Corporate collateralized mortgage
obligation (pension) 2,400,999 - 370,433 2,030,566
Corporate bonds (pension) 29,364,807 179,566 27,793,364 1,388,877
Foreign corporate (pension) 1,077,913 - 1,077,913 -
Municipal (pension) 4,514,188 - 1,695,194 2,818,994
Private placement (pension) 4,112,204 - 4,112,204 -
Bank investment pools (fiduciary - trust) 9,003,368 9,003,368 - -
Total $ 124535201 $ 31524726 $ 69,357,340 $ 23,650,135
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Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that the government will not be able to recover the
value of its securities. The County follows state law which limits investments in
commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating
organizations. The County has no investment policy that would further limit its
investment choices for general county funds. The pension funds are allowed to invest in
longer maturity corporate bonds in accordance with state law. As of year end, the credit
quality ratings of debt securities not explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government are as
follows:

Rating
Investment Fair Value Rating Organization

U.S. gov. agency securities (primary

government) $ 1,053,596 AA+ S&P
U.S. gov. agency securities (primary

government) 274,721 AAA S&P
U.S. government mortgage-backed (primary

government) 7,982,970 Not Rated N/A
Money market (primary government) 322,172 AAM S&P
Money market funds (primary government) 25,624,239  Not Rated N/A
Corporate bonds (primary government) 367,474 BBB+ S&P
Corporate bonds (primary government) 720,447 BBB S&P
Corporate bonds (primary government) 339,052 BBB- S&P
Bank investment pools (primary government) 8,056,754 Al+ Pl S&P
Corporate bonds (VEBA) 205,516 AA S&P
Corporate bonds (VEBA) 2,017,184 BBB S&P
Corporate bonds (VEBA) 1,333,724 BB S&P
Corporate bonds (VEBA) 263,125 B S&P
Private placement (VEBA) 100,447 BBB S&P
Foreign government bonds (VEBA) 118,800 BB S&P
Foreign government bonds (VEBA) 300,096  Not Rated N/A
U.S. gov. agency securities (VEBA) 302,883  Not Rated N/A
Asset-backed (pension) 277,362 AA S&P
Asset-backed (pension) 1,058,177 A S&P
Asset-backed (pension) 213,181 BBB S&P
Asset-backed (pension) 1,292,165 Not Rated N/A
Corporate bonds (pension) 600,670 AAA S&P
Corporate bonds (pension) 5,026,473 AA S&P
Corporate bonds (pension) 12,498,394 A S&P
Corporate bonds (pension) 10,943,338 BBB S&P
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Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Rating
Investment Fair Value Rating Organization
Corporate bonds (pension) $ 295,931  Not Rated N/A
Corporate CMO (pension) 238,590 AAA S&P
Corporate CMO (pension) 195,295 AA S&P
Corporate CMO (pension) 1,967,113 Not Rated N/A
Private placements (pension) 490,895 AA S&P
Private placements (pension) 587,513 A S&P
Private placements (pension) 2,522,618 BBB S&P
Private placements (pension) 511,178  Not Rated S&P
Foreign corporate bonds (pension) 1,077,913 BBB S&P
Municipal bonds (pension) 516,350 AAA S&P
Municipal bonds (pension) 1,342,769 AA S&P
Municipal bonds (pension) 256,504 A S&P
Municipal bonds (pension) 2,398,564  Not Rated N/A
U.S. government CMO (pension) 3,620,009  Not Rated N/A
U.S. government mortgage-backed (pension) 13,895,171  Not Rated N/A
U.S. government treasuries, notes, and bonds
(pension) 30,268,870 Not Rated N/A
Bank investment pools (fiduciary - trust) 9,003,368 Al+ Pl S&P
Money market funds (fiduciary - trust) 9,316,613  Not Rated N/A

Total $ 159,798,224

Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign currency risk is the risk that an investment
denominated in the currency of a foreign country could reduce its U.S. dollar value as a
result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The pension system does not
restrict the amount of investments in foreign currency. At December 31, 2016, the
System did not hold any securities that are subject to foreign currency risk.

Securities Lending - As permitted by state statutes and under the provisions of a
securities lending authorization agreement, the System lends securities to broker-
dealers and banks for collateral that will be returned for the same securities in the
future. The System's custodial bank manages the securities lending program and receives
cash as collateral. Borrowers are required to deliver collateral for each loan equal to not
less than 100 percent of the market value of the loaned securities. During the year
ended December 31, 2016, only United States currency was received as collateral.

The System did not impose any restrictions during the fiscal year on the amount of loans
made on its behalf by the custodial bank. The System presently owns $206,930 of Sigma
Finance Medium Term Note, which is a defaulted investment. The System elected to
repay the liability over a five-year period. There were no other failures by any
borrowers to return loaned securities or pay distributions thereon during the fiscal year.
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The Genesee County Employees' Retirement System (the "System") and the borrower
maintain the right to terminate all securities lending transactions on demand. The cash
collateral received on each loan was invested, together with the cash collateral of other
lenders, in an investment pool. The average duration of the investments in the cash
collateral pool is deemed to mature on the cash collateral pool's next business day as per
the reinvestment guidelines, with the exception of the Sigma Medium Term Note
(impaired). Because the loans are terminable on demand, their duration did not
generally match the duration of the investments made with cash collateral. On
December 31, 2016, the System had no credit risk exposure to borrowers with the
exception of Sigma Finance. The collateral based on cost and the fair market value of the
underlying securities on loan for the System as of December 31, 2016 was $11,218,014
and $10,938,965, respectively, which consisted of short-term money market mutual
funds and Sigma Finance Term Note commercial paper.

The County categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the
valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level | inputs are quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Investments that
are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as a
practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy below.

In instances whereby inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the
above fair value hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the valuation. The County's
assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these fair value measurements
requires judgment and considers factors specific to each asset or liability.
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Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

The County has the following recurring fair value measurements as of September 30,
2017:

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Fair Value Measurement Using

Genesee County, Michigan

Quoted Prices in  Significant Other Significant

Balance at Active Markets Observable Unobservable
September 30, for Identical Inputs Inputs
2017 Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Investments by Fair Value Level
Debt securities:
U.S. gov. or agency bond or note (self-insurance) $ 1,328,317 $

- $ 1,328,317 $ -
U.S. gov. or agency bond or note (VEBA) 302,883 302,883

U.S. gov. or agency bond or note (pension) 50,185,049 30,268,870 18,861,534 1,054,645
Foreign government bonds (VEBA) 418,896 - 418,896 -
Foreign government bonds (pension) 1,077,913 - 1,077,913 -
Corporate bonds (self-insurance) 1,426,972 - 1,426,972 -
Corporate bonds (VEBA) 3,819,549 - 3,819,549 -
Corporate bonds (pension) 40,832,083 - 40,183,913 648,170
Total debt securities 99,391,662 30,571,753 67,117,094 1,702,815
Equity securities:
Common stocks (self-insurance) 1,780,320 1,780,320 - -
Mutual funds (self-insurance) 1,304,585 1,304,585 - -
Common stocks (VEBA) 10,248,803 10,248,803 - -
Mutual funds (VEBA) 4,085,065 4,085,065 - -
Partnerships publicly traded (VEBA) 1,347,012 - 1,347,012 -
Common stocks (pension) 124,725,581 124,725,581 - -
Mutual funds (pension) 11,522,750 11,522,750 - -
Total equity securities 155,014,116 153,667,104 1,347,012 -
Money market funds:
Money market funds (self-insurance) 322,172 - 322,172 -
Money market funds (VEBA) 3,595,997 - 3,595,997 -
Total venture capital investments 3,918,169 - 3,918,169 -

Commercial real estate - Real estate investment
trusts (pension) 61,929,948 - 6,143,859 55,786,089

Total investments by fair value level 320,253,895 $ 184238857 § 78526,134 $ 57,488,904

Investments Measured at Net Asset Value

(NAV)

Mutual funds - Open end (VEBA) 70,980
Real estate limited partnerships (VEBA) 2,676,767

Investment pools - MI CLASS (primary
government) 8,056,754
Investment pools - MI CLASS (fiduciary - trust) 9,003,368
Foreign equity (pension) 106,285,358
Real estate investment trusts (pension) 31,259,627
Partnership alt. investments (pension) 1,022,949
Total investments measured at NAV 158,375,803

©»

Total investments measured at fair value 478,629,698
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Debt and equity securities classified in Level | are valued using prices quoted in active
markets for those securities.

The fair value of debt securities, mutual funds, and money market funds at September
30, 2017 was determined primarily based on Level 2 inputs. The County estimates the
fair value of these investments using quoted prices for similar assets and other inputs
such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

The fair value of closely held commercial real estate funds was determined primarily
based on Level 3 inputs. The System estimates the fair value of these investments using
investment managers' estimates calculated from pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies, or similar techniques taking into account the characteristics of the asset.

The valuation method for investments measured at net asset value (NAV) per share (or
its equivalent) is presented on the following table.

Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share

The County holds shares or interests in investment companies whereby the fair value of
the investments is measured on a recurring basis using net asset value per share (or its
equivalent) of the investment companies as a practical expedient.

At September 30, 2017, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and redemption rules of
those investments are as follows:

Redemption
Unfunded Frequency, if Redemption
Fair Value Commitments Eligible Notice Period

Mutual funds - Open ended $ 70,980 $ - None

Limited partnerships 2,676,767 - Quarterly 30 days
Michigan CLASS investment pool 17,060,122 - None

Foreign equity 106,285,358 - Monthly 30 days

Real estate investment trusts 31,259,627 - Quarterly 90 days
Partnership alt. investments 1,022,949 - Annually 60-90 days

Total investments measured
at NAV $ 158,375,803 $ -

The mutual funds - open ended include investments whose objective is to seek to
maximize total return. The funds invest mainly in mortgage-backed securities actively
allocating between agency and nonagency securities to provide high income while
maintaining neutral duration scenario to diversify risks within the portfolio.
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Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) Note 5 - Capital Assets
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The limited partnerships include investments in other limited liability companies and
limited partnerships that specialize in a wide array of real estate investments established

Capital asset activity at September 30, 2017 is summarized as follows:

Balance
to act as real estate investment vehicles. The partnerships acquire ownership in Balance September 30,
underlying investments either through direct real estate ownership or ownership in real Governmental Activities October I,2016 ~_Reclassifications Additions Disposals 2017
estate companies or the equity of real estate investment companies or trusts. The fair Capital assets not being depreciated:
) L : ) Land $ 11,355,190 § -8 5 $ - % 11355246
values of thg investments in this class have been estimated using the net asset value per Construction in progress S16.565 i 780,581 i 1297146
share of the investments.
Subtotal 11,871,755 . 780,637 . 12,652,392
The Michigan CLASS investment pool invests in U.S. Treasury obligations, federal agency Capital assets being depreciated:
obligations for the U.S. government, high-grade commercial paper (rate "Al" or better), Buildings and improvements 120,621,919 N 908,038 - 121,529,957
_ ) ) Machinery and equipment 23,681,775 73319 3,074,958 (51,173) 26,778,879
collateralized bank deposits, repurchase agreements (collateralized at 102 percent by Land improvements 8711746 _ B _ 8,711,746
treasuries and agenqes),‘an'd approv‘ed money market funds. The program is designed Subtotal 153,015,440 73,319 3.982.9% 51173) 157,020,582
to meet the needs of Michigan public sector investors. It purchases securities that are -
L. . . L. Accumulated depreciation:
legally permissible under state statutes and are available for investment by Michigan Buildings and improvements 64,846,213 - 3,307,332 - 68,153,545
counties, cities, townships, school districts, authorities, and other public agencies. Machinery and equipment 18,464,675 - 1,848,055 (50.167) 20,262,563
Land improvements 52,216 - - - 52,216
The foreign equity funds class includes investments in funds that invest predominantly in Subtotal 83,363,104 _ 5,155,387 (50,167) 88,468,324
equity securities of non-U.S. companies. The funds invest in developed and emergin
quity : - P vest P &ing Net capital assets being depreciated 69,652,336 73319 (1,172,391) (1,006) 68,552,258
market countries and utilize investments across the capitalization spectrum from large to . . . . s
) . . . ) : 81,524,091 73319 391,754 1,006 81,204,650
small companies. The fair values of the investments in this class have been estimated Net capital assets ; ) (1.008)
using the net asset value per share of the investments. Bl
alance
. . . . September 30,
The real estate investment trust funds class includes investments in funds whose Balance ) " ! epremper
N . ) . Business-type Activities October 1,2016 _Reclassifications Additions Disposals 2017
objective is to operate a core portfolio of real estate investments predominately located
B B Fa i B i H Capital assets not being depreciated
in the U.S. The funds acquire owr{er.shlp in underlying |nv¢?stments e|the.r through direct e $ 3523844 § . s . s - s 3,523,844
real estate ownership or ownership in real estate companies or the equity of real estate Canital assets beine deareciated
. . . . - - apital assets being depreciated:
investment trusts. The funds predominantly target purchases in office, industrial, retail, Buildings and improvements 1,181,215 . . - 1,181,215
or multifamily real estate classes. The fair value of the investments in this class have been Machinery and equipment 4291,769 - y (170,191 4121578
. ! ) Land improvements 3,608,535 - 283 - 3,608,818
estimated using the net asset value per share of the investments.
Subtotal 9,081,519 - 283 (170,191) 8911611
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements 1,169,940 9.232 282 - 1,179,454
Machinery and equipment 4,291,858 9.232) 3,025 (169,906) 4,115,745
Land improvements 3,143,055 - 52,225 - 3,195,280
Subtotal 8,604,853 - 55,532 (169,906) 8,490,479
Net capital assets being depreciated 476,666 - (55.249) (285) 421,132
Net capital assets $ 4000510 $ -8 (55.249) $ (285) $ 3,944,976
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Note 5 - Capital Assets (Continued) Note 6 - Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers
Depreciation expense was charged to programs of the primary government as follows: The composition of interfund balances is as follows:
Governm?ntal 'aCtiVitieS:. Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
fdmlglsftraﬂon ofjus::jlcg ity P K $ I’g;;‘gg Due to/from Other Funds
aw En orce.ment an ommunity Protection ’ General Fund Delinquent taxes $ 2,762,659
Human Services 393,173 Nonmajor governmental funds 2,043,401
Community Enrichment and Development 296,185 -
General Support Services 100,333 Total General Fund 4,806,060
Other 1,541,481 County Health General Fund 4,000,000
Internal service fund depreciation is charged to the various functions Nonmajor governmental funds 461,926
based on their usage of the assets 777,175
- Total County Health 4,461,926
iviti 5,155,387
Total governmental activities $ Genesee County Community Action
Business-type activities - Parks and Recreation $ 55,532 Resource Department Nonmajor governmental funds 118,709
In addition, land with an approximate value of $5,000,000 used by Parks and Recreation Nonmajor governmental funds gzr::lr::;%evelopment 99223;:
is leased at nominal costs from the Nature Conservatory and the City of Flint, Michigan Delinquent taxes 28:970
under long-term arrangements. Nonmajor enterprise funds 2,274
Nonmajor governmental funds 1,874,593

Total nonmajor

governmental funds 11,969,059

Delinquent Taxes General Fund 742,479

Nonmajor governmental funds 1,513,557

Total Delinquent Taxes 2,256,036

Internal Service Funds General Fund 2,441,240
Genesee County Community

Action Resource Department 3,150,000

Nonmajor governmental funds 497,519

Delinquent Taxes 21,971

Nonmajor enterprise funds 14,878

Internal Service Funds __ 4901,9%
Total Internal Service

Funds 11,027,604

Total $ 34,639,394
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Note 6 - Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers (Continued) Note 6 - Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers (Continued)
Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount Interfund transfers reported in the fund financial statements are composed of the
following:
Advances from/to Other Funds ofowing
Primary government - General Fund Primary government - Internal Transfers In Transfers Out Amount
Service Fund - Vehicles and
equipment $ 515,181 General Fund Nonmajor governmental funds  $ 3,189,376
Delinquent taxes 3,000,000
Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount Nonmajor enterprise funds 225,000
Due to/from Primary Government and Component Units Total General Fund 6,414,376
Primary government Component unit - Drains $ 63,649 County Health General Fund 2,749,232
Primary government - Hughes & Nonmajor governmental funds 461,926
Hatcher Debt Service Fund C t unit - Land Bank
aleher mebtservice an °:uiz2f;y””' and =an | 565.000 Total County Health 3,211,158
Component unit - Land Bank Primary government - Genesee County Community
Authority Community Development 10,859 Action Resource Department
(GCCARD) General Fund 700,000
Note - The interfund receivables/payables exist due to the fact that the County uses a
pooled cash management account for substantially all funds. Nonmajor governmental funds General Fund 14,947,922
Genesee County Community
Long-term Advances: Long-term ad\'/a'n.ces frqm the 'Gc'an'e'ral Fund 'to other funds are Action Resource Department
commonly méde to finance new activities during their initial operations. General Fund (GCCARD) 337,160
fund balance‘ is reserved for ‘such advances to reflect the amount of fund balance not Nonmajor enterprise funds 10,453
currently available for expenditure. Nonmajor governmental funds 1,428,084
The due to Hughes & Hatcher from Genesee County Land Bank was for improvements .
f the Land Bank C d wil October I, 2024 and is paid in yearl Total nonmajor
o .t e Land Ban er'mter and wil r'natL'lre on October 1, 024 and is paid in yearly governmental funds 16,723,619
principal and interest installments with interest at rates ranging from 4.75 percent to
5.75 percent. Nonmajor enterprise funds General Fund 660,000

j 653,850
The due to Genesee County Land Bank Authority from Community Development is Nonmajor governmental funds 633,859

related to payments owed to the authority as of year end. Total nonmajor
enterprise funds 1,313,850
Internal Service Funds General Fund 253
Nonmajor governmental funds 475,000
Total Internal Service
Funds _ 475053
Total $ 28,838,256

Transfers between funds were primarily for operating purposes.
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Note 7 - Long-term Debt

Long-term debt of the County is as follows:

Beginning Balance Additions
Governmental Activities

Internal Service Fund Equipment

Notes $ 154739 $ - $
Capital Improvement Bonds 2011,

Proceeds were used to

renovate various County buildings 400,000 -
2.9% Genesee County Refunding

Bonds; Bonds maturing on or

prior to May |, 2022 shall not be

subject to redemption prior

to maturity. Bonds maturing on or

after May |, 2022 may be

subject to prior redemption 3,075,000 -
JCl Energy Bonds 2010; Debt was

issued to perform numerous

energy efficiency improvements

on most county buildings 6,375,784 -
4.75% to 5.7% Genesee County

Bonds Series 2004-B Capital

Improvement Bonds; Bonds

maturing before April 1, 2014 not

subject to redemption prior to

maturity 1,620,000 -
3.00% to 5.00% Genesee County

Refunding Bonds; Bonds maturing

on or prior to May I, 2015 shall

not be subject to redemption

prior to maturity. Bonds maturing

on or after May |, 2016 may be

subject to prior redemption 4,510,000 -
6.34% Capital Improvement Bonds,

Series 2008; Bonds maturing on or

prior to November 1, 2018 may

not be subject to redemption

prior to maturity 345,000 -

Reductions

(154,739)

(80,000)

(475,000)

(460,000)

(55,000)

(1,430,000)

(115,000)

Ending Balance

$ -

320,000

2,600,000

5,915,784

1,565,000

3,080,000

230,000

Due Within
One Year

80,000

500,000

490,000

55,000

1,505,000

115,000

Total 16,480,523 -

Compensated absences 3,906,363 2,474,794

(2,769,739)
(3,451,728)

13,710,784

2,929,429

2,745,000

2,434,175

Total governmental

activities $ 20386886 $ 2474794 $

(6,221,467)

@

16,640,213

$ 5179175

Beginning
Balance Additions
Business-type Activities

Delinquent Tax Fund - Variable rate

delinquent tax notes $ 37370000 $ 34,990,000 $

Reductions

(32,370,000

Ending Balance

$ 39,990,000

Due Within

One Year

$ 9,000,000
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Genesee County, Michigan lends its full faith and credit for bond issues that are repaid
through special assessments. The County is not obligated in any manner for special
assessment debt. The amount of special assessment debt is detailed within the notes for
the component unit under which the projects originated.

Delinquent property taxes receivable are pledged as collateral for the repayment of the
outstanding delinquent tax notes (see Note I).

Typically, the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds liquidate liability for
compensated absences and governmental debt.

The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the obligations outstanding at
September 30, 2017 are as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Years Ending
September 30 Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total
2018 $ 2,745,000 $ 657,725 $ 3,402,725 $ 9,000,000 $ - $ 9,000,000
2019 2,875,000 525,694 3,400,694 30,990,000 - 30,990,000
2020 1,240,000 391,022 1,631,022 - - -
2021 1,300,000 236,154 1,536,154 - - -
2022 1,280,000 278,335 1,558,335 - - -
2023-2027 3,345,784 605,492 3,951,276 - - -
2028-2032 530,000 206,625 736,625 - - -
2033-2036 395,000 45,885 440,885 - - -
Total $ 13,710,784  $ 2946932 § 16,657,716  $ 39,990,000 $ - $ 39,990,000

By statute, the County's general obligation debt is restricted to 10 percent of the
equalized value of all property in the County. Certain obligations, such as special
assessment notes, are not subject to this limitation. At September 30, 2017, the
County's debt limit amounted to $1,082,107,149 and indebtedness subject to the
limitation aggregated $155,803,951.
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Note 8 - Contingencies, Claims, Risk Management, and Litigation

There are various legal actions pending against the County. Management has evaluated
the likely outcome of various actions and has concluded that it is not appropriate to
record any amount as a liability at September 30, 2016.

The County is totally self-insured for workers' compensation for all losses, up to
$500,000 each occurrence, and self-insured for property and liability insurance claims up
to $50,000 and $350,000, respectively, for specific losses. The County is insured for the
amount of claims in excess of such limitation to a maximum of replacement cost for
property and $20,000,000 for liability claims. The County is self-insured for claims in
excess of these insurance coverages. The County is also self-insured for the first $50,000
of catastrophic coverage for auto physical damage per location. The County is exposed
to various risks of loss related to property loss, torts, errors and omissions, and
employee injuries (workers' compensation), as well as medical benefits provided to
employees.

The County paid losses within its self-insured retention through an Internal Service
Fund. Net position for this fund as of September 30, 2017 was $7,931,108, with
$4,019,421 accrued as a liability for incurred losses and expenses. An actuarial study
projected a required reserve of $0.0 million for 2017. The County's risk manager
provides employee accident prevention training and various risk-control techniques
through a continuing education program. There were no reductions in reinsurance
coverage or settlements in excess of insurance coverage over the past three years.

A reconciliation of the claims liability for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016
is as follows:

2017 2016
Claims liability (beginning of year) $ 4,127,380 $ 3,912,816
Claims incurred during the period 2,138,182 1,857,239
Changes in estimate for claims of prior periods (517,792) 364,434
Payments on claims (1,728,349) (2,007,109)
Claims liability (end of year) $ 4019421 $ 4,127,380

Several complaints for alleged discriminatory employment practices have also been filed
against the County.

A portion of the fund balance of the General Fund has been assigned to provide for a
possible loss resulting from the unfavorable outcome of any claims and litigation. See
the General Fund balance sheet.
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Note 8 - Contingencies, Claims, Risk Management, and Litigation

(Continued)

The County provides a funding mechanism for the payment of the costs of
pharmaceuticals and medical insurance for employees. The County contracts with a
third-party administrator to provide claims processing with the cost of the claims
reimbursed from these funds. Net position for this fund as of September 30, 2017 was
$2,029,173, with $278,208 accrued as a liability for incurred losses and expenses.

A reconciliation of the claims liability for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016
is as follows:

2017
Total
Medical Pharmacy Insurance
Claims liability (beginning of year) $ 115,700 $ 25,500 $ 141,200
Claims incurred during the period (1,646,141) (2,568,250) (4,214,391)
Payments on claims 1,784,624 2,566,775 4,351,399
Claims liability (end of year) $ 254,183 $ 24,025 $ 278,208
2016
Total
Medical Pharmacy Insurance
Claims liability (beginning of year) $ 112,600 $ 21,200 $ 133,800
Claims incurred during the period (799,901) (2,100,496) (2,900,397)
Payments on claims 803,001 2,104,796 2,907,797
Claims liability (end of year) $ 115,700 $ 25,500 $ 141,200

Note 9 - Retirement Plans - Defined Benefit Plan

Plan Description - The County administers a contributory agent multiemployer
defined benefit pension plan known as the Genesee County Employees' Retirement
System (GCERS or the "System"). The plan is included as a pension trust fund in the
County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. GCERS issues a publicly available
annual financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the System as a whole. This report can be obtained from the retirement
coordinator at the County's administrative offices, located at 1101 Beach Street, Flint,
MI 48502 or on the State of Michigan's website.
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans - Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

GCERS was organized pursuant to Section 12a of Act 156, State of Michigan Public Acts
of 1851 (MSA 5.33(1); MCLA 46.12a), as amended. GCERS was established by
ordinance in 1946, beginning with general county employees and the County Road
Commission. Genesee County Water and Waste Services joined the System in 1956,
Genesee County Community Mental Health joined in 1966, the City of Mt. Morris,
Michigan in 1969, and the Genesee District Library in 1980. GCERS is regulated under
the Genesee County Employees' Retirement System Ordinance, the sections of which
have been approved by the State of Michigan Pension Commission. All new-hire general
County and Community Mental Health employees hired after November 20, 2017 may
only join the defined contribution plan.

Benefits Provided - The System provides certain retirement, disability, and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. PA 427 of 1984, as amended, established
and amends the benefit provisions of the participants in GCERS.

The GCERS plan covers union and nonunion county employees.

The plan provides for vesting of benefits after eight years of service. Generally,
participants may elect normal retirement with 20 to 25 years of credited service,
regardless of age, or at age 60 with eight or more years of credited service. Retirement
benefits vary by employer group and are payable monthly. Generally, the retirement
benefit is equal to the employee's final average compensation times the sum of 2.4 - 2.5
percent for each year of credited service. All employers allow members to elect a
deferred annuity providing a lifetime benefit. The length of service required to elect the
deferred annuity is either 8 or |5 years, depending on the date of employment and
employer group.

Benefit terms provide for annual cost-of-living adjustments to each employee's
retirement allowance subsequent to the employee's retirement date. The annual
adjustments are between 1.75 and 3 percent, noncompounding.

Benefit terms, within the parameters established by GCERS, are generally established
and amended by authority of the County Commissioners, generally after negotiations of
these terms with the affected unions. The covered employees' benefit terms may be
subject to binding arbitration in certain circumstances.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms - At the December 31, 2016 measurement
date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 1,005
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 26
Active plan members 170
Total employees covered by GCERS 1,201
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans - Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

Contributions - Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan constitution requires that
financial benefits arising on account of employee service rendered in each year be
funded during that year. Accordingly, GCERS retains an independent actuary to
determine the annual contribution. The employer is required to contribute amounts at
least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as established by the GCERS retirement
board. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the
costs of benefits earned by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to
finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer may establish contribution rates to
be paid by its covered employees.

For the year ended September 30, 2017, the active employee contribution rate was
between 5.0 and 9.0 percent of annual pay, and the County's level dollar contribution
was $9,042,317.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability reported at September 30, 2017 was determined using a
measure of the total pension liability and the pension net position as of December 31,
2016. The December 31, 2016 total pension liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation performed as of that date.

Changes in the net pension liability during the measurement year were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Net Net Pension

Changes in Net Pension Liability Liability Position Liability
Balance at December 31, 2015 $412,628,621 $227,521,358 $185,107,263
Service cost 3,462,442 - 3,462,442
Interest 22,270,704 - 22,270,704
Differences between expected and

actual experience (13,052,891) - (13,052,891)
Changes in assumptions (10,317,917) - (10,317,917)
Contributions - Employer - 9,635,562 (9,635,562)
Contributions - Employee - 962,642 (962,642)

Net investment income - 17,999,919  (17,999,919)
Benefit payments, including refunds (27,615,228)  (27,615,228) -
- (214,399) 214,399

Administrative expenses
Miscellaneous other charges - 6,456 (6,456)
Net changes (25,252,890) 774,952 (26,027,842)

Balance at December 31, 2016 $387,375,731 $228,296,310 $159,079,421

Net pension liabilities related to the component units are disclosed in Note 20.
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans - Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

Assumption Changes - As of the measurement date, December 31, 2016, the
discount rate used by GCERS was updated to 6.07 percent. This change in assumptions
changed the total pension liability as noted in the table above.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended September 30, 2017, the County recognized pension expense of
$15,877,084. At September 30, 2017, the County reported deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following
sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience  $ - $ (2,175,482)
Changes in assumptions - (1,719,653)
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 3,395,350 -
Employer contributions to the plan subsequent to the
measurement date 6,130,818 -
Total $ 9,526,168 $ (3,895,135)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows. These amounts are
exclusive of the employer contributions to the plan made subsequent to the
measurement date of $6,130,818, which will impact the net pension liability in fiscal year
2017, rather than pension expense.

Years Ending

September 30 Amount
2018 $ (2,374,378)
2019 1,520,756
2020 1,519,519
2021 (1,165,682)
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans - Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.0%

Salary increases 3%-7.03% Across the board increases along
with merit and longevity increases
that range from .17 percent up to
4.03 percent

Discount rate 6.07%

Mortality rates were based on the RP 2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table
projected to 2014.

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.07
percent. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that
employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially
determined contribution rates and the employee rate.

Projected Cash Flows

Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was not projected
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and
inactive employees; therefore, the discount rate incorporates both the assumed rate of
return of 8.0 percent and a municipal bond rate, which was 3.71 percent. The source of
that bond rate was the S&P Muni Bond 20-year high-grade index.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined
using a model in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed
for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The nominal long-
term expected rate of return for the plan as a whole was 8.0 percent. The target
allocation by class is as follows:

Target
Asset Class Allocation (%)
U.S. equities active or passive 37 %
Non-U.S. equities 18
Domestic fixed income 25
Commercial real estate 18
Cash equivalents 2
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans - Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The
following presents the net pension liability of the County, calculated using the discount
rate of 6.07 percent, as well as what the County’s net pension liability would be if it
were calculated using a discount rate that is | percentage point lower (5.07 percent) or
| percentage point higher (7.07 percent) than the current rate:

| Percent Current | Percent
Decrease Discount Rate Increase
(5.07%) (6.07%) (7.07%)

Net pension liability of the County $201,015,890 $159,079,421 $123,701,857

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the plan's fiduciary
net position is available in the separately issued financial report. For the purpose of
measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
or resources related to pension, and pension expense, information about the plan's
fiduciary net position and addition, to/deductions from fiduciary net position has been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plan. The plan uses the
economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting.
Investments are stated at fair value. Contribution revenue is recorded as contributions
are due pursuant to legal requirements. Benefit payments and refunds of employee
contributions are recognized as expense when due and payable in accordance with the
benefit terms.

Note 10 - Defined Contribution Pension Plan

The County offers a defined contribution pension plan as an alternative to the defined
benefit pension plan. The International City Managers Association (ICMA) Retirement
Corporation administers the plan, and the County Board of Commissioners has
authority over plan provisions and contribution requirements. All employees are eligible
to participate in this plan, if not participating in the defined benefit plan.

The County is required to contribute 8 percent to 10 percent of eligible employees'
annual covered payroll, and employees are required to contribute either 3 percent or 7
percent of covered payroll. Employees are fully vested after five years of service.
During the year ended September 30, 2017, employer and employee contributions to
the plan were $3,339,795 and $1,958,985, respectively.
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Note || - Other Postemployment Benefits

Plan Description - Genesee County, Michigan provides other postemployment
benefits (medical, optical, dental, and life insurance) to County retirees who meet
eligibility requirements. This is a single-employer defined benefit plan administered by
the County. The benefits are provided under collective bargaining agreements to union
employees and by resolution of the County Board of Commissioners for employees not
covered under collective bargaining agreements. The valuation for this benefit plan has
been conducted in accordance with generally accepted actuarial principles and practices.
Data concerning active members, retirees, and beneficiaries was provided by Genesee
County, Michigan. This plan does not issue separate stand-alone financial statements.

Funding Policy - The County performed an actuarial valuation of the other
postemployment benefits liability for the year ended September 30, 2016. At that time,
the liability was determined to be $341,629,201 with the computed contribution as a
percentage of payroll (based on 30-year amortization of the unfunded liability) to be
75.06 percent or $18,883,352.

Funding Progress - For the year ended September 30, 2017, the County has estimated
the cost of providing retiree healthcare benefits through an actuarial valuation as of
September 30, 2016. The valuation computes an annual required contribution, which
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover
normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not
to exceed 30 years. This valuation's computed contribution and actual funding are
summarized as follows:

Annual required contribution (recommended) $ 18,883,352
Interest on the prior year's net OPEB obligation 3,796,345
Less adjustment to the annual required contribution (3,191,757)
Annual OPEB cost 19,487,940
Amounts contributed:
Payments of current premiums (6,937,061)
Advance funding -
Increase in net OPEB obligation 12,550,879
OPEB obligation - Beginning of year 63,272,417
OPEB obligation - End of year $ 75,823,296
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Note 11 - Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Employer contributions and annual OPEB cost data for the current and two preceding

years were as follows:
Employer Contributions

Annual Percentage Percentage
Fiscal Year Actuarial Required Annual OPEB of ARC OPEB Costs Net OPEB
Ended Valuation Date ~ Contribution Costs Contributed  Contributed Obligation
9/30/17 9/30/16 $ 18,883,352 $ 19,487,940 36.7 % 35.6 % $ 75,823,296
9/30/16 9/30/16 18,883,352 19,374,179 39.5 385 63,272,417
9/30/15 9/30/14 19,066,021 19,449,474 43.1 422 51,366,964

The funding progress of the plan is as follows:

Actuarial Actuarial UAAL as a
Value of Accrued Unfunded AAL  Funded Ratio Covered Percentage of
Actuarial Assets Liability (AAL) (UAAL) (Percent) Payroll Covered
Valuation Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) Payroll
9/30/16 $32,821,620 $341,629,201 $308,807,581 9.6 % $ 25,157,676 1,227.5 %
9/30/14 41,485,721 344,160,043 302,674,322 12.1 33,343,864 907.7
9/30/13 43,313,587 308,208,023 264,894,436 14.1 36,987,137 716.2

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve
estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of
occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and healthcare cost trends. Amounts determined regarding the
funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and
new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan
(the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members), which is formally
detailed in the collective bargaining agreements and County Board resolutions. These
collective bargaining agreements and resolutions include the types of benefits provided
at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs
between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-
term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent
with the long-term perspectives of the calculations.
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Note |1 - Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

In the September 30, 2016 actuarial valuation, the individual entry age actuarial cost
method was used. The actuarial assumptions included a 6 percent investment rate of
return (net of expenses), which is the expected long-term investment return on plan
assets, and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8 percent in year one, decreasing by
0.5 percent annually until year nine, and then remaining at 4 percent. The UAAL is being
amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open basis. The remaining
amortization period at September 30, 2017 was 30 years.

Note 12 - OPEB Plan

Plan Administration - The County administers the Genesee County OPEB Plan (the
"Plan") a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan that is used to provide
postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB) for various classes of employees.

Plan Membership - At September 30, 2017, plan membership consisted of the

following:

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 1,158

Active plan members 568
Total 1,126

Benefits Provided - The County provides retiree medical, optical, dental, and life
insurance benefits to county retirees who meet eligibility requirements. The benefits are
provided under collective bargaining agreements to union employees and by resolution
of the County Board of Commissioners for employees not covered under collective
bargaining agreements.

Contributions - The board retains an independent actuary to determine the annual
contribution. For the year ended September 30, 2017, the County contributed
$7,834,649.
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Note 12 - OPEB Plan (Continued)

OPEB Plan Investments

Investment Policy - The Plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is
established and may be amended by the board by a majority vote of its members. It is
the policy of the board to pursue an investment strategy that reduces risk through the
prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset classes.
The Plan’s investment policy discourages the use of cash equivalents, except for liquidity
purposes, and aims to refrain from dramatically shifting asset class allocations over short
time spans. The following was the board’s adopted asset allocation policy as of
September 30, 2017:

Target

Asset Class Allocation (%)

Domestic equity 40.00 %
Domestic bonds 35.00
Real estate 10.00
Alternative assets 15.00

Net OPEB Liability

The County reports OPEB expense based on funding requirements, as directed by
GASB Statement No. 45. Beginning next year, the County will adopt GASB Statement
No. 75, which will require the measurement of OPEB expense as it is earned, rather
than as it is funded.

The components of the net OPEB liability at September 30, 2017 (based on information
as of September 30, 2016 rolled forward to September 30, 2017) were as follows:

Total OPEB liability $ 545,797,591
Plan fiduciary net position 25,510,597
Net OPEB liability $ 520,286,994
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 5%
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Note 12 - OPEB Plan (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30,
2017. The valuation used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 1.75 %

Healthcare cost trend rate 7.50 % Graded to 4.5 percent over six
years

Salary increases 1.75 %

Investment rate of return 7.50 % Net of OPEB plan investment

expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2017 Total Dataset Mortality Table projected
fully generationally using Scale MP-2017.

Assumption Changes - As of the measurement date, the discount rate used was
updated to 3.6 percent and the mortality tables were updated to the RPH-2017 tables.
This change in assumptions changed the total OPEB liability as noted in the table above.

Actuarial Assumptions - The total OPEB liability was determined by utilizing an
actuary as of September 30, 2017, using the following assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Expected Point in Time at Which Benefit Payments Will Begin to be Made - Based on the
historical average retirement age for the covered group, active plan members were
assumed to retire at age 62, or at the first subsequent year in which the member would
qualify for benefits.

Marital Status and Dependency Status - Marital status of members at the calculation date
was assumed to continue throughout retirement.

Mortality - Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2017 Total Dataset Mortality Table
projected fully generationally using Scale MP-2017.

Turnover - Nongroup-specific age-based turnover data from GASB Statement No. 74
were used as the basis for assigning active members a probability of remaining employed
until the assumed retirement age and for developing an expected future working
lifetime assumption for the purpose of allocating to periods the present value of total
benefits to be paid.
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Note 12 - OPEB Plan (Continued)

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate - The initial trend rate was based on a combination of
employer history, national trend surveys, and professional judgment. The ultimate trend
rate was selected based on historical medical CPI information. A rate of 7.5 percent
initially, reduced to an ultimate rate of 4.5 percent after seven years, was used.

Health Insurance Premiums - 2017 health insurance premiums for retirees were used as
the basis for calculation of the present value of total benefits to be paid.

Inflation Rate - The expected long-term inflation assumption was 1.75 percent.

Payroll Growth Rate - The expected long-term payroll growth rate was assumed to equal
the rate of inflation.

Investment Rate of Return - The investment rate of return was assumed to be 7.5
percent, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation.

Rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using
a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of
return (expected returns, net of OPEB plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by
the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of
arithmetic real rates of return as of September 30, 2017 for each major asset class
included in the target asset allocation are summarized in the following table.

Long-term
Expected Real
Asset Class Rate of Return
Domestic equity 7.50 %
Domestic bonds 2.50
Real estate 4.50
Alternative assets 5.09

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.60
percent. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that
employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and employer
contributions will be made at rates equal to 20 percent of eligible employee's payroll.

The discount rate used on the beginning of year balance was 3.10 percent. All other
assumptions were the same for the beginning of the year and end of the year net OPEB
liability.
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Note 12 - OPEB Plan (Continued)

Projected Cash Flows

Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was not projected
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and
inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate incorporates a municipal bond rate,
which was between 3.06 percent and 3.50 percent. The source of that bond rate was
Bond Buyer Go 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index, S&P Municipal Bond 20-Year High
Grade Rate Index, and Fidelity 20-Year Go Municipal Bond Index. The long-term
expected rate of return was applied to projected benefit payments from 2018-2047 and
the municipal bond rate was applied to the remaining periods.

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The
following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate of 3.6
percent, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is | percentage point lower (2.6 percent) or | percentage point
higher (4.6 percent) than the current rate:

| Percent Current | Percent
Decrease Discount Rate Increase
(2.6%) (3.6%) (4.6%)
Net OPERB liability of the County $622,087,891 $520,286,994 $440,986,790

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend
Rates - The following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the healthcare
cost trend rate of 7.5 percent, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is | percentage point lower (6.5
percent, decreasing to 3.5 percent) or | percentage point higher (8.5 percent,
decreasing to 5.5 percent) than the current rate:

Current
| Percent Healthcare | Percent
Decrease Cost Trend Increase
(6.5% Rate (7.5% (8.5%
Decreasingto Decreasingto Decreasing to
3.5%) 4.5%) 5.5%)
Net OPEB liability of the County $436,530,922 $520,286,994 $627,858,232
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Note 13 - Pension and Employees' Fringe Benefit (VEBA) Trust Funds

General
Employees Employees'
Retirement  Fringe Benefit
System (VEBA) Total

Statement of net position:

Cash and investments $439,510,547 $ 26,718,287 $466,228,834

Other assets 3,684,787 344,397 4,029,184

Liabilities (11,503,237) (1,552,088)  (13,055,325)
Net position $431,692,097 $ 25,510,596 $457,202,693
Statement of changes in net position:

Investment income $ 33,714,027 $ 1,272,719 $ 34,986,746

Contributions 20,838,761 8,427,888 29,266,649

Benefit payments (45,134,255)  (15,913,779)  (61,048,034)

Other (decreases) increases (912,665) 46,716 (865,949)

Change in net position $ 8505868 $ (6,166,456) $ 2,339.412

Note 14 - Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources

At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of deferred inflows of
resources are as follows:

Governmental

Funds
Property taxes unavailable $ 1,887,675
Long-term receivable 1,609,299
Revenue in grant funds not collected in allotted time period 22,176,400
Total governmental funds deferred inflows $ 25,673,374
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Note 15 - Karegnondi Water Authority

Karegnondi Water Authority (KWA) was formed in 2013 for the purpose of constructing
a new raw water supply system (the "System"). Effective August |, 2013, the County
entered into an agreement with KWA and the City of Flint, Michigan (the "Agreement")
to issue debt to acquire, construct, and operate the System, which is expected to be
operational in 2018. The debt will not exceed $300,000,000. The County's share of the
debt is 65.8 percent or an amount not to exceed $197,400,000, and the City of Flint,
Michigan's (Flint) share of the debt is 34.2 percent or an amount not to exceed
$102,600,000. As of September 30, 2015 and 2016, the KWA debt outstanding was as

follows:
County's share $ 194,024,460
Flint's share 100,845,540

Tota $ 2945870,000

The County and the City of Flint, Michigan expect to make their respective payments of
principal and interest on the bonds from revenue collected from charges imposed on the
customers of their respective water supply systems. The County and the City of Flint,
Michigan have each pledged their limited tax full faith and credit for the payment of their
respective bond obligations and are obligated to levy ad valorem taxes on all taxable
property within their boundaries for such purpose, subject to applicable constitutional,
statutory, and charter tax limitations as to rate and amount.

If Flint fails to pay any of its obligations on the bonds, the County is obligated under its
contract with KWA to make such payments within one day of being notified of Flint's
failure to pay. If the County is required to make a payment for Flint under the
Agreement and KWA recovers any funds from the pursuit of its remedies under its raw
water supply contract with Flint, KWA shall reimburse the County from such funds for
any payments made. Also, to the extent permitted by law, the capacity that Flint
acquired in the System pursuant to its raw water supply contract shall be transferred to
the County until Flint has repaid the County for any additional payments made by the
County for each month or fraction thereof that the payments remain unpaid after the
due date of the amount paid by the County as a result of Flint to fulfill its payment
obligations under the Agreement.

KWA has retained the services of Water and Waste Services Division (the "Division") to
administer the design and construction of the raw water supply system. In addition, it is
expected that KWA will contract with the Division for operation and maintenance of the
raw water supply system after the system is completed and operational. KWA has no
employees of its own, with all current and future services expected to be rendered by
the Division's employees.
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Note 15 - Karegnondi Water Authority (Continued)

The Division has entered into certain contracts with the Authority as a local unit so as to
acquire a supply of raw water. This raw water supply system is expected to come on
line in 2018 and will allow the Division to cease purchasing finished water from the
Detroit Water and Sewerage Department (DWSD), currently done so via contract with
the City of Flint, Michigan.

In August 2013, the Division entered into a Water Purchase Contract with KWA which
provides the Division with 42 million gallons per day of capacity, out of a total KWA
capacity of 60 million gallons per day. This arrangement in effect means the Division will
provide KWA with 70 percent of its total operating revenue over the coming years.

The County is also a voting member of KWA. The County joined KWA in 2013 based on
the expectation that the purchase of water for the County will be more economical in
the future than continuing to purchase water from the DWSD.

Complete financial statements of KWA can be obtained from the Division’s
administrative office.

Note 16 - Nonexchange Financial Guarantees

In September 2016, the County guaranteed the 30-year $56,895,000 revenue bond
issuance of the Water Treatment Facility (16-03) through the Genesee County Drain
Commission Division of the Water and Waste Services, a legally separate district located
within Genesee County, Michigan. The bonds mature annually in December with annual
interest payments. In the event that the Genesee County Drain Commission Division of
the Water and Waste Services is unable to make a payment, the County will be required
to make that payment. As of September 30, 2017, Genesee County Drain Commission
Division of the Water and Waste Services expects to pay principal payments on bonds
from revenue collected from charges imposed on the customers of the water supply
system, and no liability is reported on the County's financial statements.

Note 17 - Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment  Benefits Other Than Pensions, which addresses reporting by
governments that provide postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB) to
their employees and for governments that finance OPEB for employees of other
governments. This OPEB standard will require the County to recognize on the face of
the financial statements its net OPEB liability related to its participation in the plan. The
statement also enhances accountability and transparency through revised note
disclosures and required supplemental information (RSI). The County is currently
evaluating the impact this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted.
The provisions of this statement are effective for the County's financial statements for
the year ending September 30, 2018.
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Note 17 - Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

In November 2016, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement
No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations, which establishes criteria for determining
the timing and pattern of recognition of a liability and a corresponding deferred outflow
of resources for asset retirement obligations. The County is currently evaluating the
impact this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted. The provisions
of this statement are effective for the County's financial statements for the year ending
September 30, 2019.

In January 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No.
84, Fiduciary Activities, which establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of
governments and improves guidance for accounting and financial reporting related to
how these activities should be reported. The County is currently evaluating the impact
this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted. The provisions of this
statement are effective for the County's financial statements for the year ending
September 30, 2020.

In March 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No.
85, Omnibus 2017, which addresses practice issues that have been identified during
implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. The statement addresses a
variety of topics, including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair
value measurement and application, and postemployment benefits (pension and other
postemployment benefits (OPEB)). The County is currently evaluating the impact this
standard will have on the financial statements when adopted. The provisions of this
statement are effective for the County's financial statements for the year ending
September 30, 2018.

In May 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 86,
Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues, which improves consistency in accounting and
financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by providing guidance for
transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only existing
resources - resources other than the proceeds of refunding debt - are placed in an
irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This statement also
improves accounting and financial reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is
extinguished and notes to financial statements for debt that is defeased in substance. The
County is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on the financial
statements when adopted. The provisions of this statement are effective for the
County's financial statements for the year ending September 30, 2018.
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Note 17 - Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

In June 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 87,
Leases, which improves accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments.
This statement requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that
previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or
outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a
single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are
financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this statement, a lessee is
required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a
lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources.
The County is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on the financial
statements when adopted. The provisions of this statement are effective for the
County's financial statements for the year ending September 30, 2021.

Note 18 - Tax Abatements

The County receives reduced property tax revenue as a result of Industrial Facilities Tax
exemptions (PA 198 of 1974) and Brownfield Redevelopment Agreements granted by
cities, villages, and townships within the County. Industrial facility exemptions are
intended to promote construction of new industrial facilities, or to rehabilitate historical
facilities; Brownfield redevelopment agreements are intended to reimburse taxpayers
that remediate environmental contamination on their properties.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, the County's property tax revenue was
reduced by $475,680 under these programs.

There are no significant abatements made by other governments that reduce the
County's tax revenue.

Note 19 - Related Party Transactions

The Genesee County Board of Commissioners appoints a voting majority of Genesee
Health Services which is a separate legal entity. The County is not financially accountable
for the organization, but did provide support in the amount of $106,276 in the current
fiscal year.
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES
Deposits and Investments:
All of the County's component unit deposits and investments are governed by the following:

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes local governmental units to make deposits and invest
in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The County's
component units are allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other direct obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality of
the United States; repurchase agreements; bankers’ acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two highest
classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions,
which are rated as investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by local units of
government in Michigan.

The Road Commission has designated two banks for the deposit of its funds. The investment policy adopted by the board of each component
unit is in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997. All component unit deposits and investment policies are in accordance with statutory authority.
The cash and investments of component units are subject to the same types of risks as detailed in Note 4. These risks are examined in more
detail below:

Custodial credit risk of bank deposits - None of the component units have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the Road
Commission had $31,884,493 of bank deposits (checking and high balance savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. At year
end, the Economic Development Corporation had $336,792 of bank deposits (checking and high balance savings accounts) that were uninsured
and uncollateralized. At year end, the Water and Waste Services Division had $25,990,177 of bank deposits (checking and high balance savings
accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. At year end, the Drain Commission had no bank deposits (checking and high balance
savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. At year end, the Land Bank Authority had $5,268,104 of bank deposits (checking
and savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. At year end, the Brownfield Authority did not have any bank deposits (checking
and savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. At year end, the Storm Water Management System had $25,346 of bank
deposits (checking and savings accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized.

KWA (component unit of Water and Waste Services) had $17,942,717 of bank deposits subject to custodial credit risk (uninsured and
uncollateralized).
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

ROAD COMMISSION:

Restricted Assets: Cash and cash equivalents are restricted for escrow deposits in the amount of $837,234 and for Priority Roads Investment
Program of $11,123,042. The Priority Roads Investment Program funds are monies received in advance of expenditures that are restricted for
specific projects based on contract language. Therefore, they are reported as restricted assets and unearned revenue at year end.

Long-term Debt: The long-term debt for the Genesee County Road Commission is presented below:

Balance Balance

October 1, 2016 Additions Reductions September 30, 2017
MTF notes $ 2,620,000 $ $(1,360,000) $ 1,260,000
Recovery Zone Bond 2,555,000 615,000 1,940,000
Total notes and leases 5,175,000 (1.975,000) 3,200,000
Compensated absences 1,135,775 584,620 __ (532,666 1,187,729
Total long-term debt $ 6,310,775 $ 584,620 $(2,507,666) $ 4,387,729

The outstanding bonds and notes payable at September 30, 2017, and matured interest thereon, are payable to the State of Michigan from the
proceeds of state-collected taxes returned to the Road Commission as Act 51 monies. In the case of default, the state treasurer is authorized to
withhold future disbursements of Act 51 monies due the Road Commission until the defaulted payments are recovered by the State.

For certain outstanding notes, special assessments have also been levied on specific properties abutting certain road improvements. The
collection of the assessments has been pledged as additional security for the payment of the bonds. The detail of general obligation bonds and
loans payable is shown below:

Annual Due
Principal Outstanding Within
Obligation Final Interest Rate Payment Balance One
Payables Payment Due or Range or Range Sept. 30, 2017 Year
Michigan Transportation Fund notes:
2007 Issue .......... September 30, 2017 4.00 $500,000-525,000
2008 Issue . August 1, 2018 3.75-4.00 $460,000-515,000 $ 515,000 $ 515,000
2009 Issue . August 1, 2019 2.50-3.30 $340,000-380,000 745,000 365,000
Total Notes 1,260,000 880,000
Recovery Zone Bond 2010 Issue ......... August 1, 2020 4.34 $600,000-665,000 1,940,000 630,000
Compensated absences 1,187,729 135,552

Annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the outstanding obligations at September 30, 2017 are as follows:

Long-term debt

Year Ending 9-30-2018.......... $1,639,016
9-30-2019 1,094,394
9-30-2020 693,861
Amount representing interest..... 227,271

$3.200,000

Act 143, Public Acts of State 1943, provides that total bonds and notes outstanding under this Act cannot exceed 40 percent of the sum of the
revenues derived from state collected taxes returned to the County for county road purposes for the last preceding five calendar years and not
specifically allocated for other purposes. As of September 30, 2017, the Road Commission is within the statutory limit of Act 143.

Future Revenues Pledged for Debt Payment: The Road Commission Board has irrevocably appropriated and pledged the money received
and to be received by the County from the Michigan Transportation Fund (the “Transportation Fund”) for highway and road purposes pursuant to
Act 51, Public Acts of Michigan, 1951, as amended (Act 51) to the extent necessary to pay the above principal of and interest on the Michigan
Transportation Notes. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the construction of the road projects. During the current year, Act 51
revenues were $27,985,432 compared to the annual debt requirements of $2,109,883.
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Property and Equipment: The following table summarizes the changes in the components of the Road Commission’s capital assets:

Balance
Balance September 30,
October 1, 2016 Adjustments Additions Disposals 2017
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
an $ 478,816 § - $ 255131 § - $ 733,947
Construction in progress 1,101,170 (1,072,853) 96,817 - 125,134
Other i assets 1,210 - - - 1.210
Subtotal 1,581,196 (1,072,853) 351,948 - 860,291
Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure - Roads 402,343,445 - 16,569,989 - 418,913,434
Infrastructure - Bridges 39,317,151 - 1,661,291 - 40,978,442
Buildings and improvements 11,922,157 811,698 411,249 - 13,145,104
Road equipment 29,136,254 239,550 1,856,230 (1,287,088) 29,944,946
Shop equipment 681,197 - 10,460 - 691,657
Office equipment 1,499,306 21,605 27,785 (49,224) 1,499,472
Engineering equipment 170,869 - 32,150 - 203,019
Land improvements 2,423,868 - 55,858 - 2,479,726
Yard and storage equipment 605,041 - - - 605,041
Subtotal 488,099,288 1,072,853 20,625,012 (1,336,312) 508,460,841
Accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure - Roads 260,588,133 - 13,734,703 - 274,322,836
Infrastructure - Bridges 11,064,104 - 1,148,315 - 12,212,419
Buildings and improvements 7,964,146 - 650,259 N 8,614,405
Road equipment 23,894,630 - 2,009,769 (1,266,998) 24,637,401
Shop equipment 463,653 - 31,940 - 495,593
Office equipment 1,265,441 - 121,486 (49,224) 1,337,703
Engineering equipment 111,920 - 10,639 - 122,559
Land improvements 1,000,618 - 123,153 - 1,123,771
Yard and storage equipment 539,568 - 10,608 - 550,176
Subtotal 306,892,213 - 17.840,872 (1,316.,222) 323,416,863
Net capital assets being
depreciated 181,207,075 1.072.853 2,784,140 (20,090) 185.043.978
Net capital assets $ 182788271 §$ - s 3,136,088 §$ (20,090) $ 185,904,269

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN -
PLAN DESCRIPTION

The Road Commission participates in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan (Genesee County Employees Retirement
System, also known as GCERS). The complete plan description is included in Note 9.

BENEFITS PROVIDED
The provided benefits are included in Note 9.
EMPLOYEES COVERED BY BENEFIT TERMS

At the December 31, 2016 measurement date, the following Road Commission employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 201
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 8
Active plan members 131
Total employees covered by GCERS 340

CONTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS
Details of contribution requirements are included in Note 9.

For the year ended September 30, 2017, the Road Commission's actuarially determined contribution rate was 23.57 percent of annual covered
payroll. Road Commission employees are required to contribute 1 to 6 percent of their annual covered payroll.

NET PENSION LIABILITY
The net pension liability reported at September 30, 2017 was determined using a measure of the total pension liability and the pension net

position as of December 31, 2016. The December 31, 2016 total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of that
date.
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Changes in the net pension liability during the year were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Net Pension
Changes in Net Pension Liability Liability Plan Net Position Liability
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 94,102,258 $ 54,850,833 $ 39,251,425
Service cost 1,797,650 - 1,797,650
Interest 5,130,417 - 5,130,417
Differences between expected and actual
experience (4,029,098) - (4,029,098)
Changes in assumptions 1,792,422 - 1,792,422
Contributions - Employer - 1,899,063 (1,899,063)
Contributions - Employee - 365,156 (365,156)
Net investment income - 4,338,995 (4,338,995)
Benefit payments (5,453,401) (5,453,401) -
Administrative expenses - (51,682) 51,682
Miscellaneous other charges (1.404) (1,404) -
Net changes (763.414) 1,096.727 (1,860,141)
Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 93,338,844 $ 55,947,560 $ 37,391,284

PENSION EXPENSE AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES RELATED TO PENSIONS

During the year, the Road Commission recognized pension expense of $8,692,784. At September 30, 2017, the Road Commission reported
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows  Deferred Inflows of

of Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 3,140,435 § 4,943,898
Changes in assumptions 11,905,764 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments 1,016,375 -
Employer contributions to the plan subsequent to the measurement date 1,326,636 -
Total $ 17,389,210 $ 4,943,898

The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, excluding the employer contributions to the plan made subsequent
to the measurement date of $1,326,636, will be recognized as pension expense as follows:

Year Ending

September 30 Amount
2018 $ 5,037,762
2019 4,465,510
2020 1,891,289
2021 (275,885)

The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources related to employer contributions to the plan made subsequent to the measurement date
of $1,326,636 will impact the net pension liability in fiscal year 2017/2018, as opposed to being amortized to pension expense over a period of
years.

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

Details of actuarial assumptions are included in Note 9.

SENSITIVITY OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY TO CHANGES IN THE DISCOUNT RATE

The following presents the Road Commission's net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 6.07%, as well as what the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (5.07%) or 1% higher (7.07%) than the current rate:

1 Percent Decrease  Current Discount 1 Percent Increase
(5.07%) Rate (6.07%) (7.07%)

Net pension liability of the Road Commission $ 47,965,701 $ 37,391,284 $ 28,400,702
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PENSION PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Details of the pension plan fiduciary net position are included in Note 9.
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS -

PLAN DESCRIPTION

The Road Commission provides retiree healthcare benefits to eligible employees and their spouses. This is a single-employer defined benefit
plan administered by the Road Commission. The benefits are provided under collective bargaining agreements.

FUND POLICY

The collective bargaining agreements require the Road Commission to pay the insurance premium/claim costs of the retiree and spouse until
death. The Road Commission obtains healthcare coverage for retirees through private insurers. Upon eligibility for Medicare, the Road
Commission will pay the difference between the plan costs and the amount covered by Medicare. The Road Commission has no obligation to
make contributions in advance of when the insurance premiums or claims are due for payment (in other words, this may be financed on a “pay-
as-you-go” basis).

FUNDING PROGRESS

For the year ended September 30, 2017, the Road Commission has estimated the cost of providing retiree healthcare benefits through an
actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2016. The valuation computes an annual required contribution, which represents a level of funding that,
if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to
exceed 30 years. This valuation’s computed contribution and actual funding are summarized as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30

2015 2016 2017
Annual OPEB Costs $ 2,659,054 $ 2,271,553 $ 2,129,826
Percentage contributed 200% 193% 223%
Net OPEB obligation (asset) $ (4615654) $ (6,725,058) $ (9,340,905)

The funding progress of the plan as of the most recent valuation date is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30

2014 2015 2016
Unfunded AAL $(42,584,913) $ (23,953,496) $ (16,668,489)
Actuarial value of plan assets 14,074,339 24,519,778 30,753,116
Actuarial accrued liability 56,659,252 48,473,274 47,421,405
Funded 25% 51% 65%
Annual covered payroll - September 30 8,713,876 8,866,075 8,346,912
Ratio of UAAL to covered payroll -489% -270% -200%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30
2015

2016 2017

Annual required contribution (recommended) $ 2633346 $ 2,213,323 $ 2,033,459
Interest on the prior year's net OPEB obligation (174,022) (346,174) (504,379)
Less adjustment to the annual required contribution 199,730 404,404 600,746

Annual OPEB cost 2,659,054 2,271,553 2,129,826
Amount contributed:

Payments of current premiums (3,031,334) (2,380,957) (2,745,673)

Advance funding (1,923,077) (2,000,000) (2,000,000)
Decrease in net OPEB obligation (2,295,357) (2,109,404) (2,615,847)
OPEB asset — Beginning of year (2,320,297) (4,615,654) (6,725,058)
OPEB asset — End of year $ (4,615,654) $ (6,725,058) $ (9,340,905)

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence
of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts
determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as
actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan
members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between
the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the
effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the
calculations.
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

In the September 30, 2016, actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial assumptions included a
7.5 percent investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), which is a blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on
plan assets and on the employer's own investments calculated based on the funded level of the plan at the valuation date, and an annual
healthcare cost trend rate of 8.0 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 4.5 percent after ten years. Both rates included a
4.5 percent inflation assumption. At the point in time that the Road Commission begins funding the plan, the actuarial value of assets will be
determined using techniques that spread the effects of short-term volatility in the market value of investments over a multiple-year period. The
UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on a closed basis. The remaining amortization period at September 30, 2017
was 21 years.

WATER AND WASTE SERVICES:

Restricted Assets: The restricted assets are restricted for the following purposes:

Component Unit -
Enterprise Fund KWA

Unspent bond proceeds and related interest $ 49,818,153 $ 10,909,829

County deposits 100,000 900,000
General obligation bond restrictions:

Debt reserve - 16,187,952

Debt retirement 10,902,705 17,431,684

Total restricted assets $ 60,820,858 $ 45,429,465

Total restricted cash in the Water Supply System Fund of $60,820,858 related to unspent bond proceeds and restriction by bond ordinance.
Restricted cash of $532,713 in District No. 3 and $3,871,978 in Interceptor and Treatment Facilities related to restriction by bond ordinance. The
liabilities payable from restricted assets are for construction accounts payable and accrued interest in the amount of $14,600,588.

KWA's bond indenture required amounts to be set aside in a construction account and a debt service reserve. These amounts have been
classified as restricted assets, as well as amounts on deposit at the County being held for the construction or debt service of KWA water lines.

Long-term Debt: The summary of long-term debt transactions for the Water and Waste Services for the year ended December 31, 2016 is
presented below:

Beginning Additions
Balance (Reductions) Ending Balance Due Within One Year
1.625% to 5.00% Interceptor and treatment facilities $ 81,296,023 $ (6,835,000) $ 74,461,023 $ 7,020,000
2.50% to 4.50% District No. 3 10,120,000 (2,345,000) 7,775,000 1,350,000
2.50% to 5.375% Water supply system 128,796,006 53,973,955 182,769,961 2,375,000
Subtotal 220,212,029 44,793,955 265,005,984 10,745,000
Unamortized note premium 4,572,862 6,292,532 10,865,394 410,032
$ 224,784,891 $ 51,086,487 $ 275,871,378 $ 11,155,032
Component Unit - KWA
Beginning Additions
Balance (Reductions) Ending Balance Due Within One Year
Bonds $ 220,500,000 $ 74,370,000 $ 294,870,000 $ -
Capital lease 35,000,000 - 35,000,000 -
Subtotal 255,500,000 74,370,000 329,870,000 -
Unamortized note premium 11,027,841 (393,851) 10,633,990 -
$ 266,527,841 $ 73,976,149 $ 340,503,990 $ -
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The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the outstanding obligations for Water and Waste Services at December 31, 2016 are
as follows:

Business-type Activities

Principal Interest Total
2017 $ 10,745,000 $ 10,235,375 $ 20,980,375
2018 11,045,000 10,210,307 21,255,307
2019 10,930,000 9,839,434 20,769,434
2020 10,045,000 9,488,589 19,533,589
2021 10,425,000 9,136,866 19,561,866
2022-2026 58,050,000 39,772,294 97,822,294
2027-2031 43,230,288 29,479,603 72,709,891
2032-2036 35,471,135 20,327,759 55,798,894
2037-2040 37,344,561 12,735,096 50,079,657
2041-2045 37,720,000 4,036,225 41,756,225
Total $ 265,005,984 $ 155,261,548 $ 420,267,532

Component Unit Activities - KWA

Principal Interest Total
2017 $ - $ 14,361,491 § 14,361,491
2018 78,475,000 14,928,113 93,403,113
2019 4,275,000 10,861,863 15,136,863
2020 4,475,000 10,669,613 15,144,613
2021 4,655,000 10,471,363 15,126,363
2022-2026 26,740,000 48,788,938 75,528,938
2027-2031 34,180,000 41,105,344 75,285,344
2032-2036 43,990,000 31,062,075 75,052,075
2037-2040 56,590,000 18,103,650 74,693,650
2041-2045 41,490,000 3,179,250 44,669,250
Total $ 294,870,000 §$ 203,531,700 § 498,401,700

Future Revenues Pledged for Debt Payment: The Water and Waste Services Division has pledged substantially all revenue of the Water and
Sewer Fund, net of operating expenses, to repay the above Genesee County Drain Commissioner water and sewer revenue bonds. Proceeds
from the bonds provided financing for the construction of the water and waste systems described above. The bonds are payable solely from the
net revenues of the water and sewer system. The remaining principal and interest to be paid on the bonds total $352,507,133. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, net revenues of the system were $18,612,758 compared to the annual debt requirements of $12,279,393. Of the
annual debt requirement, $2,668,818 is interest expense funded by capitalized interest from bond proceeds.

Karegnondi Water Authority - See Note 15.

Related Party: During fiscal year 2013, the Karegnondi Water Authority (the "Authority") was formed. The Authority has retained the services of
the Division to administer the design and construction of the raw water supply system. In addition, it is expected that the Authority will contract
with the Division for operation and maintenance of the raw water supply system after the system is completed and operational. The Authority
has no employees of its own, with all current and future services expected to be rendered by division employees.

The Division has entered into certain contracts with the Authority as a local unit so as to acquire a supply of raw water. This new raw water
supply system is expected to be utilized by the Division in late 2017, at which time the Division will cease purchasing finished water from the
Detroit Water and Sewerage Department.

In August 2013, the Division entered into a Water Purchase Contract with the Authority, which provides the Division with 42 MGD of capacity,
out of a total authority capacity of 60 MGD. This arrangement in effect means the Division will provide the Authority with 70 percent of its total
operating revenue over the coming years. In addition, the Division has entered into a Financing Contract with the Authority which obligates the
Division to pay to the Authority approximately 65.8 percent of the Authority’s debt service. A copy of the Financing Contract can be viewed in the
Authority's Official Statement.

In the previous year, the Division recorded a lease receivable related to the Division's $35 million bond issuance in 2013 for construction of an
intake facility and two pump stations. Recording of the receivable was a result of modification of a supply contract with KWA in April 2014,
effectively stating the Division is to turn over title to the aforementioned facilities to KWA upon redemption of the bonds. Based on contract
terms, GASB Statement No. 62, paragraph 213 requires KWA to treat facilities as a capital lease and record as construction in progress the cost
of land and other construction costs previously incurred by the Division. The Division reports a lease receivable, and KWA reports long-term
debt.
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The lease agreement qualifies as a capital lease for accounting purposes and, therefore, has been recorded as a present value of the future
minimum lease payments as of the inception date. The future minimum lease obligations (for KWA) and the net present value are as follows:

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021
2022-2026

2027-2031

2032-2036

2037-2041

Total

Less amount rep ing interest

Present value

$2,527,188
2,527,588
2,526,588
2,527,188
2,627,437
12,637,937
12,635,288
12,636,112
12,638,928

63,184,254

28,184.254)
$35,000,000

Capital Assets - The summary of capital assets for Water and Waste Services at December 31, 2016 is displayed below:

Enterprise Fund:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

Subtotal

Capital assets being depreciated:
Distribution and collections system
Buildings and equipment
Vehicles

Subtotal

Accumulated depreciation:
Distribution and collections system
Buildings and equipment
Vehicles

Subtotal
Net capital assets being depreciated

Net capital assets

Internal Service Fund:
Capital assets being depreciated - Buildings
and equipment
Accumulated depreciation - Buildings and
improvements

Net capital assets

Total proprietary funds capital assets

Component unit - KWA - Capital assets not
being depreciated - Construction in
progress

Balance
Balance December 31,
January 1, 2016 Additions Disposals 2016

$ 2,313,197 §$ - - 2,313,197
22,151,656 61,666,013 (1,199,255 82,618.414
24,464,853 61,666,013 (1,199,255) 84,931,611
366,642,152 - - 366,642,152
13,471,582 1,233,714 (82,527) 14,622,769
912,047 315,349 (20.439) 1,206,957
381,025,781 1,549,063 (102,966) 382,471,878
(77,941,140) (7,745,965) - (85,687,105)
(5,551,861) (604,753) 82,527 (6,074,087)
(635,228) (104,899) 20,439 (719.688)
84,128,229 8,455,617 102,966 92,480,880
296,897,552 (6,906,554) - 289,990,998

$ 321,362,405

$ 54759459 $ (1,199,255) $ 374,922,609

$ 8,845,870 $ 182,670 § (1,088,855) $ 7,939,685
6,864,289 (374.734) 1,060,993 (6,178,030)
$ 1981581 §$ (192,064) $ (27.862) $ 1,761,655

$ 323,343,986

$ 54567395 $ (1.227,117) $ 376,684,264

Balance
Balance December 31,
January 1, 2016 Additions Disposals 2016

$ 181,395,807
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Construction Commitments - The Water and Waste Division has active construction projects at year end. The projects include improvements

and extensions to the water and sewage disposal systems. At year end, the Division’s commitments with contractors are as follows:

Water supply system........

Spent to Date

Remaining
Commitment

KWA had the water pipeline project in progress during the year. At year end, KWA’s commitments with contractors are as follows:

Water pipeline project.......

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN -

PLAN DESCRIPTION

The Water and Waste Division participates in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan (Genesee County Employees Retirement

Spent to Date

Remaining
Commitment

System, also known as GCERS). The complete plan description is included in Note 9.

BENEFITS PROVIDED
The provided benefits are included in Note 9.

EMPLOYEES COVERED BY BENEFIT TERMS

At the December 31, 2015 measurement date, the following Water and Waste Division employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits

Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits

Active plan members

Total employees covered by GCERS

CONTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS

Details of contribution requirements are included in Note 9.

For the year ended September 30, 2017, the Water and Waste Division's actuarially determined contribution rate was 20.0 percent of annual

102
7
130

3

©

covered payroll. The Water and Waste Division employees are required to contribute 5 to 7 percent of their annual covered payroll.

NET PENSION LIABILITY

The net pension liability reported at September 30, 2017 was determined using a measure of the total pension liability and the pension net
position as of December 31, 2015. The December 31, 2015 total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of that

date.

Changes in the net pension liability during the year were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Net Pension
Changes in Net Pension Liability Liability Plan Net Position Liability
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 59,485,648 $ 41,775,976 $ 17,709,672
Service cost 879,564 - 879,564
Interest 4,017,471 - 4,017,471
Differences between expected and actual
experience (50,724) - (50,724)
Changes in assumptions 12,131,977 - 12,131,977
Contributions - Employer - 1,665,567 (1,665,567)
Contributions - Employee - 573,221 (573,221)
Net investment income - 519,442 (519,442)
Benefit payments, including refunds (3,474,956) (3,474,956) -
Administrative expenses - (46,313) 46,313
Miscellaneous other charges 205,519 - 205,519
Net changes 13,708,851 (763.039) 14,471,890
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 73,194,499 §$ 41,012,937 $ 32,181,562
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

PENSION EXPENSE AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES RELATED TO PENSIONS

During the year, the Water and Waste Division recognized pension expense of $3,940,140. At December 31, 2016, the Water and Waste
Division reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows  Deferred Inflows of

of Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience -8 (1,125,058)
Changes in assumptions 11,547,084 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments 1,809,478
Employer contributions to the plan subsequent to the measurement date 1,642,376 -
Total $ 14,998,938 $ (1.125.058)

The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, excluding the employer contributions to the plan made subsequent
to the measurement date of $1,642,376, will be recognized as pension expense as follows:

Years Ending

December 31 Amount
2017 $ 2,251,300
2018 2,251,300
2019 2,251,300
2020 2,264,308
2021 1,791,971

Thereafter 1,421,325

The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources related to employer contributions to the plan made subsequent to the measurement date
of $1,642,376 will impact the net pension liability in fiscal year 2017, as opposed to being amortized to pension expense over a period of years.

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS
Details of actuarial assumptions are included in Note 9.
SENSITIVITY OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY TO CHANGES IN THE DISCOUNT RATE

The following presents the Water and Waste Division’s net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 5.56%, as well as what the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (4.56%) or 1% higher (6.56%) than the current rate:

1 Percent Decrease  Current Discount 1 Percent Increase
6) Rate (5.56%) (6.56%)

Net pension liability of the Water and Waste Division $ 41,998,396 $ 32,181,562 $ 24,445,831

POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS -

PLAN DESCRIPTION

The Water and Waste Services Division provides retiree healthcare, dental, life, and vision benefits to eligible employees and their spouses
through the Municipal Employees’ Retirement System. This is an agent multiple-employer defined benefit plan administered by the Division. The
benefits are provided under collective bargaining agreements.

FUND POLICY

The collective bargaining agreements do not require employee contributions. The Division has no obligation to make contributions in advance of

when the insurance premiums are due for payment (in other words, this may be financed on a “pay-as-you-go” basis). However, as shown
below, the Division has made contributions to advance-fund these benefits, as determined by the Division.
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FUNDING PROGRESS

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Division has estimated the cost of providing retiree healthcare benefits through an actuarial
valuation as of December 31, 2016. The valuation computes an annual required contribution, which represents a level of funding that, if paid on
an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed 30
years. This valuation’s computed contribution and actual funding are summarized as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended December 31

2014 2015 2016
Annual required contribution (recommended) $ 3,554,246 $ 2,715562 $ 2,845372
Interest on the prior year’s net OPEB obligation 311,824 389,441 387,216
Less adjustment to the annual required contribution (127,980) (127,867) (160,024)
Annual OPEB cost 3,738,090 2,977,136 3,072,564
Amount contributed:
Payments of current premiums (1,522,617) (1,506,763) (1,587,627)
Advance funding (2,220,000) (1,500,000) (1,500,000)
Decrease in net OPEB obligation (4,527) (29,627) (15,063)
OPEB obligation — Beginning of year 5,197,070 5,192,543 5,162,916
OPEB obligation — End of year $ 5,192,543 $ 5,162,916 $ 5,147,853
Fiscal Year Ended December 31
2014 2015 2016
Annual OPEB costs $ 3,738,090 $ 2,977,136 $ 3,072,564
Percentage contributed 100% 101% 101%
Net OPEB obligation $ 5192543 $ 5162916 $ 5,147,353

The funding progress of the plan as of the most recent valuation date is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended December 31

2014 2015 2016
Unfunded AAL $ 48045278 $ 32,664,986 $ 33,499,676
Actuarial value of plan assets 4,580,978 9,101,281 11,648,845
Actuarial accrued liability 52,626,256 41,766,267 45,148,521
Funded 9% 22% 26%
Annual covered payroll - September 30 $ 7,092,691 $ 8,163,418 $ 8,244,365
Ratio of UAAL to covered payroll 677% 400% 406%

ACTUARIAL METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence
of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts
determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as
actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan
members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between
the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the
effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the
calculations.

In the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation, the individual entry age actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial assumptions included a 7.5
percent investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses) and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8.0 percent declining over seven
years in 0.5 percent increments. Thereafter, it is assumed to be 5.0 percent per year. The UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of
projected payroll over 30 years on an open basis.
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DRAIN COMMISSION:

NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

3.69% to 6.85% Genesee County Special Assessment

debt with governmental commitment................ccooviiinnnns

3.25% to 5.00% Genesee County Special Assessmen

debt with governmental commitment.

2.0% to 3.15% Genesee County Drainage District

Bonds #0017 Series 2011 Bonds............cccccvvueennne

2022-2023.

Amount representing interest ..o

The summary of long-term debt transactions for the Drain funds for the year ended September 30, 2017 is presented below:

Oct. 1, 2016

$ 916,756

300,000

1,445,000
$2,661,756

533,044
524,685
447,320
438,032
313,744
2,256,825
137.786)

$ 2,119,039

The following is a summary of capital assets for the Drain fund at September 30, 2017:

Due in
(Reductions) Sept. 30, 2017 One Year

$ (242,717) $ 674,039 $197,727
(60,000) 240,000 60,000
240,000 1,205,000 240,000
$(542,717) $2,119,039  $497,727

The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the outstanding obligations for the Drain funds at September 30, 2017 are as follows:

Balance Balance
Oct. 1, 2016 Deletions Sept. 30, 2017
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land .. $ 168,890 $ - $ - $ 168,890
Construction in Progress 155,036 - - 155,036
Subtotal.......... 323,926 - - 323,926
Capital assets being depreciated:
Equipment.. 1,580,457 75,989 - 1,656,446
Infrastructure 26,880,474 - - 26,880,474
Drain System Retrospectiv 29,446,441 470,161 - 29,916,602
Subtotal................. 57,907,372 546,150 - 58,453,522
Less Allowance for Depreciatio
Equipment... (1,327,454) (88,394) (1,415,848)
Infrastructur (18,292,392) (1,031,512) (19,323,904)
Drain System Retrospectiv 21,295,210 (1.210,906) (22,506.,116)
Subtotal (40,915,056) (2.330,812) (43,245,868)
Net capital assets being depreciated 16,992,316 (1,784,662 - 15,207,654
Total Capital Assets
Net of depreciation ...........cc.cc.cc.... $17,316,242 $ (1,784,662 $ - $ 15,531,580

During 2006, the Drain Commission complied with the provisions of GASB Statement 34 relative to the retroactive adjustment to capitalize

infrastructure back to 1980.

LAND BANK AUTHORITY:

GCLB-Berridge Place, LLC LISC note payable

Bond payable — Land Bank Center .
Total note/ leases.
Compensated absences..
Total long-term

The summary of long-term debt transactions for the Genesee County Land Bank Authority for the year ended September 30, 2017 is presented
below:

Balance Balance Due in
Oct.1, 2016 Additions (Reductions)  Sept. 30, 2017 One Year
$ 649876 § - $__(145.245) $ 504631 §$ 157.726
1,620,000 - 55,000 1,565,000 55,000
2260876 - __(200.245) 2,069,631 212,726
49,506 100,890 (90.458) 59,938 59,938
$1.669,506 $ 100,890 § (145.458) $1,624,938 $ 114,938
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Years Ending
September 30 Principal Interest Total
$ 55,000 $ 88,598 $ 143,598
60,000 85,628 145,628
60,000 82,388 142,388
65,000 79,017 144,017
70,000 75,356 145,356
425,000 311,936 736,936
560,000 175,755 735,755
2033-2034. 270,000 23,587 293,587
Total $ 1,565,000 $ 922,265 $ 2,487,265

The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the above note obligation at September 30, 2017, are as follows:

Principal Interest Total
2017 $157,726 $24,854 $182,580
2018 167,454 15,191 182,645
2019 e 179,451 4,933 184,384
Total $504,631 $44,978 $549,609

The line of credit is capped at $3,000,000. The County has pledged its limited tax full faith and credit on the line and is obligated to levy ad
valorem taxes on all taxable property within its boundaries for such purpose, subject to applicable constitutional, statutory and charter limitations
as to rate and amount.

The following is a summary of capital assets for the Genesee County Land Bank Authority at September 30, 2017:

Balance Balance
Oct. 1, 2016 Additions Disposals Sept. 30, 2017
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land s $ 84,308 $ - $ - $ 84308
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 3,842,232 13,891 - 3,856,123
Machinery and equipment 197,022 - - 197,022
Office equipment. 171,612 - - 171,612
Vehicles. 210,013 12,315 - 222,328
Subtotal 4,420,879 26,206 - 4,447,085
Less Accumulated depreciatiol
Buildings and improvements (918,138) (148,946) - (1,067,084)
Machinery and equipment (175,911) (7,150) - (183,061)
Office equipment. (128,637) (10,050) - (138,687)
Vehicles..... 183,720 16.548) - (200,268)
Subtotal 1,406,406 182,694 1.589,100

Net capital assets being depreciated

3,014,473 156,488

Total capital assets - Net of depreciation

2,857,985
$ 2,942,203

The Authority’s 1 percent ownership interest in 607 East Second Avenue, LLC (LLC) is accounted for in the statement of net position as an
equity investment. 607 East Second Avenue, LLC was created to account for the redevelopment of the old Durant Hotel. The total projected cost
of the development was approximately $35,590,000, with a total contribution of $18,380,819 from the Authority. The Authority’s capital
contributions sources were from grants, Brownfield TIF bonds, and sale of state historic and state Brownfield tax credits. In previous years, the
Authority has recorded a loss on impairment of the fair value of its investment below cost in the amount of $16,441,819 to bring the investment
balance to $1,939,000. As of September 30, 2017, the investment balance in 607 East Second Avenue, LLC remained unchanged.
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NOTE 20 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES (Continued)

BROWNFIELD AUTHORITY:

The summary of long-term debt transactions for the Genesee County Brownfield Authority for the year ended September 30, 2017 is presented

below:
Balance Balance Due in
Oct. 1, 2016 Additions (Reductions) Sept. 30,2017 One Year
Unamortized note premium........... $ 336204 $ - ($ 17,695) $ 318,509 $17,695

3.0% to 5.0% Genesee County Brownfield Authority
Series 2005 Tax Increment Bonds, Subject to

redemption prior to maturity
Total ...

11,540,000 - 320,000 11,220,000 340,000
$11.876.204 § (8_337.695 $11,5638,509  $357,695

The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the outstanding obligations at September 30, 2017 are as follows:

Principal Interest Total
2018 $340,000 $540,575 $880,575
2019 360,000 525,700 885,700
2020 385,000 510,350 895,350
2021 410,000 494,450 904,450
2022 e 435,000 475,375 910,375
2023-2027 2,705,000 2,001,895 4,706,895
2028-2032 3,730,000 1,203,000 4,933,000
2033-2035.....cceiie e 2,855,000 219,875 3,074,875
ol BHL20000 §-9SmEN 8Tz Required Supplemental Information
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Genesee County, Michigan

Required Supplemental Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with

Original Budget  Amended Budget Actual Amended Budget
Revenue
Property taxes $ 46720926 $ 46,720,926 51,531,659 $ 4,810,733
Licenses and permits 585,700 585,700 509,362 (76,338)
Federal grants 230,000 230,000 556,386 326,386
Other intergovernmental revenue 16,461,603 16,461,603 17,238,108 776,505
Charges for services 14,296,163 13,377,283 13,409,196 31,913
Fines and forfeitures 2,188,923 3,224,190 1,663,228 (1,560,962)
Interest income 110,000 110,000 193,347 83,347
Other 1,021,635 1,021,635 5,613,081 4,591,446
Total revenue 81,614,950 81,731,337 90,714,367 8,983,030
Expenditures - Current
Management and planning:
Board coordinator 326,587 337,087 312,287 24,800
Corporation counsel 402,062 417,062 566,382 (149,320)
Controller administration 1,521,043 1,634,419 1,543,622 90,797
Human resources 977,090 985,072 823,943 161,129
County treasurer 1,206,550 1,208,279 1,088,289 119,990
County clerk 6,222,287 6,229,906 5,872,070 357,836
Elections clerk 785,526 820,953 747,617 73,336
Drain commission 5,450,610 5,720,759 5,320,985 399,774
Equalization 907,613 907,613 852,776 54,837
GIS 189,365 198,365 188,885 9,480
Retirement - - 25 (25)
Register of deeds 592,950 634,654 618,863 15,791
Other general government 318,186 318,186 384,820 (66,634)
Total management and
planning 18,899,869 19,412,355 18,320,564 1,091,791
Administration of justice:
District court costs 7,348,785 7,498,550 6,604,618 893,932
Circuit court 10,086,488 10,090,108 9,172,576 917,532
Adult probation, jury board, and court
services 321,846 321,846 287,559 34,287
Probate court 1,944,981 1,947,772 1,824,881 122,891
Prosecutor 5,108,704 5,109,774 4,511,171 598,603
Total administration of justice 24,810,804 24,968,050 22,400,805 2,567,245
Law enforcement and community protection:
Sheriff security 17,914,902 18,313,073 17,742,745 570,328
Detective division 822,492 837,925 928,660 (90,735)
Sheriff marine division 23,000 23,000 28,733 (5,733)
Sheriff administration 2,617,249 2,620,337 4,227,042 (1,606,705)
Office of emergency preparedness 169,657 169,773 161,776 7,997
Total law enforcement and
community protection 21,547,300 21,964,108 23,088,956 (1,124,848)
Human services 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,106,276 (106,276)
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Expenditures - Current (continued)
Legislative - Board of Commissioners
Community enrichment and development
Capital outlay

Total expenditures
Excess of Revenue Over Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing uses
Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance - Beginning of year

Fund Balance - End of year

Required Supplemental Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with

Amended Amended
Original Budget Budget Actual Budget

$ 508,337 $ 508,337 $ 513,468 § .131)
2,619,815 1,944,359 581,495 1,362,864
58,500 262,000 164,823 97,177
70,444,625 71,059,209 67,176,387 3,882,822
11,170,325 10,672,128 23,537,980 12,865,852
7,421,159 7,317,159 5,198,174 (2,118,985)
(18,528,954) (19,888,954) (19,057,407) 831,547
(11,107,795) (12,571,795) (13,859,233) (1,287,438)
62,530 (1,899,667) 9,678,747 11,578,414

24,403,417 24,403,417 24,403,417 -
$ 24,465,947 $ 22,503,750 $ 34,082,164 $ 11,578,414
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Genesee County, Michigan

Required Supplemental Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Major Special Revenue Funds
County Health

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with

Amended Amended
Original Budget Budget Actual Budget
Revenue

Licenses and permits $ 1,095,455 $ 1,095,455 $ 1,045,489 $ (49,966)

Federal grants 1,221,714 1,221,714 4,673,974 3,452,260

Other intergovernmental revenue 10,795,619 10,795,619 7,066,906 (3,728,713)

Charges for services 244,006 244,006 406,533 162,527

Other 563,219 563,219 360,554 (202,665)

Total revenue 13,920,013 13,920,013 13,553,456 (366,557)
Expenditures - Current
Human services 17,196,510 17,196,510 15,791,412 1,405,098
Capital outlay - - 21,427 (21,427)
Total expenditures 17,196,510 17,196,510 15,812,839 1,383,671
Excess of Expenditures Over Revenue (3,276,497) (3,276,497) (2,259,383) 1,017,114
Other Financing Sources -

Transfers in 3,165,808 3,165,808 3,211,158 45,350
Net Change in Fund Balance (110,689) (110,689) 951,775 1,062,464
Fund Balance - Beginning of year 3,398,921 3,398,921 3,398,921 -
Fund Balance - End of year $ 3,288,232 $ 3,288,232 $ 4,350,696 $ 1,062,464
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Required Supplemental Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Major Special Revenue Funds
Community Action Resource Department

Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with

Amended Amended
Original Budget Budget Actual Budget
Revenue
Federal grants $ 16919332 $ 21,841,560 $ 17,535365 $ (4,306,195)
Other intergovernmental revenue 1,737,077 4,715,721 3,941,909 (773,812)
Rental income 750,000 750,000 886,067 136,067
Other 4,120,915 - 1,933,803 1,933,803
Total revenue 23,527,324 27,307,281 24,297,144 (3,010,137)
Expenditures - Current
Human services 23,958,092 26,105,903 23,116,042 2,989,861
Capital outlay 94,332 149,400 - 149,400
Total expenditures 24,052,424 26,255,303 23,116,042 3,139,261
Other Financing Uses - Transfers out (351,978) (351,978) (337,160 14,818
Net Change in Fund Balance (877,078) 700,000 843,942 143,942
Fund Balance - Beginning of year (4,102,017) (4,102,017) (4,102,017) -
Fund Balance - End of year $ (4,979,095) $ (3,402,017) $ (3,258,075) $ 143,942
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Genesee County, Michigan

Required Supplemental Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Major Special Revenue Funds

Revenue
Federal grants
Interest income
Other

Total revenue

Expenditures - Current - Community
enrichment and development

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance - Beginning of year

Fund Balance - End of year

Community Development
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Variance with
Amended Amended
Original Budget Budget Actual Budget

$ 28833902 $ 28833902 $ 2,590,124 $ (26,243,778)

100 100 (100)
30,000 30,000 - (30,000)
28,864,002 28,864,002 2,590,124 (26,273,878)
28,866,594 28,866,594 2,774,592 26,092,002
(2.592) (2,592) (184,468) (181,876)
487,898 487,898 487,898 -

$ 485,306 $ 485,306 $ 303,430 $ (181,876)
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Required Supplemental Information

Schedule of Changes in the County Net Pension Liability and
Related Ratios

Last Three Fiscal Years

2017 2016 2015

Total Pension Liability

Service cost $ 3,462,442 $ 2,092,850 $ 2,441,909

Interest 22,270,704 23,309,874 22,786,858

Differences between expected and actual experience (13,052,891) 3,447,036 3,421,029

Changes in assumptions (10,317,917) 59,608,793 5,189,777

Benefit payments, including refunds (27,615,228) (27,179,618) (26,514,618)

Miscellaneous other - 784,042 -
Net Change in Total Pension Liability (25,252,890) 62,062,977 7,324,955
Total Pension Liability - Beginning of year 412,628,621 350,565,644 343,240,689

Total Pension Liability - End of year $ 387,375,731 $ 412,628,621 $ 350,565,644

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer $ 9,635,562 $ 9,060,276 $ 7,679,505
Contributions - Member 962,642 1,099,739 1,144,877
Net investment income 17,999,919 2,902,513 16,143,654
Administrative expenses (214,399) (258,787) (261,859)
Benefit payments, including refunds (27,615,228) (27,179,618) (26,514,618)
Other 6,456 (6,455) -
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 774,952 (14,382,332) (1,808,441)
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of year 227,521,358 241,903,690 243,712,131

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - End of year $ 228,296,310 $ 227,521,358 $ 241,903,690

County’s Net Pension Liability - Ending $ 159,079,421 $ 185,107,263 $ 108,661,954
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of
Total Pension Liability 58.93 % 55.14 % 69.00 %
Covered Employee Payroll $ 10,990,135 $ 12,730,024 $ 13,706,964
County's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of
Covered Employee Payroll 1,447.5 % 1,454.1 % 792.7 %
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Actuarially determined contribution
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution

Contribution (Excess) Deficiency
Covered Employee Payroll
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Employee Payroll

Notes to Schedule of County Contributions

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial cost method

Amortization method

Remaining amortization period

Asset valuation method

Inflation

Salary increases

Investment rate of return

Retirement age

Mortality

Other information

Required Supplemental Information
Schedule of County Contributions
Last Three Fiscal Years

2017 2016 2015
$ 9,041,206 $ 8,816,860 $ 8,852,715
9,042,317 8,816,154 8,852,715
$ Lin s 706 $ -
$ 10,990,135 $ 12,730,024 $ 13,706,964
82.3 % 69.3 % 64.6 %

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31, two
years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.
Contributions for the County's fiscal year ended September 30, 2017 were
determined based on the actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2015. The most
recent valuation is as of December 31, 2016.

Entry age

Level dollar

25 years, open

Four years smoothed market

3.00 percent

3.0 - 7.03 percent, including inflation

7.85 percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation
60

RP 2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2014

Pension schedules (schedule of changes in the net pension liability and related
ratios and schedule of county contributions) are intended to show information for
10 years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.
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Genesee County, Michigan

Required Supplemental Information
OPEB System Schedule
Year Ended September 30, 2017

The schedule of funding progress is as follows:

Actuarial Actuarial UAALasa
Value of Accrued Unfunded Funded Ratio Covered Percentage of
Actuarial Valuation Assets Liability (AAL) AAL (UAAL) (Percent) Payroll Covered
Date @ (b) (b-a) (alb) © Payroll
9/30/07 $ 30,427,079 $179,150,908 $148,723,829 17.0 % $ 58,387,145 254.7 %
9/30/10 41,579,396 286,696,396 245,117,000 14.5 58,028,000 422.4
9/30/12 43,313,587 308,208,023 264,894,436 14.1 36,987,137 716.2
9/30/14 41,485,721 344,160,043 302,674,322 12.1 33,343,864 907.7
9/30/16 32,821,620 341,629,201 308,807,581 9.6 25,157,676 1,227.5

The schedule of employer contributions is as follows:

Annual
Required Percentage
Fiscal Year Ended Actuarial Valuation Date Contribution Contributed

9/30/11 9/30/10 $ 18,708,000 52.0 %
9/30/12 9/30/12 18,549,049 64.0
9/30/13 9/30/12 18,549,049 64.7
9/30/14 9/30/14 19,066,021 45.2
9/30/15 9/30/14 19,066,021 43.1
9/30/16 9/30/16 18,883,352 395

The information presented above was determined as part of the actuarial valuations at the dates
indicated. Additional information as of September 30, 2016, the latest actuarial valuation,
follows:

Amortization method Level percent-of-payroll

Amortization period (perpetual) 30 years
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 6 percent
Projected salary increases 3 percent

Medical inflation rate 8 percent, graded down to 4
percent in 0.5 percent increments
over nine years

Cost-of-living adjustments None

Genesee County, Michigan

Required Supplemental Information

OPEB Plan

Schedule of Changes in the County Net OPEB Liability and Related
Ratios

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Schedule is built prospectively upon implementation of GASB No. 74)

2017
Total OPEB liability
Service cost $ 6,845,712
Interest 16,459,162
Differences between expected and actual experience (13,022,059)
Changes in assumptions 12,591,686
Benefit payments, including refunds (15,913,780)
Net Change in Total OPEB Liability 6,960,721
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning of year _ 538836870
Total OPEB Liability - End of year $ 545,797,591
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer $ 7,834,649
Contributions - Active and inactive plan members not yet receiving benefits 593,239
Net investment income 1,490,451
Administrative expenses (171,015)
Benefit payments, including refunds (15,913,780)
Other -
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position (6,166,456)
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of year 31,677,053
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - End of year $ 25,510,597
Net OPEB Liability - Ending $ 520,286,994
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total OPEB Liability 4.67 %
Covered Employee Payroll $ 38,702,758
Net OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered Employee Payroll 1,344.3 %
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Required Supplemental Information
OPEB Plan

Schedule of OPEB Contributions
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Actuarially determined contribution $ 18883352 § 18883352 $ 19066021 $ 19,066,021 $ 18,549,049 $ 18549049 $ 18708000 $ 18,708,000 $ 12,992,638 $ 12,992,638
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution 6,937,061 7,468,726 8,212,389 8,626,867 9,524,252 12,009,195 9,698,547 13,512,778 14,430,467 12,756,826
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) $ 11,946,291  $ 11,414,626 $10,853,632 $10439,154 $ 9,024,797 $ 6,539,854 § 9,009453 $ 5195222 $ (1,437,829) $ 235812
Covered Employee Payroll $ 25,157,676 $ 25,157,676 $ 33,343,864 $ 33,343,864 $ 36,987,137 $ 36,987,137 $ 58028000 $ 58028000 $ 50,668,000 $ 48245963
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered
Employee Payroll 27.6 % 297 % 24.6 % 259 % 258 % 325 % 16.7 % 233% 28.5% 264 %
Notes to of Y
Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:
Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of September 30, two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the

contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal (level percent of payroll)

Amortization method Level percent of payroll

Remaining amortization period 30 years

Asset valuation method Equal to market value of assets

Inflation 1.75 percent

Healthcare cost trend rates 7.5 percent graded to 4.5 percent over six years

Salary increases 1.75 percent

Investment rate of return 7.5 percent net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation

Retirement age 62

Mortality Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2017 Total Dataset Mortality Table projected

fully generationally using Scale MP-2017.

Other information None
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Genesee County, Michigan Genesee County, Michigan

Note to Required Supplemental Information Note to Required Supplemental Information (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2017 Year Ended September 30, 2017
Budgetary Information - Budgets shown in the financial statements were prepared on the Excesses of expenditures over appropriations in individual funds are presented below:

same modified accrual basis used to reflect actual results. The County employs the following

Amended
procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: Budget Actual Variance
¢ Prior to July |, county departments, in conjunction with the Controller's Office, prepare and Ge“g”" Fund: | 417,062 . 149,320
submit their proposed operating budgets for the fiscal year commencing October |. The R:t:f:r;aet:;n counse $ ’ 6 $ see, 25 $ ’(25;
operating budget includes proposed expenditures and resources to finance them. Other general government 318,186 384.820 (66,634)
e A public hearing is conducted to obtain taxpayers' comments. ?:::;”:Z::::Sg:‘:s'on 8;;3(233 9;3‘;‘;2 (9(2;;?;
e Prior to September 30, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution. Sheriff administration 2,620,337 4,227,042 (1,606,705)
Contribution to Genesee Health System Authority - 106,276 (106,276)
¢ After the budget is adopted, the Finance Committee of the Board of Commissioners is Legislative - Board of Commissioners 508,337 513,468 (5,131)
authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between accounts within a department. Other major governmental funds - County Health - Capital
outlay - 21,427 (21,427)

However, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of a department or fund must be

approved by the Board of Commissioners. - .
PP Y The cause of the budget overruns were unanticipated expenditures.

¢ Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year
for the General Fund and the Special Revenue Funds. Formal budgetary integration is not
employed for other governmental-type funds as effective management control is achieved
through alternative procedures.

¢ Budgets for the General and Special Revenue funds are adopted on a basis consistent with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Budgeted amounts are as originally
adopted, or as amended by the Board of Commissioners during the year. Individual
amendments were not material in relation to the original appropriations, which were
amended. Appropriations unused at September 30 are not carried forward to the following
year. The budgets for the General and Special Revenue funds are adopted at the
departmental level and total fund level, respectively.

Total
Total Revenue Expenditures

General Fund:

Amounts per operating statement $ 91,173,561 $ 69,841,678
Medical Examiner Fund budgeted separately from the General

Fund (459,194) (2,665,291)

Amounts per budget statement $ 90,714,367 $ 67,176,387
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors
Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Enterprise Fund, Internal Service Funds,
business-type activities, and discretely presented component unit of Genesee County Drain
Commissioner Division of Water and Waste Services, a component unit of Genesee County (the
"Division"), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and
Waste Services' basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

M e R,
Manag s F

ponsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

To the Board of Directors
Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the Enterprise Fund, Internal Service Funds, business-type activities, and
discretely presented component unit of Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and
Waste Services as of December 31, 2016, and the respective changes in its financial position and, where
applicable, cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplemental Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and pension and other postemployment benefit schedules of funding progress and
employer contributions, as identified in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplemental information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements,
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and Waste Services' basic financial
statements. The supplemental information, as identified in the table of contents, is presented for the
purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The supplemental information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and Waste Services'
December 31, 2015 financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those
audited financial statements in our report dated June 15, 2016. In our opinion, the summarized
comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015 is
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.
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To the Board of Directors
Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 15, 2017
on our consideration of Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and Waste
Services, a component unit of Genesee County's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Genesee County Drain
Commissioner Division of Water and Waste Services, a component unit of Genesee County's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

June 15,2017

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Genesee County (the “County”) established a county agency through the County Improvement
Act (Public Act 342). The County designated the Drain Commissioner as the county agency. The
county agency created the Division of Water and Waste Services (the “Division”) as its vehicle to
perform required duties. The Division provides public utility services of water and wastewater
treatment in parts of Genesee, Saginaw, Shiawassee, Oakland, Lapeer, and Livingston counties.
The Division’s mission is to distribute water and collect and treat wastewater in such a manner
that is in compliance with all state and federal regulations and to maintain the lowest cost to
customers. Additionally, the Genesee County Board of Commissioners designated the Division as
the county enforcing agency for soil erosion in Genesee County.

Primary Objectives

The primary objectives of the Division are to maintain high-quality services along with residential
and commercial water and sewer rates that are fair and cost effective to all concerned. Although
not required by law, the Division maintains a yearly budget of income and expenses for all cost
centers. The budget is reviewed and approved by an advisory board. Each community that is a
customer of the Division has a seat on the advisory board, which meets monthly to provide
guidance to the Division.

Responsibilities

The Division is responsible for the administration, operation, maintenance, and construction of
infrastructure and treatment facilities for the communities located in Genesee County for the
sanitary system and water supply. The Division is divided into four distinct cost centers. These
cost centers, which include Interceptor and Treatment, Water, District No. 3, and District No. 7,
have been developed based upon revenue, responsibility, and definable core functions. In addition,
the Division offers construction management and system operation and maintenance services to
local communities.

Some of the key administrative and engineering duties of both the sanitary sewer operation and
the water department operation include comprehensive system planning, interaction and
regulation of development, implementing capital improvement projects, and system budget
management. The administration team is responsible for the overall operation of the utility’s
services, engineering, and soil erosion in Genesee County. It is this department’s responsibility to
secure, allocate, and monitor funding, personnel, and equipment resources for the Division to
ensure safe, reliable, and efficient operation of the utility.

The primary functions of the support services area are to efficiently and uniformly provide support
to the various operations departments. These services are grouped into categories as follows:
safety, human resources, finance, permits, soil erosion, construction, inspection, and information
technology.
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Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Operation and Maintenance Department - The Operation and Maintenance
Department (O&M) has two primary functions: sanitary sewer collection and transportation and
water transmission and distribution. It also performs contracted O&M for certain local
communities. To ensure that these primary functions are met, O&M performs the following tasks:

e Preventive maintenance of the water and sewer infrastructure and appurtenances

e Staking of water and sewer infrastructure (Miss Dig)

e Jetting/Televising of sanitary sewers

e Inspection of water and sewer infrastructure

e Responds to customer complaints (i.e., plugged sewers, high bills, etc.)

e |Installs, reads, and repairs water meters, repairs broken water mains, and coordinates the
repair of sanitary sewers, sewer main taps, and cut and cap water and sewer services

e Provides after-hours emergency response as needed

e Provides training in the operation and maintenance of the water and sewer systems, along
with safety and regulatory compliance

e Establishes and oversees capital improvement projects

Sewage Treatment Facilities - The core function of all treatment facilities is to effectively and
efficiently treat sewage in compliance with regulations established by their NPDES (National
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System) permit. The facilities maintain good working relationships
with customers and elected officials of the districts to achieve the goals of accountability,
transparency, and credibility. These activities include the following:

Facility operation and maintenance

Analytical support to ensure compliance with discharge limits and industrial pretreatment
Providing training in plant operation, maintenance, safety, and regulatory compliance
Residuals management

Addition of various treatment chemicals and/or use of other treatment alternatives
Planning for plant improvements, equipment replacement, and upgrades

Emergency response planning

Storage lagoon operation and maintenance

Adhering to discharge limitations via ongoing monitoring

Pollutant minimization

Operation of an Industrial Pretreatment Program (IPP)

The sanitary sewer treatment operations are responsible for the handling and treatment of effluent
at the three disposal plants under the Division’s jurisdiction. These plants are the Linden Facility
(District No. 3), the Bird Road Lagoons (District No. 7), and the Anthony Ragnone Treatment
Plant (ARTP) (Districts |, 2, 5, and 6). In addition to serving large portions of Genesee County,
the Division has contracts for sewer treatment outside of its jurisdiction with Shiawassee, Lapeer,
Saginaw, Oakland, and Livingston counties.

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

ARTP provides sewage treatment for the majority of the Division’s service area, with District Nos.
3 and 7 providing service for several outlying areas. And while the District Nos. 3 and 7 facilities
are two distinctly separate operations, they are combined administratively due to their proximity
to one another.

The Division also manages two programs that impact its treatment facilities:

o Biosolids Disposal - Each treatment plant is responsible for disposing wastewater treatment
plant biosolids in a manner that is considered beneficial reuse, in particular, biosolids
application on farmland. ARTP accomplished this goal in 2016 by applying 5,676 dry tons of
stabilized biosolids on approximately 1,950 acres of approved fields. In 2016, District No. 3
applied 1,381 dry tons of stabilized biosolids on approximately |,190 acres of approved fields.

e Industrial Pretreatment Program - The Division regulates and monitors industrial and
nondomestic dischargers to the wastewater system. The Division reviews applications, issues
discharge permits, verifies compliance, calculates fees and surcharge bills for the customers,
and enforces regulations through discharge permits, which protect the wastewater treatment
facilities and the environment. An arsenic program for drinking water systems was
implemented to ensure compliance with MDEQ regulations. The ordinance also allows for
best management practices (BMP) in regulating silver and mercury from over 450 physician
and dental offices and grease and oil from approximately 1,200 restaurants. Inter-jurisdictional
agreements and the sewer use ordinance have been distributed to the municipalities that
discharge into the Division’s systems, and the local unit of government approval process is
ongoing. At this time, there are 14 significant industrial facilities, and four categorical users that
pay surcharges for the cost of treating various substances they discharge to the Division.

Water Supply - The water supply department is responsible for acquisition of treated water from
the Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA). The Division distributes potable water to local
communities, which in turn supply their residential, commercial, and industrial customers. The
Division also contracts with certain local municipalities to operate and maintain their water
systems, as well as provide billing services.

The Division maintains a distribution system consisting of over 600 miles of water mains. It also
installs water connections and performs turn-ons/offs at the request of its communities, services
and changes water meters, and oversees the backflow prevention program. In order to provide
an uninterruptible supply of safe drinking water, the Division provides forward thought to:

o Identify and evaluate water supply alternatives to meet normal and emergency needs
e Prepare cost estimates to construct, operate, and maintain selected alternatives
e Determine water treatment and pumping requirements
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Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During 2016, the Division continued to make significant progress on its plans to acquire a new
water supply via its participation in the component unit Karegnondi Water Authority (KWA). The
KWA will supply untreated water to the Division, and successfully brought its water pipeline and
pumping capacity online in 2017.

The Division continued construction on its new water treatment plant, which will treat the raw
water to be supplied by the KWA. The new water treatment plant will begin testing in July 2017,
and is expected to officially come online in late 2017, at which time the Division will discontinue
its purchase and use of GLWA treated water. Funding for the new water treatment plant is coming
from bond sale proceeds, with the first bond sale completed in April 2015, and a subsequent bond
sale completed in September 2016.

Rate Structure

During 2016, the Division received a water supply rate increase from GLWA, which the Division
passed through to its community customers beginning in September 2016. Previously approved
sewer rate increases for Districts 3 and 7 took effect in January 2014, while an ARTP sewer rate
increase took effect in July 2014.

Karegnondi Water Authority

The Karegnondi Water Authority (KWA) is a discretely presented component unit of the Division.
KWA is governed by a |5-member board and was created pursuant to Act 233, Michigan Public
Acts of 1955. Its purpose is to acquire and operate a water pipeline that provides water to the
Division and the city of Flint, which in turn will treat the water to be provided to their residents.
KWA may also provide water to other local units in Lapeer and Sanilac counties. The Division has
financial accountability for KWA. This is subject to change based upon redistribution of capacity
units.

Using this Annual Report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net position, the
statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position, and the statement of cash flows
provide information about the activities of the Division as a whole and assist in presenting a longer-
term view of its finances.

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Condensed Financial Information

The following tables present condensed information about the Division’s financial position
compared to the prior year:

December 3|
Increase Percent
2016 2015 (Decrease) Change
Assets
Current assets $ 32850489 $ 36418358 $ (3,567,869) 9.8) %
Restricted assets 60,820,858 44,839,976 15,980,882 356
Noncurrent lease receivable and local unit construction in progress 46,297,522 43,306,090 2,991,432 6.9
Capital assets 376,684,264 323,343,986 53,340,278 16.5
Total assets 516,653,133 447,908,410 68,744,723 153
Deferred Outflows of Resources 15,018,219 3,106,373 11,911,846 3835
Liabilities
Current liabilities 15,542,370 20,019,718 (4,477,348) (224)
Liabilities payable from restricted assets 14,600,588 3,402,534 11,198,054 329.1
Other noncurrent liabilities 38,605,550 23,774,329 14,831,221 62.4
Long-term debt 264,716,346 213,095,902 51,620,444 242
Total liabilities 333,464,854 260,292,483 73,172,371 28.1
Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,125,058 1,368,998 (243,940)
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 185,230,686 184,728,296 502,390 03
Restricted 5,494,572 493,334 5,001,238 -
Unrestricted 6,356,182 4,131,672 2224510 538
Total net position $ 197,081,440 $ 189,353,302 $ 7,728,138 4.1
Year Ended December 3|
Increase Percent
2016 2015 (Decrease) Change
Revenue from operations $ 70203757 $ 64,158,121 $ 6,045,636 94 %
Gain on sale of assets 10,100 - 10,100 -
Interest on operating cash and receivables 13,041 5,077 7,964 156.9
Total revenue 70,226,898 64,163,198 6,063,700 9.5
Sludge disposal charges 982,834 1,146,713 (163,879)  (143)
Cost of water 22,155,625 18,207,829 3,947,796 217
Operating and maintenance expense 26,377,903 23,472,884 2,905,019 124
Administrative and depreciation expense 10,948,598 11,176,087 (227,489) (2.0)
Total operating expenses 60,464,960 54,003,513 6,461,447 12.0
Other nonoperating expense (2,783,800) (3,080,238) 296,438 (9.6)
Change in net position - Before capital contributions 6,978,138 7.079,447 (101,309) (1.4)
Capital contributions 750,000 - 750,000
Change in net position $ 7,728,138 $ 7,079,447 $ 648,691 92




09-0

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Major Capital Assets and Debt Activity

There were no construction project completions during 2016.

The Division continues to utilize remaining portions of $56M water system supply bonds sold in
2016 in connection with its involvement in KWA to construct the division-owned water treatment
plant. The water treatment plant is a key piece of the new water supply system, and is expected
to come online later in 2017.

Use of restricted County Capital Improvement Fees (CCIF) to pay debt service and the reduction
of restricted receivables from other governmental entities has been the past practice of the
Division. Underfunding has occurred and was considered in the initial planning of the CCIF
program. CCIF will continue to be collected after retirement of the bond to restitute the fund in
full.

Financial Review

In analyzing Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and Waste Services’ financial
position, it is important to recognize the mission of the Division, which has been previously stated.
A discussion of the significant financial activity during the current year is as follows:

Statement of Net Position

e Current assets decreased almost $3.6M to approximately $32.9M.
e Current liabilities also decreased by approximately $4.5M to approximately $15.5M.

e Restricted assets increased to over $60M due to unspent proceeds of the 2016 Water
Treatment Plant bond.

e Combined unrestricted net position at year end increased over $2.2M to approximately
$6.4M.

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

e Operating revenue increased by approximately $6.0M (9.5 percent) in 2016, primarily due to
the Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA) water pass-through rate increase.

Operating expenses increased by 12.0 percent. Of this, cost of water increased by nearly
$4.0M in 2016 due to rate increases from the Great Lakes Water Authority, combined with a
period when the Division was also making fixed capacity fee payments to the Karegnondi
Water Authority as it prepared to switch water sources. The Division will also experience a
significant cost of water increase in 2017 as it makes simultaneous payments to the GLWA and
the KWA for a period of approximately nine months. As a result, 2018 should show a significant
decrease from 2017 levels as the Division reverts back to making water purchases from just
one vendor. Summarizing, 2015 was the last year when the Division was making payments to
a single water supplier. In 2016, the Division experienced payments to two water suppliers 25
percent of the year, with that percentage increasing to an expected 75 percent of the year for
2017. 2018 is expected to be the next full year in which the Division is purchasing water from
a single supplier, which will be the KWA.

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o Utility costs decreased approximately 4.9 percent in 2016, in part due to limited wet weather
events and continued energy saving investments which have been made. 2017 utility costs are
expected to increase due to a number of wet weather events combined with utility rate
increases from our main supplier.

e Repairs and maintenance expenditures increased by approximately $300,000, while
contractual services decreased by $210,000 in 2016.

e Personnel expenses increased by over $3,000,000 partially due to planned staffing of the new
water treatment plant, along with significant noncash charges for pension funding related to
the new GASB 68 guidance.

e Depreciation was once again essentially flat year over the year.

The following table shows the trend in Interceptor and Treatment (I&T) sewage treatment
revenue compared to total flow volumes for the Division’s main ARTP treatment facility:

Year Ended December 31
2016 2015

Total revenue from I&T customers $ 25,585,636 $ 25,358,801
Total flow (thousands of gallons) 10,431,280 9,531,680

Revenue per thousands of
gallons treated $ 245 $ 2.66

The following table shows the trend in water sales compared to volume of water purchased and
volume of water sold, with the resulting water efficiency rate:

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015
Total revenue from water sales $ 35,156,014 $ 30,135,814
Volume of water purchased (cu. ft.) by Division 556,270,310 518,878,600
Volume of water sold (cu. ft.) by Division 561,326,691 521,158,226
Water efficiency rate 101% 100%
Revenue per 100 cu. ft. of water sold $ 626 $ 5.78

Contacting the Division’s Management

This financial report is intended to provide our constituents, sewer/water users, and bondholders
with a general overview of Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and Waste
Services’ accountability for the money it receives. These financial statements are included as a
component unit of Genesee County and should be viewed as part of the government-wide
financial statements. If there are questions about this report or if additional information is needed,
we welcome anyone to contact the Drain Commissioner or the director of the Division.

10
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Genesce County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Genesee County Drain Commissioner

Division of Water and Waste Services

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2)
Accounts receivable
Current portion of leases receivable (Note | 1)
Due from other governmental units
Accrued interest receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Notes | and 4)
Leases receivable - Net of current portion
(Notes | and 11)
Due from other governmental units
Local unit construction in progress
Capital assets (Note 5):
Assets not subject to depreciation
Assets subject to depreciation

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred charge on refunding
Deferred outflows related to pensions (Note 7)

Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 6)
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Liabilities related to restricted assets
Unearned leases
Lease interest payable
Other postemployment benefit obligation (Note 8)
Net pension liability (Note 7)
Long-term debt - Net of current portion (Note 6)

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Deferred inflows related
to pensions (Note 7)

Equity - Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position
The Notes to Financial Statements are an
Integral Part of this Statement.

Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Fund Types

December 31, 2016

Component Unit -
Karegnondi Water

Proprietary Authority -
Major Internal Service September 30,
Enterprise Fund Total 2016
$ 14677682 $ 313,156 $ 14,990,838 $ 7,159,901
12,023,490 - 12,023,490 -
2,420,000 - 2,420,000 -
2,286,659 - 2,286,659 33,534
- - - 74,117
1,129,502 - 1,129,502 -
32,537,333 313,156 32,850,489 7,267,552
60,820,858 - 60,820,858 45,429,465
40,305,400 - 40,305,400 -
4,704,585 - 4,704,585 -
1,287,537 - 1,287,537 -
84,931,611 - 84,931,611 310,377,287
289,990,998 1,761,655 291,752,653 -
482,040,989 1,761,655 483,802,644 355,806,752
514,578,322 2,074,811 516,653,133 363,074,304
19,281 - 19,281 -
14,998,938 - 14,998,938 -
15,018,219 - 15,018,219 -
4,380,857 6,481 4,387,338 18,575
11,155,032 - 11,155,032 -
15,535,889 6,481 15,542,370 18,575
14,600,588 - 14,600,588 12,573,368
1,276,135 - 1,276,135 -
- - - 5,118,032
5,147,853 - 5,147,853 -
32,181,562 - 32,181,562 -
264,716,346 - 264,716,346 340,503,990
317,922,484 - 317,922,484 358,195,390
333,458,373 6,481 333,464,854 358,213,965
1,125,058 - 1,125,058 -
183,469,031 1,761,655 185,230,686 2,729,394
5,494,572 - 5,494,572 -
6,049,507 306,675 6,356,182 2,130,945
$195013,110 $ 2,068,330 $ 197,081,440 $ 4,860,339

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Operating Revenue
Charges for sales and service:
Sale of water
Sewage disposal charges
Billing services
Water meter sales
Sewer and pumping station - Operation and maintenance
Other operating revenue

Total operating revenue

Operating Expenses
Cost of water
Sludge disposal service
Cost of insurance claims and expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Personnel services
Other supplies and expenses
Contractual services
Utilities
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

perating (

Community bond interest income
Community bond interest expense
Miscellaneous income

Water supply operating subsidy
Interest expense

Bond issuance costs

Investment income

Gain on sale of capital assets
Total nonoperating (expense) revenue

Income (Loss)
Capital Contributions
Transfers In
Transfers Out
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of year

Net Position - End of year

The Notes to Financial Statements are an
Integral Part of this Statement.

Proprietary Fund Types

Year Ended December 31, 2016

Component Unit -

Karegnondi
Water Authority -
Year Ended
Enterprise Internal September 30,
Fund Service Fund Total 2016
$ 35156014 $ - $ 35156014 $ -
31,184,690 - 31,184,690 -
139,269 - 139,269 -
156,290 - 156,290 -
1,320,630 - 1,320,630 -
2,246,864 - 2,246,864 -
70,203,757 - 70,203,757 -
22,155,625 - 22,155,625 -
982,834 - 982,834 -
394,749 - 394,749 -
2,860,530 - 2,860,530 -
18,758,980 - 18,758,980 -
1,408,814 43,610 1,452,424 4,186
1,723,498 - 1,723,498 190,313
3,305,969 - 3,305,969 -
8,455,617 374,734 8,830,351 -
60,046,616 418,344 60,464,960 194,499
10,157,141 (418,344) 9,738,797 (194,499)
1,997,301 - 1,997,301 -
(1,997,301) - (1,997,301) -
1,315,756 - 1,315,756 -
- - - 1,938,000
(4,099,556) - (4,099,556) -
- - - (563,218)
13,041 - 13,041 11,270
- 10,100 10,100 -
(2,770,759) 10,100 (2,760,659) 1,386,052
7,386,382 (408,244) 6,978,138 1,191,553
750,000 - 750,000 -
- 65,844 65,844 -
(65,844) - (65,844) -
8,070,538 (342,400) 7,728,138 1,191,553
186,942,572 2,410,730 189,353,302 3,668,786

$195013,110 $ 2,068,330 $197,081,440 $ 4,860,339
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Genesce County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund Types

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and others for goods and services
Payments for salaries and employee benefits

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities - Water
supply contract operating subsidy

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchases of capital assets
Collection of interest from communities and C.U. (KWA)
Community and C.U. (KWA) interest expense
Collections of leases receivable from municipalities
Proceeds from issuance of bonded debt
Principal paid on bond maturities
Interest paid on bonds and other long-term liabilities
Miscellaneous revenue
Bond issuance costs
Premium proceeds on bonded debt and bond issuance costs
Operating transfers

Net cash used in capital and related financing
activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Investment income
Proceeds from sale and maturities of investment securities

Net cash provided by investing activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year

Statement of Net Position Classification of Cash and
Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Less amounts classified as investments

Total cash and cash equivalents

The Notes to Financial Statements are an
Integral Part of this Statement.

Year Ended December 31, 2016

Component Unit -

Karegnondi
Water Authority -
Year Ended
Enterprise Internal September 30,
Fund Service Fund Total 2016
$ 70977074 $ - $ 70977074 $ -
(33,804,073) (39,096) (33,843,169) (185,955)
(16,308,243) - (16,308,243) -
20,864,758 (39,096) 20,825,662 (185,955)
- - - 1,938,000
(55,440,082) (154,808) (55,594,890) (126,489,885)
339,053 - 339,053 -
(1,716,130) - (1,716,130) -
2,545,000 10,100 2,555,100 -
61,532,424 - 61,532,424 74,370,000
(16,140,000) - (16,140,000) -
(4,028,639) - (4,028,639) (11,036,205)
2,089,000 - 2,089,000 -
, R - (563,218)
6,283,838 - 6,283,838 -
(65,844) 65,844 - ,
(4,601,380) (78,864) (4,680,244) (63,719,308)
13,041 - 13,041 569,415
- - - 68,908,919
13,041 - 13,041 69,478,334
16,276,419 (117,960) 16,158,459 7,511,071
59,222,121 431,116 59,653,237 11,458,659
$ 75498540 $ 313,156 $ 75811,696 $ 18,969,730
$ 14677682 $ 313,156 $ 14,990,838 $ 7,159,901
60,820,858 - 60,820,858 45,429,465
R - B (33,619,636)
$ 75,498,540 $ 313,156 $ 75,811,696 $ 18,969,730
13

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund Types (Continued)

Year Ended December 31, 2016
Component Unit -
Karegnondi Water
Authority - Year

Enterprise Internal Ended September
Fund Service Fund Total 30,2015
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash from
Operating Activities
Operating income (loss) $ 10,157,141 $ (418344) $ 9738797 $ (194,499)
Depreciation 8,455,617 374,734 8,830,351 -
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables 773,317 - 773,317 -
Prepaid and other assets (129,220) - (129,220) -
Accounts payable (842,834) 4514 (838,320) 8,544
Accrued and other liabilities 168,036 - 168,036 -
OPERB liability (15,063) - (15,063) -
Net pension liability 2,297,764 - 2,297,764 -
$ 20,864,758 $ (39,096) $ 20,825,662 $ (185,955)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Noncash Activity

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Karegnondi Water Authority has no noncash activities. During the year ended September 30,
2015, the Karegnondi Water Authority recorded $4,625,646 of capital assets related to a capital lease. During the year ended September 30,
2015, the Karegnondi Water Authority also recorded $33,960,593 of capital assets related to the drawdown of deposits with a pipe supplier.

The Notes to Financial Statements are an
Integral Part of this Statement. 14
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Genesce County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies of Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and
Waste Services, a component unit of Genesee County (the "Division"), conform to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as
applicable to governmental units. The following is a summary of the significant
accounting policies used by Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and
Waste Services:

Reporting Entity

Genesee County Drain Commissioner Division of Water and Waste Services (the
“Division”), a discretely presented component unit of Genesee County, was organized
in September 1965 under Public Act No. 342 of 1939 of the State of Michigan (amended
in 1967). The Division’s major operations are the construction and operation of water
and waste systems in Genesee County, Michigan (the “County”) and certain areas in
surrounding counties. Construction is financed with proceeds from the sale of bonds
and federal and state grants. The operating activities are financed primarily through user
charges to municipalities in the systems.

The financial statements of the Division have been prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as
applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and
financial reporting principles.

Included within the reporting entity are the following:

I. Genesee County Sewage Disposal Systems Nos. |, 2, 5, and 6 (interceptors and
treatment facilities)

2. Genesee County Sanitary Sewage Disposal Systems Nos. 3 and 7
3.  Genesee County water supply systems

4. Genesee County Division of Water and Waste Services - Vehicle and Equipment
Fund (Internal Service Fund)

5. Karegnondi Water Authority - Component unit (Water Fund)

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In evaluating how to define the Division for financial reporting purposes, management
has considered all potential component units. The decision to include a potential
component unit in the reporting entity was made by applying the criteria set forth in
GAAP. The basic, but not the only, criterion for including a potential component unit
within the reporting entity is the governmental body’s ability to exercise oversight
responsibility. The most significant manifestation of this ability is financial
interdependency. Other manifestations of the ability to exercise oversight responsibility
include, but are not limited to, the selection of governing authority, the designation of
management, the ability to significantly influence operations, and accountability for fiscal
matters. The other criterion used to evaluate potential component units for inclusion or
exclusion from the reporting entity is the existence of special financing relationships,
regardless of whether the Division is able to exercise oversight responsibilities. Based on
the application of these criteria, the Karegnondi Water Authority will be presented as
described in the following paragraph.

Karegnondi Water Authority - The Karegnondi Water Authority (KWA) is a
discretely presented component unit of the Division. KWA is governed by a |5-member
board and was created pursuant to Act 233, Michigan Public Acts of 1955. Its purpose is
to acquire and operate a water pipeline, which in turn will treat the water to be
provided to their residents. KWA may also provide water to other local units in Lapeer
and Sanilac counties. The Division has financial accountability for KWA. This is subject to
change based upon redistribution of capacity units. KWA reports as of September 30,
and the complete financial reports can be obtained at its administrative offices at 4610
Beecher Road, Flint, MI. The Division also reports KWA activity as of September 30.

The more significant of the Division’s accounting policies are described below:

Accounting and Reporting Principles

The Division follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. Accounting and financial reporting
pronouncements are promulgated by the Government Accounting Standards Board.

Report Presentation

This report includes the fund-based statements of the Division. In accordance with
government accounting principles, a government-wide presentation with program and
general revenue is not applicable to special purpose governments engaged only in
business-type activities.
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Genesce County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fund Accounting

The basic financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related
cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

The Division reports the following major proprietary fund:

The Enterprise Fund is used to account for operations that are financed and operated in
a manner similar to private business enterprises, whereby the costs (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing water and sewer services to the general public on a
continuing basis are financed through user charges.

Additionally, the Division reports the following Internal Service Fund:

The Internal Service Fund accounts for financing of goods and services provided by one
department to other departments of the Division on a cost-plus basis.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the basic
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the Division’s
water and sewer function and various other functions of the Division. Eliminations of
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenue reported for the
various functions concerned.

Basis of Accounting

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenue and expenses generally result from providing services and producing
and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing
operations. The principal operating revenue of the Division’s proprietary fund relates to
charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation of
capital assets. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenue and expenses.

Proprietary funds use the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual
basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when
a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Specific Balances and Transactions

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents are
considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with a
maturity of three months or less when acquired. Investments are stated at fair value,
based on quoted market prices.

Short-term Financial Instruments - The fair value of short-term financial
instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and payable,
accrued receivables, and accrued liabilities, is equal to the carrying amounts in the
accompanying basic financial statements due to the short maturity of such instruments.

Receivables and Payables - Outstanding balances between funds are reported in the
basic financial statements as “internal balances.” All trade receivables are shown as net
of an allowance for uncollectible amounts.

Prepaid Items - Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal
years and are recorded as prepaid items.

Restricted Assets - Certain assets are restricted by the Division's bond ordinance for
debt service. In addition, unspent bond proceeds and county capital improvement fees
are restricted for the construction of water collection and sewage disposal systems
projects and debt service. When an expense is incurred that allows the use of restricted
assets (such as bond debt principal and interest), those assets are applied before utilizing
any unrestricted assets.

Leases Receivable - Leases receivable consist of amounts due to the Division from
various municipalities and the component unit, Karegnondi Water Authority, for
construction activity. The Division constructs assets for various municipalities under Act
342. Under this act, the County issues bonds and constructs assets on behalf of
municipalities. These assets are then leased by the municipalities over the life of the
bonds. Lease payments approximate the debt service requirements of the associated
bonds.

Local Unit Construction in Progress - Local unit construction in progress represents
construction of water and sewer distribution and collection systems performed by the
Division for local communities. The projects are recorded as an asset during the
construction phase and are offset by an unearned lease. When the projects are
substantially complete, the asset and unearned lease are removed from the basic
financial statements and an asset is recorded by the local community.
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Genesce County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Capital Assets - Additions to property, plant, and equipment are recorded at cost or, if
donated, at their acquisition value at the time of donation. Repairs and maintenance are
recorded as expenses; renewals and betterments are capitalized. The sale or disposal of
fixed assets is recorded by removing cost and accumulated depreciation from the
accounts and charging the resulting gain or loss to income.

Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets of business-type activities is
included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed. Total interest expense
for the Division for the year was $8,303,714, of which $2,945,783 (interest expense net
of interest income and premium amortization) was capitalized. Total interest expense
for KWA for the year was $13,907,194, of which $13,349,049 (interest expense net of
interest income) was capitalized.

Depreciation has been calculated on each class of property using the straight-line
method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Capital Asset Class Lives
Land improvements and underground networks 25-100 years
Buildings 10-50 years
Machinery and equipment 3-25 years

Long-term Obligations - Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are
reported as liabilities in the applicable business-type activities. Bond premiums and
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective
interest method; bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or
discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed at the time they are incurred.

Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets - The Division uses the restricted assets
to liquidate construction-related payables and accrued interest payable on outstanding
bonds. Therefore, these amounts due have been reported as a noncurrent liability.

Genesee County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

Note | - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will sometimes
report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial
statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure)
until then. The Division has two items that qualify for reporting in this category. They
are the deferred charge on refunding reported in the statement of net position and
deferred outflows related to pensions. A deferred charge on refunding results from the
difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount
is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt.
A deferred inflow related to pension results from changes in assumptions; differences
between projected and actual investment earnings; and employer contributions after the
measurement period in the current fiscal year. This is deferred and amortized as
summarized in Note 7.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and/or balance sheet will
sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate
financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a
future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
time. The Division has deferred inflows related to pensions that result from changes in
assumptions related to economic and demographic factors.

Net Position Flow Assumption

Sometimes the Division will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted
(e.g., restricted bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to
calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position and unrestricted net position
in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is
the Division’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been depleted before
unrestricted net position is applied.
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Genesce County Drain Commissioner
Division of Water and Waste Services

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Pension - The Division offers a defined benefit pension plan to its employees. The
Division records a net pension liability for the difference between the total pension
liability calculated by the actuary and the pension plan's fiduciary net position. For
purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pension, and pension expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the GCERS Pension Plan and additions to/deductions
from the pension plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis
as they are reported by the pension plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. The Division will fund the
net pension liability based on whichever fund an employee or retiree is assigned and to
which the employee's pension costs are charged.

Other Postemployment Benefit Costs - The Division offers retiree healthcare
benefits to retirees. The Division is responsible for 100 percent of the cost of
postemployment benefits and advance funds. In 2016, the total number of eligible
retirees amounted to 86 and postemployment benefits paid for retired employees
totaled $1,587,627.

Compensated Absences (Vacation and Sick Leave) - The Division’s employees are
granted vacation leave twice a year based on length of service. 80 hours of personal
leave is granted at the beginning of each year. Upon retirement or separation,
employees are paid accumulated vacation at current salary rates. Upon retirement or
separation for nonunion employees, up to |12 hours of personal leave is also paid at
current salary rates. Union employees are paid up to |12 hours of personal leave upon
retirement only. At December 31, 2016, the Division has recorded a liability of
approximately $518,000 for accumulated vacation and personal leave.

Unearned Leases - Unearned leases represent cash and investments and construction
in progress recorded on the Division’s books belonging to the municipalities
participating in the water collection and sewage disposal system.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Comparative Data - Comparative total data for the prior year has been presented in
the financial statements in order to provide an understanding of the changes in the
financial position and operations.
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes
local governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured
banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The
law also allows investments outside the state of Michigan when fully insured. The local
unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other direct obligations of the United
States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; repurchase agreements;
bankers’ acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two
highest classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase;
obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions, which are rated as
investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that are legal for
direct investment by local units of government in Michigan.

The Division has designated two banks for the deposit of its funds. The investment
policy adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized
investment in bonds and securities of the United States government and bank accounts
and CDs, but not the remainder of state statutory authority as listed above. The
Division's deposits and investment policies are in accordance with statutory authority.

The Division's cash and investments are subject to custodial credit risk, which is
examined in more detail below:

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the
event of a bank failure, the Division's deposits may not be returned to it. The Division
does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the Division had
$25,990,177 of bank deposits (certificates of deposit and checking and savings accounts)
that were uninsured and uncollateralized. Bank deposits of $500,000 were insured and
$52,991,694 were collateralized. The Division believes that due to the dollar amounts
of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC in